MINISTRY OF EDUCATION, CULTURE AND RESEARCH MOLDOVA STATE UNIVERSITY

With manuscript title U.D.C.: 57.085.23:615.28

GARBUZ OLGA

NEW INORGANIC AND ORGANIC MOLECULAR INHIBITORS OF CANCER CELLS PROLIFERATION, THE MECHANISMS OF ACTION

163.02 – BIOCHEMISTRY

Doctoral thesis in biological sciences

Scientific supervisor:	Gulea Aurelian, academician, habilitated doctor of
	chemical sciences, univ. professor, Emeritus Person
	of the Republic of Moldova
Scientific consultant:	Gudumac Valentin, habilitated doctor of
	medical science, univ. professor, Emeritus Person of
	the Republic of Moldova
Author:	Garbuz Olga

CHIŞINĂU, 2021

MINISTERUL EDUCAȚIEI, CULTURII ȘI CERCETĂRII AL REPUBLICII MOLDOVA UNIVERSITATEA DE STAT DIN MOLDOVA

Cu titlu de manuscris C.Z.U.: 57.085.23:615.28

GARBUZ OLGA

NOI INHIBITORI MOLECULARI ANORGANICI ȘI ORGANICI AI PROLIFERĂRII CELULELOR DE CANCER, MECANISME DE ACȚIUNE

163.02 – BIOCHIMIE

Teză de doctor în științe biologice

Conducător științific:	Gulea Aurelian, academician, doctor habilitat
	în științe chimice, profesor universitar, Om
	Emerit al Republicii Moldova
Consultant științific:	Gudumac Valentin, doctor habilitat în științe
	medicale, profesor universitar, Om Emerit al
	Republicii Moldova
Autorul:	Garbuz Olga

CHIŞINĂU, 2021

© Garbuz Olga, 2021

Acknowledgements

I would like to express my sincere thanks to my scientific supervisor, Academician Aurelian Gulea, for his contributions to my PhD project. His intellectual support allowed me to achieve the results that would otherwise have not been possible.

To my scientific consultant, Professor Valentin Gudumac, I am grateful for his perfect ideas. To Academician Ion Toderas (Institute of Zoology), I am grateful for his help in scientific toxicity experiments of the compounds. It is an essential and important contribution to my thesis.

I would like to extend my sincerest thanks to Professor Andrzej Lipkowski (Medical Research Center of the Polish Academy of Sciences) for the work opportunity in the medical oncology laboratory, thereby making possible to test more compounds with anticancer activity.

I want to express my special thanks to Doctors of Chemical Sciences Victor Tsapcov, Vasilii Graur and Roman Rusnac (Research Laboratory of Advanced Materials in Biopharmaceutics and Technics of the Moldova State).

I would like to acknowledge the help of all the members of the Research Biochemical Laboratory of the Nicolae Testemitanu State University of Medicine and Pharmacy, and National Center of Public Health.

To my family, I owe my deepest gratitude for their constant support over the duration of my studies.

ADNOTARE	7
ANNOTATION	8
АННОТАЦИЯ	9
LIST OF TABLES	10
LIST OF FIGURES	11
LIST OF SCHEMES	14
ABBREVIATIONS	15
INTRODUCTION	17
1. CANCER AND GENERAL ASPECTS OF CHEMOTHERAPY	25
1.1. Cancer epidemiology	25
1.2. Cancer etiology and pathogenesis	27
1.3. Utilization of chemotherapy in view of the cell cycle in cancer	29
1.4. Side effects associated with oxidative stress and resistance ir	1 anticancer
chemotherapy	31
1.5. Antitumor drugs	35
1.5.1. Naturally-occurring and semi-synthetic antineoplastic drugs, their	r mechanism
of action	36
1.5.2. Synthetic antitumor drugs, their mechanism of action	42
1.5.3. Other synthetic anticancer drugs	44
1.6. Conclusions to chapter 1	50
2. CHARACTERISTICS OF THE OBJECTS OF STUDY AND RESEARCH METH	HODS51
2.1. Characterization of the tested compounds	51
2.2. In vitro antiproliferative activity	54
2.2.1. Cell culture	55
2.2.2. Seeding cells on plate	60
2.2.3. Cell Proliferation MTT Assay	61
2.2.4. Cell proliferation resazurin assay	63
2.2.5. Cell proliferation assay by flow fluorescence cytometry	64
2.2.6. DNA fragmentation	65
2.3. Antioxidant and antilipoxygenase activity assays	66
2.3.1. ABTS ⁺⁺ radical cation scavenging assay	66

CONTENTS

2.3.2. DPPH' radical scavenging assay67
2.3.3. Oxygen radical absorbance capacity (ORAC-Fluorescein) assay68
2.3.4. Colorimetric assay for lipoxygenase activity
2.4. In vitro toxic red blood cells (RBCs) hemolysis assay
2.5. In vitro formation of methemoglobin (metHb) in intact erythrocytes assay71
2.6. In vivo toxicity assay72
2.7. Statistical analysis
2.8. Conclusions to chapter 274
3. ANTIPROLIFERATIVE ACTIVITY OF THE TESTED COMPOUNDS
3.1. In vitro antiproliferative activity of the tested compounds CMT-22, CMT-67 and
CMT-68 on different lines of cancer cells
3.2. In vitro antiproliferative activity of the tested compounds CMJ-23 and CMJ-33 on
different lines of cancer cells
3.3. The ability of the tested compounds to induce DNA fragmentation <i>in vitro</i> 97
3.4. Conclusions to chapter 3100
4. STUDIES OF THE MECHANISM OF ACTION AND SIDE EFFECTS OF NEW ORGANIC
AND ORGANOMETALLIC CANCER CELL INHIBITORS ASSOCIATED WITH
OXIDATIVE STRESS
4.1. ABTS ⁺⁺ and DPPH [•] radical scavenging activity of the tested compounds102
4.2. Oxygen Radical Absorption Capacity (FL) activity of the tested compounds107
4.3. Antilipoxygenase activity of the tested compounds111
4.4. Impact of the tested compounds on methemoglobin formation114
4.5. Impact of the tested compounds on RBCs hemolysis119
4.6. Toxicity activity of the tested compounds
4.7. Conclusions to chapter 4
GENERAL CONCLUSIONS
RECOMMENDATIONS
REFERENCES
ANNEXE150
DECLARATION ON THE ASSUMPTION OF RESPONSIBILITY
CURRICULUM VITAE

ADNOTARE

Garbuz Olga, "Noi inhibitori moleculari anorganici și organici ai proliferării celulelor canceroase, mecanisme de acțiune", teză de doctor în științe biologice, Chișinău, 2021.

Teza constă din: introducere, patru capitole, concluzii generale și recomandări, 204 de referințe bibliografice, 5 anexe, 129 de pagini de text de bază (până la Bibliografie), 41 de figuri, 8 scheme, 6 tabele și 5 anexe. Rezultatele obținute sunt publicate în 28 de lucrări științifice (7 articole, 14 teze la conferințe, 4 brevete de invenție, 3 inovații).

Cuvinte-cheie: compuși anticancer, activitate antiproliferativă, celule canceroase umane, activitate selectivă, activitate antioxidantă, hemoliză.

Domeniul de studiu: științe ale naturii.

Scopul lucrări: elucidarea efectului noilor inhibitori moleculari pe bază de compuși organici și complecși asupra proliferării liniilor celulare ale cancerului uman în comparație cu medicamentele anticanceroase doxorubicina și *cis*-diclorodiamminplatinum; determinarea mecanismului de acțiune a inhibitorilor.

Obiectivele cercetării: detectarea activității antiproliferative a substanțelor testate CMT-22, CMT-67, CMT-68, CMJ-23, CMJ-33 împotriva celulelor canceroase HeLa, BxPC-3, RD, MeW-164; testarea acțiuniii substanțelor investigate asupra celulelor renale epiteliale normale de linia MDCK pentru a detecta citotoxicitatea selectivă; stabilirea mecanismului de inhibare a proliferării celulelor canceroase de către substanțele testate; evaluarea *in vitro* a probabilității de dezvoltare și a naturii posibilelor efecte secundare ale substanțelor testate asociate cu hemoliza și formarea methemoglobinei în eritrocitele umane; determinarea toxicității substanțelor testate.

Noutatea și originalitatea științifică: au fost adaptate metode de studiu al activității biologice a substanțelor testate; a fost determinată activitatea antiproliferativă și antioxidantă a cinci compuși autohtoni (tiosemicarbazone și compuși coordinativi ai Cu(II) cu tiosemicarbazone); a fost elaborată o metodă nouă pentru determinarea toxicității directe, utilizând *Paramecium audatum* și evaluată toxicitatea directă a substanțelor investigate; a fost elucidat mecanismul efectului substanțelor asupra proliferării celulelor canceroase; a fost stabilit că compușii testați prezintă interes din punctul de vedere al utilizării lor ca agenți anticancer mai puțin toxici și mai eficienți.

Problema științifică importantă soluționată constă în identificarea unor inhibitori noi de proliferare a celulelor canceroase cu activitate selectivă înaltă și toxicitate mai scăzută, comparativ cu compușii anticancer de referință aprobați de FDA (DOXO și CDDP), precum și elucidarea mecanismului de acțiune antiproliferativă a compușilor autohtoni testați. A prezentat interes și acțiunea antioxidativă a inhibitorilor moleculari organici și anorganici asupra radicalilor (ABTS⁺⁺, DPPH⁺, HO₂⁻), comparativ cu standardele de referință, precum și evaluarea impactului compușilor asupra indicilor sistemului de hemoliză a eritrocitelor *in vitro*, în vederea evaluării impactului lor.

Semnificația teoretică a lucrării și valoarea aplicativă. Au fost identificați noi inhibitori ai proliferării celulelor canceroase cu activitate selectivă ridicată și toxicitate scăzută, ceea ce a făcut posibilă propunerea acestora pentru studii preclinice. A fost propusă o metodă directă de biotestare a toxicității cu un cost redus, folosind cantități mici de substanță A fost stabilit mecanismul de acțiune a substanțelor asupra proliferării celulelor canceroase. Rezultatele obținute au semnificație științifică și științifico-didactică și pot fi utilizate la predarea cursurilor speciale de Chimie biofarmaceutică și Biochimie.

Implementarea rezultatelor științifice obținute. A fost elaborată și brevetată o metodă de determinare a toxicității directe a substanțelor, folosind *Paramecium caudatum*. Au fost brevetați doi inhibitori moleculari de proliferare a celulelor de cancer și o substanță cu activitate antioxidantă. În rezultatul modificării și adaptării metodelor de studiu a activității biologice a substanțelor au fost impliementate trei inovații.

ANNOTATION

Garbuz Olga, "New inorganic and organic molecular inhibitors of cancer cells proliferation, the mechanisms of action", thesis for PhD in biological sciences, Chisinau, 2021.

The thesis consists of introduction, four chapters, general conclusions and recommendations, 204 references, 5 annexes, 129 pages, 41 figures, 8 schemes, 6 tables. The results are published in 28 scientific publications (7 articles, 4 patents, 14 theses at conferences, 3 innovations).

Keywords: anticancer compound, antiproliferative activity, human cancer cell line, selective activity, antioxidant activity, hemolysis.

Field of study: Nature Sciences

The aim of the thesis: elucidation of the effect of the new molecular inhibitors based on organic and complex compounds on the proliferation of human cancer cell lines in comparison with such anticancer drugs as doxorubicin and cis-dichlorodiammineplatinum; determination of the inhibitors action mechanism.

The objectives of the thesis: detection of the antiproliferative activity of the tested substances CMT-22, CMT-67, CMT-68, CMJ-23, CMJ-33 on the cancer cells HeLa, BxPC-3, MeW-164, RD; testing substances against normal kidney epithelial cell line MDCK in order to detect selective cytotoxicity; identification of the mechanism of inhibition of the cancer cell proliferation by the test substances; *in vitro* assessment of the probability of development and the nature of possible side effects of the tested substances associated with hemolysis and the formation of methemoglobin in human erythrocytes; determination of the toxicity of substances.

Novelty and relevance of the study: methods for studying the biological activity of substances were adapted; antiproliferative and antioxidant activities of five synthetic compounds (tiosemicarbazones and Cu(II) coordination compounds with tiosemicarbazones) were determined; it was established *in vitro* that the investigated substances do not cause the formation of methemoglobin and do not increase the index of hemolysis in human erythrocytes; a method for determining direct toxicity using *Paramecium* was developed, and the direct toxicity of the investigated substances was assessed; the mechanism of the effect of the substances on the proliferation of cancer cells was revealed; the tested compounds are of interest from the point of view of their use as less toxic and more effective anticancer agents.

Scientific problem solved in this thesis is the identification of new inhibitors of cancer cells proliferation with high selective activity and lower toxicity compared to FDA-approved reference anticancer compounds (DOXO and CDDP), as well as the elucidation of the mechanism of antiproliferative action of the tested compounds. The antioxidant action of organic and inorganic molecular inhibitors on radicals (ABTS⁺⁺, DPPH⁺, HO₂⁺) was determined. It has been found that the tested compounds do not cause the formation of methemoglobin and do not increase the index of hemolysis in human erythrocytes.

The theoretical importance and potential application value of the work. New inhibitors of cancer cell proliferation with high selective activity and low toxicity have been identified which made it possible to propose them for preclinical studies. A method for evaluation of the substances toxicity using *Paramecium* has been developed which allows to accelerate and reduce the cost of biotesting. The mechanism of the substances effect on the cancer cells proliferation has been determined. The findings are of scientific interest and can be used for special training courses in Biopharmaceutical Chemistry, and Biochemistry.

Implementation of scientific results. A method for determination of direct toxicity of substances using *Paramecium caudatum* has been developed and patented. Two molecular inhibitors of cancer cell proliferation and one substance with antioxidant activity have been patented. Three innovations have been implemented as a result of modification and adaptation of methods for studying the biological activity of substances.

АННОТАЦИЯ

Гарбуз Ольга: «Новые молекулярные неорганические и органические ингибиторы пролиферации раковых клеток, механизм действия», диссертация доктора биологических наук, Кишинёв, 2021.

Диссертация состоит из: введения, 4-х глав, общих выводов и рекомендаций, библиографии из 204 наименований, 129 страниц, 5 приложений, 41 рисунков, 8 схем и 6 таблиц. Полученные результаты опубликованы в 28 научных работах (7 статей, 14 тезисов докладов на конференциях, 4 патента, 3 инновации).

Ключевые слова: противораковое вещество, антипролиферативная активность, раковые клетки человека, селективная активность, антиоксидантная активность, гемолиз.

Область исследования: естественные науки.

Цель: выявление влияния новых молекулярных ингибиторов на основе органических и комплексных соединений на пролиферацию линий раковых клеток человека в сравнении с используемыми противораковыми препаратами доксорубицином и *цис*-дихлородиамминплатиной; определение механизма действия ингибиторов.

Задачи исследования: выявление антипролиферативной активности тестируемых веществ СМТ-22, СМТ-67, СМТ-68, СМЈ-23, СМЈ-33 в отношении клеток раковых линий HeLa, BxPC-3, MeW-164, RD; тестирование веществ в отношении линии MDCK эпителиальных нормальных клеток почки собаки с целью выявления селективной цитотоксичности; выявление механизма ингибирования пролиферации раковых клеток исследуемыми веществами; оценка *in vitro* вероятности развития и характер возможных побочных эффектов тестируемых веществ, связанных с гемолизом и образованием метгемоглобина в эритроцитах человека; определение токсичности тестируемых веществ.

Научная новизна и оригинальность: адаптированы методики исследования биологической активности веществ; определены антипролиферативная и антиоксидантная активности 5 синтетических соединений; установлено *in vitro*, что исследуемые вещества не вызывают образование метгемоглобина и не повышают индекс систем в эритроцитах крови человека; разработан метод определения прямой токсичности с использованием *Paramecium caudatum*, и произведена оценка прямой токсичности исследованных веществ; выявлен механизм воздействия веществ на пролиферацию раковых клеток; тестируемые соединения представляют интерес с точки зрения их применения в качестве менее токсичных и более эффективных противораковых веществ.

Решенная научная проблема. Выявлены новые молекулярные ингибиторы пролиферации раковых клеток, обладающие высокой селективной активностью и низкой токсичностью. Установлен механизм действия ингибиторов в отношении радикалов ABTS⁺⁺, DPPH⁺, HO₂⁺. Обнаружено, что исследуемые вещества не вызывают образования метгемоглобина и гемолиза в эритроцитах человека.

Теоретическая и практическая значимости работы. Выявлены новые ингибиторы пролиферации раковых клеток, обладающие высокой селективной активностью и низкой токсичностью, что позволило предложить их для предклинических исследований. Разработан метод установления зависимости токсичности от концентрации веществ, позволяющий ускорить и удешевить биотестирование. Выявлен механизм действия веществ на пролиферацию раковых клеток. Полученные результаты имеют научную значимость и могут быть использованы при чтении спецкурсов по Биофармацевтической химии и Биохимии.

Внедрение полученных научных результатов. Разработан и запатентован метод определения прямой токсичности веществ с использованием *Paramecium caudatum*. Запатентованы 2 молекулярных ингибитора пролиферации раковых клеток и одно вещество с антиоксидантной активностью. В результате модифицирования и адаптации методик исследования биологической активности веществ были внедрены 3 инновации.

LIST OF TABLES

Table 3.1. Antproliferative activity of the tested compounds CMT-22, CMT-67, CMT-6888and the positive control DOXO on cancer cells of lines BxPC-3, RD, HeLa, MeW-164and normal cell line MDCK

Table 3.2. Antiproliferative activity of the tested compounds CMJ-23, CMJ-33 and the96positive control DOXO on cancer cell of lines BxPC-3, RD, HeLa, MeW-164 and normal96cell line MDCK

Table 4.1. The influence of the tested compounds and reference controls for ABTS*+ and106DPPH• free radicals

Table 4.2. Antioxidant activity of the tested compounds, the reference antioxidant control111trolox and the anticancer drug doxorubicin (DOXO)

Table 4.3. The percentage of inhibition of the tested compounds CMT-22, CMT-67, 113 CMT-68, CMJ-33, CMJ-23 and positive control quercetin and anticancer drug DOXO on the inhibition of the lipoxygenase activity by FTC-based LOX activity method

Table 4.4. Relationship of clinical symptoms with the proportion of methemoglobin117fraction in the blood

LIST OF FIGURES

Fig. 1.1. Number of new cases in 2018, both sexes, all ages	26
Fig. 1.2. Number of deaths in 2018, both sexes, all ages	26
Fig. 2.1. Structural formula of the 2-formylpyridine $N(4)$ -phenylthiosemicarbazone (N-	52
phenyl-2-(pyridin-2-ylmethylidene)hydrazinecarbothioamide, CMT-22, HL) (A) and	
copper(II) complex [Cu(L)Cl] (B)	
Fig. 2.2. Structural formula of the mixed-ligand complex chloro(N-phenyl-N'-[(pyridin-2-	52
yl)methylidene]carbamohydrazonothioato)(4-aminobenzene-1-sulfonamide)copper	
Fig. 2.3. Structural formula of the reference compounds: A – doxorubicin; B – cisplatin; C	53
- trolox; D - rutin	
Fig. 2.4. Structural formula of the trypan blue ((3Z,3'Z)-3,3'-[(3,3'-dimethylbiphenyl-4,4'-	54
diyl)di(1Z)hydrazin-2-yl-1-ylidene]bis(5-amino-4-oxo-3,4-dihydronaphthalene-2,7-	
disulfonic acid))	
Fig. 2.5. Monolayer culture of human melanoma MEW-164 cell line	55
Fig. 2.6. Monolayer culture of human cervical epithelial HeLa cell line	56
Fig. 2.7. Monolayer culture of human epithelial pancreatic adenocarcinoma BxPC-3 cell	57
line	
Fig. 2.8. Monolayer culture of human muscle rhabdomyosarcoma RD cell line	58
Fig. 2.9. Monolayer culture of normal kidney epithelial cells of MDCK line	60
Fig. 2.10. Seeding cells on the culture plate	60
Fig. 2.11. Structural formula of ethidium bromide (3,8-Diamino-5-ethyl-6-	66
phenylphenanthridinium bromide)	
Fig. 3.1. Phase-contrast images of MeW-164 cells after 24 h treatment with CMT-22,	77
CMT-67, CMT-68 at concentration 10 µM. Untreated MeW-164 cells served as a control.	
Fig. 3.2. Antiproliferative activity of the positive control DOXO and the tested compounds	78
CMT-22, CMT-67, CMT-68 on human melanoma cells of line MeW -164. Mew-164 cells	
were treated with DOXO, CMT-22, CMT-67 and CMT-68 at concentrations 0.1 μ M, 1	
μM, 10 μM for 24 h.	
Fig. 3.3. Phase-contrast images of HeLa cells after 24 h treatment with CMT-22, CMT-67	79
and CMT-68 at concentration 10 μ M. Untreated HeLa cells served as a control.	
Fig. 3.4. Antiproliferative activity of the positive controls (DOXO, CDDP) and the tested	80
compounds (CMT-22, CMT-67 CMT-68) on the cervical epithelial cells HeLa.	
Fig. 3.5. Phase-contrast images of BxPC-3 cells after 24 h treatment with CMT-22, CMT-	81

67 and CMT-68 at concentration 10 μ M.

Fig. 3.6. Antiproliferative activity of the positive controls (DOXO, CDDP) and the tested 82 compounds CMT-22, CMT-67 and CMT-68 on the pancreatic adenocarcinoma cells of line BxPC-3. BxPC-3 cells were treated with DOXO, CMT-22, CMT-67 and CMT-68 at 0.1 μ M, 1 μ M and 10 μ M for 24 h.

Fig. 3.7. Phase-contrast images of the human muscle rhabdomyosarcoma spindle and large 83 multinucleated cells of line RD after 24 h treatment with CMT-22, CMT-67 and CMT-68 at concentration 10 μ M.

Fig. 3.8. Antiproliferative activity of the positive controls DOXO, CDDP and the tested 85 compounds CMT-22, CMT-67, CMT-68 on human muscle rhabdomyosarcoma spindle and large multinucleated cells of line RD. RD cells were treated with DOXO, CMT-22, CMT-67 and CMT-68 at 0.1μ M, 1μ M and 10μ M for 24 h.

Fig. 3.9. Phase-contrast images of MDCK cells after 24 h treatment with the tested 86 compounds at concentration 10 μ M. Untreated MDCK cells served as a control.

Fig. 3.10. Nephrocitotoxic effect *in vitro* of DOXO, CMT-22, CMT-67, CMT-68 on 87 MDCK cells after 24 h exposure. MDCK cells were treated with CMT-22, CMT-67, CMT-68 and DOXO at concentrations 100 μ M, 10 μ M, 1 μ M and 0.1 μ M.

Fig. 3.11. Phase-contrast images of cells MeW-164, BxPC-3 and HeLa after 24 hours 90 treatment with the tested compounds CMJ-23 and CMJ-33 at concentration 10μ M.

Fig. 3.12. Phase-contrast images of cells RD and MDCK after 24 hours treatment with the 91 tested compounds CMJ-23 and CMJ-33 at concentration 10μ M.

Fig. 3.13. Antiproliferative activity of the tested compounds CMJ-23 and CMJ-33 on 92 human melanoma cells of line MeW -164.

Fig. 3.14. Antiproliferative activity of the positive control DOXO and the tested 92 compounds CMJ-23, CMJ-33 on human epithelial pancreatic adenocarcinoma cells of line BxPC-3.

Fig. 3.15. Antiproliferative activity of the positive control DOXO and the tested 93 compounds CMJ-23, CMJ-33 on human epithelioid cervix carcinoma cells of line HeLa.

Fig. 3.16. Antiproliferative activity of the positive control DOXO and the tested 93 compounds CMJ-23, CMJ-33 on human muscle rhabdomyosarcoma spindle and large multinucleated cells of line RD.

Fig. 3.17. Antiproliferative activity of the positive control DOXO and the tested 94 compounds CMJ-23, CMJ-33 on normal kidney epithelial cells of MDCK line.

Fig. 3.18. The degradation effect of the tested compounds on the genomic DNA isolated 98 from HEp-2 cells.

Fig. 3.19. Structure – molecular electrostatic surface charge. Azot from Py ring has 99 electronegative charge and the capacity to form H-bonds with DNA and to inhibit cells proliferation is high.

Fig. 4.1. ABTS⁺⁺ scavenging activity of the tested compounds CMT-22, CMT-67, CMT- 104 68, CMJ-33, CMJ-23, as well as the anticancer drug doxorubicin and the reference antioxidant compounds (trolox, rutin)

Fig. 4.2. DPPH[•] scavenging activity of the the tested compounds CMT-22, CMT-67, 105 CMT-68, CMJ-33, CMJ-23, as well as the anticancer drug doxorubicin and the reference antioxidant compounds (trolox, rutin)

Fig. 4.3. Plots of trolox kinetic curves. Representative curves from ORAC assay of varying 109 concentrations of trolox antioxidant standards ranging from 0 to $100 \mu M$

Fig. 4.4. The Net AUC of varying concentrations of the reference antioxidant control 110 trolox, the anticancer drug doxorubicin and the tested compounds CMT-22, CMT-67, CMT-68, CMJ-33 and CMJ-23

Fig. 4.5. The effects of IC_{50} of the positive control quercetin, anticancer drug DOXO and 114 the tested compounds CMT-22, CMT-67, CMT-68, CMJ-33 and CMJ-23 on the inhibition of the lipoxygenase activity

Fig. 4.6. Effect of the tested compounds CMT-22, CMT-67, CMT-68, CMJ-23, CMJ-33 118 and the anticancer control DOXO on metHb formation *in vitro*

Fig. 4.7. Percentage of hemolysis activity of the tested compounds CMT-22, CMT-67, 121 CMT-68, CMJ-23, CMJ-33 and the anticancer control DOXO as well as control (100 % lysis) NaCl 0.1 %

Fig. 4.8. *In vivo* direct toxic evaluation of the tested compounds CMT-22, CMT-67, CMT-124 68, CMJ-23, CMJ-33 and the positive control DOXO

Fig. 4.9. Effect of the tested compounds CMT-22, CMT-67, CMT-68, CMJ-23, CMJ-33 125 and the positive control DOXO on population growth of *Paramecium caudatum* exposed to three concentrations (1 μ M, 10 μ M, 100 μ M) after 24 and 48 h of treatment

LIST OF SCHEMES

Scheme 2.1. Chemical scheme of the metabolism of yellow MTT and purple	61
formazan product in living cells	
Scheme 2.2. Reduction of resazurin (7-hydroxy-3H-phenoxazin-3-one-10-oxide	64
sodium salt) to resorufin (7-Hydroxy-3H-phenoxazin-3-one) in living cells with	
NADH	
Scheme 3.1. Interaction of thiosemicarbazone CMT-22 with guanine fragment of	99
DNA molecule	
Scheme 4.1. Reaction of stable radical DPPH with an antiradical compound	102
(AOH)	
Scheme 4.2. Oxidation of ABTS ⁺⁺ by potassium persulfate to generate radical	103
cation ABTS ⁺⁺ and its reaction with an antiradical compound (AOH)	
Scheme 4.3. Oxygen Radical Absorption Capacity (ORAC) assay measuring	107
principle	
Scheme 4.4. Oxidation reaction of polyunsaturated fatty acid by lipoxygenase	112
enzyme	
Scheme 4.5. Formation of reactive oxygen forms and possible pathways for	119
electron loss	

ABBREVIATIONS

AAPH	2,2'-azobis(2-methylpropionamidine) dihydrochloride
ABTS	2,2'-azino-bis(3-ethylbenzothiazoline-6-sulphonic acid)
AC	antioxidant capacity
ATCC	American Type Culture Collection
AUC	area under curve
BxPC-3	human epithelial pancreatic adenocarcinoma cells line
bFGF	basic fibroblast growth factor
CDDP	cisplatin
CMJ-23	coded organic compound
CMJ-33	copper(II) complex
CMT-22	with 2-formylpyridine N(4)-phenylthiosemicarbazone ligand
CMT-67	complex copper(II) with 2-formylpyridine N(4)-
	phenylthiosemicarbazone ligand
CMT-68	chloro(N-phenyl-N'-[(pyridin-2-yl)methylidene]
	carbamohydrazonothioato)(4-aminobenzene-1-sulfonamide)copper
DMEM	Dulbecco's Modified Eagle Medium
DMSO	dimethylsulfoxide
DOXO	doxorubicin ((7S,9S)-7-[(2R,4S,5S,6S)-4-amino-5-hydroxy-6-methyloxan-2-
	yl]oxy-6,9,11-trihydroxy-9-(2-hydroxyacetyl)-4-methoxy-8,10-dihydro-7H-
	tetracene-5,12-dione)
DPPH	1,1-diphenyl-2-picrylhydrazyl
EDTA	Ethylenediaminetetraacetic acid
FBS	foetal bovine serum
FDA	Food and Drug Administration
FTC	ferrothiocyanate
HAT	hydrogen atom transfer
HeLa	human cervical epithelial cells of line
HEPES	N-2 hydroxyethylpiperazine-N'-2-ethane sulfonic acid
HEp-2	human epithelial type 2 cells line
HL	2-formylpyridine N(4)-phenylthiosemicarbazone
IC ₅₀	half maximal inhibitory concentration
I %	percent of inhibition

LC ₅₀	median lethal concentration
LOX	lipoxygenase
LTs	leukotrienes
MDCK	normal kidney epithelial cells of Madin Darby dog's line
MeW-164	human melanoma cell line
MEM	Minimum Essential Medium
metHb	methemoglobin
MTT	(3-(4, 5-dimethylthiazolyl-2)-2, 5-diphenyltetrazolium bromide)
NR	neutral red (3-Amino-7-dimethylamino-2-methylphenazine hydrochloride)
ORAC	Oxygen Radical Absorbance Capacity
PBS	phosphate buffered saline
Pgp	P-glycoproteid
PI	propidium iodide (3,8-Diamino-5-[3-(diethylmethylammonio)propyl]-6-
	phenylphenanthridinium diiodide)
RBC	red blood cell
RD	human muscle rhabdomyosarcoma spindle and large multinucleated cells line
RMS	rhabdomyosarcoma stages
RPMI	roswell park memorial institute
SD	standard deviation
TE	trolox equivalents
TGFb	transforming growth factor b
TNF	tumor necrosis factor
V%	percentage of viability
VEGF	vascular endothelial growth factor

INTRODUCTION

According to a recent report by the World Health Organization, there are now more than 10 million cases of cancer per year worldwide. Cancer refers to a diversity of diseases, characterized by the uncontrolled proliferation of cells. The continuous proliferation of cancer cells develops into tumor tissues and may spread across to other organs. The principal need in the chemoprevention of cancer remains the discovery of new agents that are effective and safe [1].

It is known that a wide variety of genes are involved in the development of tumors and many cell processes are deregulated, including mechanisms for controlling cell proliferation, DNA repair, chromosome stability, cell-cell interactions, cell-matrix interactions, angiogenesis, cell aging and apoptosis. In this regard, it is necessary to take into account the basic cellular processes for correct prescriptions of anticancer drugs and understanding their mechanism of action.

It is known that many of the antitumor drugs act due to DNA damage and are most active in the S phase, when DNA replication occurs, while taxanes disrupt mitosis, preventing the formation of a spindle. Such drugs act only on dividing cells, therefore tumors with a high growth fraction are most sensitive to chemotherapy [2].

High systemic toxicity and drug resistance remain a major challenge for modern medicine in the management of cancer despite the significant progress made in the anticancer therapy. Chemotherapy can produce severe side effects caused by its cytotoxic effect on normal cells. This limits their use and it is an indication to reduce the drug dose, interrupt and even cease the treatment. Therefore, it is important that the anticancer drugs exert antiproliferative and cytotoxic activity in tumor cells without affecting normal tissues, so the principal need in the chemoprevention of cancer remains the discovery of new agents that are effective and safe.

Antineoplastic agents are divided into cytotoxic and cytostatic. Doxorubicin, CDDP, fluorouracil, hydroxyurea, cyclophosphamide are the most known among the cytostatic drugs.

Doxorubicin, a frontline drug regarded as one of the most potent of the Food and Drug Administration (FDA) approved chemotherapeutic agents, has been used in cancer treatment for more than 30 years. Doxorubicin causes toxicity, especially cardiotoxicity while providing a cure in select cases, which forces the treatment to become dose-limiting. Doxorubicin (DOXO) cardiomyopathy is known to have a poor prognosis and is frequently fatal. DOXO causes toxic damage to the mitochondria of cardiomyocytes contributing to enhanced oxidative stress [3, 4].

Platinum-based anticancer drugs also play a leading role in the treatment of various malignant tumors, but severe side effects such as nephrotoxicity, neurotoxicity, and drug resistance have limited their wide range of clinical applications [5, 6]. This has stimulated extensive research and has promoted chemists to establish alternative approaches on the basis of using endogenous metals to improve the pharmacological properties. Among the many bio-essential metals, copper complexes are regarded as promising alternatives to platinum complexes as anticancer drugs because copper is biocompatible and exhibits many significant roles in biological systems. Also, copper shows the altered metabolism of cancer cells and differential response between normal and tumor cells. It is proven that the concentration of copper in cancerous tissues exceeds that of normal tissue, and the sequestration of copper can prevent the establishment of new blood vessels. Therefore, cancer cells may represent a suitable, selective target for copper-based agents [7, 8].

In recent years, a large number of synthetic copper(II) complexes of thiosemicarbazones ligands has been reported to act as pharmacological agents and as potential anticancer and cancer-inhibiting agents, and they have been found to be active both *in vitro* and *in vivo*.

Thiosemicarbazone is a class of organic compounds that possesses a wide spectrum of biological activities and medical properties. Thiosemicarbazones contain a wide range of donor atoms and, therefore, can form coordination compounds with transition metal ions [9].

Different models, such as cancer cell lines, explants of tumor and normal tissues, enzyme systems are used to develop and test anticancer substances, but the selection of anti-tumor substances is carried out mainly on various cancer cell lines.

So in the present study, we have compared the antiproliferative and antioxidant activities of 2-formilpyridine N(4)-phenylthiosemicarbazone (CMT-22), complex copper(II) [Cu(L)Cl] with 2-formilpyridine N(4)-phenylthiosemicarbazone ligand (CMT-67), copper(II) mixed-ligand complex chloro(N-phenyl-N'-[(pyridin-2-yl)methylidene]carbamohydrazonothioato)(4aminobenzene-1-sulfonamide)copper (CMT-68), as well as (CMJ-23) and copper(II) complex (CMJ-33) with the FDA approved anticancer drugs doxorubicin and cisplatin, using various cancer cell lines as well as normal mortal cells *in vitro*. Further, hemolysis and formation of methemoglobin (MetHb) in human RBSs was also tested *in vitro*. Finally, we have also evaluated the toxicity of the tested compounds on *Paramecium caudatum in vivo* [10]

The aim of this work is to establish the effect of new molecular organic and inorganic (organometallic) inhibitors on the proliferative activity of human cancer cell lines in comparison with the frequently employed anticancer drugs doxorubicin and *cis*-dichlorodiammineplatinum; identification of the mechanism of the inhibitor action.

The following **objectives** were set for this:

- ✓ detection of antiproliferative activity of the tested substances CMT-22, CMT-67, CMT-68, CMJ-23, CMJ-33 on the cancer cells MeW-164 (human malignant melanoma), HeLa (human cervix adenocarcinoma), BxPC-3 (human primary pancreatic adenocarcinoma), RD (human rhabdomyosarcoma);
- ✓ testing substances against normal kidney epithelial cells of MDCK line in order to detect selective cytotoxicity;
- \checkmark identification of the inhibition mechanism in cancer cell proliferation by the test substances;
- ✓ *in vitro* assessment of the development probability and the nature of possible side effects of the tested substances associated with hemolysis and the formation of methemoglobin in human erythrocytes;
- \checkmark determination of the toxicity of the tested substances

Research hypothesis.

Based on the literary analysis and molecular modelling, we suggested that the 2-formylpyridine *N*(4)-phenylthiosemicarbazone (N-phenyl-2-(pyridin-2ylmethylidene)hydrazinecarbothioamide, CMT-22, HL), complex copper(II) [Cu(L)Cl] with CMT-22 ligand (chloro(*N*-phenyl-*N*'-[(pyridin-2-yl)methylidene]carbamohydrazonothioato copper, CMT-67), mixed-ligand copper (II) complex [Cu(Str)(L)Cl] with CMT-22 and 4-aminobenzenesulfonamide (Str) ligands (chloro(N-phenyl-N'-[(pyridin-2yl)methylidene]carbamohydrazonothioato)(4-aminobenzene-1-sulfonamide)copper, CMT-68), as well as coded organic compound CMJ-23 and copper(II) complex CMJ-33 with ligand CMJ-23 are potent inhibitors of cancer cell proliferation with high selective activity.

Research methodology.

In vitro antiproliferative activity of the tested compounds was investigated using the flow fluorescence cytometry, cell proliferation MTT and resazurin assays. DNA fragmentation was determined by electrophoresis method.

Antioxidant activity was estimated using ABTS⁺⁺, DPPH⁺, ORAC-Fl and LOX methods.

In vitro assessment of the development probability and the nature of possible side effects of the tested compounds associated with hemolysis and the formation of methemoglobin in human erythrocytes was investigated using spectrophotometric assays.

The screening of direct toxicity of the tested compounds was performed with the aid the NR method for determining toxicity using *Paramecium caudatum*.

Novelty and relevance of the study:

- ✓ methods for studying the biological activity of substances (method for detection of lipoxygenase activity; method for determining the antioxidant capacity; procedure for determining the induction capacity of hemolysis; *in vitro* method of determination of cell viability and cytotoxicity) have been adapted;
- ✓ antiproliferative and antioxidant activities of 5 synthetic compounds (tiosemicarbazones and Cu(II) coordination compounds with tiosemicarbazones) have been assessed;
- ✓ the investigated substances have been established to not cause the formation of methemoglobin and to not increase the index of hemolysis in human erythrocytes;
- ✓ a method for assessment of direct toxicity using *Paramecium caudatum* has been developed, and the direct toxicity of the substances under study has been estimated;
- ✓ the mechanism of the compound action on the proliferation of cancer cells associated with apoptosis has been elucidated by the following research methods: NMR spectroscopy, X-ray diffraction, electrophoretic separation of DNA fragments, flux fluorescence and microscopy;
- ✓ the tested compounds (2-formylpyridine N(4)-phenylthiosemicarbazone (N-phenyl-2-(pyridin-2-ylmethylidene)hydrazinecarbothioamide, CMT-22, HL), complex copper(II) [Cu(L)Cl] with CMT-22 ligand (chloro(N-phenyl-N'-[(pyridin-2yl)methylidene]carbamohydrazonothioato copper, CMT-67), mixed-ligand copper (II) complex [Cu(Str)(L)Cl] with CMT-22 and 4-aminobenzenesulfonamide (Str) ligands (chloro(N-phenyl-N'-[(pyridin-2-yl)methylidene]carbamohydrazonothioato)(4-aminobenzene-1-sulfonamide)copper, CMT-68), as well as coded organic compound CMJ-23 and copper(II) complex CMJ-33 with ligand CMJ-23) are of interest from the point of view of their employment as less toxic and more effective anticancer agents.

Scientific problem solved in this thesis is the identification of new inhibitors of cancer cells proliferation with high selective activity and lower toxicity compared to FDA-approved reference anticancer compounds (DOXO and CDDP), as well as the elucidation of the antiproliferative mechanism of action of the tested compounds. The antioxidant action of organic and inorganic molecular inhibitors on radicals (ABTS⁺⁺, DPPH⁺, HO₂⁺) has been determined. The compounds under study have been found to not cause the formation of methemoglobin and to not increase the index of hemolysis in human erythrocytes.

The theoretical importance and potential application value of the work.

New inhibitors of cancer cell proliferation with high selective activity and low toxicity have been identified which made it possible to propose them for preclinical studies. A method for determination of the dependence of toxicity on the concentration of substances using *Paramecium cadatum* has been developed. The use of this method allows to accelerate and reduce the cost of biotesting.

The mechanism of the action of the antiproliferative activity of the tested compounds has been found to associate with apoptosis. NMR spectroscopy and X-ray diffraction analyses have demonstrated that thiosemicarbazones interact with the DNA fragment (guanine), forming hydrogen bonds, which causes DNA fragmentation and finally apoptosis.

The findings are of scientific significance and can be used for special training courses in Biopharmaceutical Chemistry and Biochemistry.

Principal scientific results proposed for support:

- \checkmark studies on the anticancer activity of synthesized compounds;
- ✓ detection of compounds characterized by high antiproliferative activity in cancer cells and low toxicity in normal cells;
- \checkmark identification of the antioxidant activity in the compounds under study;
- \checkmark studies on the toxicity of the compounds tested *in vitro* and *in vivo*.

Implementation of scientific results.

A method for determination of direct toxicity of substances using *Paramecium caudatum* has been developed and patented. Two molecular inhibitors of cancer cell proliferation and one substance with antioxidant activity have been patented. Modification and adaptation of methods for studying the biological activity of substances have resulted in the implementation of three innovations. The obtained results are of scientific significance and can be used when reading special courses in Biopharmaceutical Chemistry and Biochemistry.

Dissemination and publication of the research findings.

The main results of the thesis were presented in the form of 3 communication and 11 posters at national and international scientific conferences:

- 3rd French-Romanian Colloquium on Medicinal Chemistry, Iaşi, Roumanie, 2014;

- The XVIII-th International Conference "Physical Methods in Coordination and Supramolecular Chemistry" Chişinău, Republica Moldova, 2015;

- Conferința științifică anuală a colaboratorilor și studenților, Chișinău, Republica Moldova 2015;

- International Scientific Conference on Microbial Biotechnology (3rd edition) Chișinău, Republica Moldova, 2016;

- The 6th International Conference Ecological & Environmental Chemistry, Chisinau, Republic of Moldova, 2017;

- The 4th French-Romanian Colloquium on Medicinal Chemistry, Iasi, Romania, 2017;

- Conferința științifică națională cu participare internațională "Integrare prin Cercetare și Inovare", USM, 2017;

- Simpozionul international, "Ecologia funcțională a animalelor", consacrat aniversării a 70 de ani de la nașterea academicianului Ion Toderaș, Republica Moldova, 2018;

- International Conference Achievements and perspectives of modern chemistry, Chisinau, Republic of Moldova, 2019.

The structure and scope of the thesis.

The thesis consists of introduction, four chapters, general conclusions and recommendations, 204 references, 5 annexes, 129 pages, 41 figures, 8 schemes, 6 tables. The results are published in 28 scientific publications (7 articles, 4 patents, 14 theses at conferences, 3 innovations).

In **CHAPTER 1** "CANCER AND GENERAL ASPECTS OF CHEMOTHERAPY", the literature review is carried out. The respective chapter is comprised of six main subchapters that describes epidemiology, etiology, pathogenesis of cancer, as well utilization of chemotherapy in view of the cell cycle in cancer, side effects associated with oxidative stress and resistance. In "Literature review", characterization of the antitumor drugs (naturally-occurring, semi-synthetic, synthetic) and description of the mechanism of actions is presented. The analysis of the situation in this domain helped to find out and identify research problems. The chapter ends with conclusions.

In CHAPTER 2 "CHARACTERISTICS OF THE OBJECTS OF STUDY AND RESEARCH METHODS", the characteristics of the tested compounds or the objects of study, each research method, data on method characteristics and methodological quality is described extensively.

This chapter begins with a description of the characteristics of the investigated compounds (2-formilpyridine *N*(4)-phenylthiosemicarbazone (CMT-22), complex copper(II) with ligand 2-formilpyridine *N*(4)-phenylthiosemicarbazone (CMT-67), complex copper(II) mixed-ligand chloro(*N*-phenyl-*N*'-[(pyridin-2-yl)methylidene]carbamohydrazonothioato)(4-aminobenzene-1-sulfonamide)copper (CMT-68), as well as an organic substance CMJ-23, copper complex CMJ-33 and the FDA approved anticancer drugs doxorubicin, cisplatin), followed by the representing of culture conditions of cell lines, such as MeW-164 (human malignant melanoma, Warsaw Cancer Center), HeLa (human cervix adenocarcinoma, ATCC CCL-2), BxPC-3 (human primary pancreatic adenocarcinoma, ATCC CRL-1687), RD (human rhabdomyosarcoma, ATCC CCL-136), MDCK (Madin Darby Canine Kidney epithelial normal cells, ATCC CCL-34).

22

This section is devoted to the discussion of cell proliferation/viability assay methods (MTT, resazurin, fluorescence cytometr). To determine the mechanism of action of the tested compounds associated with a direct effect on the genomic DNA of the cells, the electrophoretic DNA fragmentation method is represented.

In addition, antioxidant activity and free radical-scavenging capacity *in vitro* is described as important assays (ABTS⁺⁺, DPPH⁺, ORAC-Fluorescein, LOX) to determine antioxidant properties of the tested compounds potentially useful to prevent cancer.

The fourth and fifth sections present toxic red blood cells (RBCs) hemolysis and formation of methemoglobin in intact erythrocytes assays *in vitro* to determine the side effects of the tested compounds associated with tissue hypoxia and hemolysis in human blood.

Last in this chapter is subchapter devoted to toxicity neutral red (NR) - assay *in vivo* with *Paramecium caudatum*, as the test-object. The necessary calculations are extensively described for each method.

CHAPTER 3 "ANTIPROLIFERATIVE ACTIVITY OF THE TESTED COMPOUNDS" contains four main subchapters: 1) *In vitro* antiproliferative activity of the tested compounds CMT-22, CMT-67 and CMT-68 on different lines cancer cells; 2) *In vitro* antiproliferative activity of the tested compounds CMJ-23 and CMJ-33 on different lines cancer cells; 3) The ability of the tested compounds to induce DNA fragmentation *in vitro*; 4) Conclusion.

This chapter is reported to the results of study, emphasizing data on anticancer activity of the tested compounds in comparison with their cytotoxic effect in regard to the normal cells.

The results of our study demonstrate that all tested compounds exhibited an antiproliferative activity in relation to the tested cancer cells of lines. The tested compounds for normal cells showed selective cytotoxicity. It was determined that the tested compounds show better selectivity towards cancer cells than DOXO.

Electrophoresis method of DNA fragmentation confirms the mechanism of action of the studied substances linked with a direct effect on cell genomic DNA. The research findings identified a possible mechanism of action of the tested cpmpounds associated with cellular apoptosis.

CHAPTER 4 "STUDIES OF THE MECHANISM OF ACTION AND SIDE EFFECTS OF NEW ORGANIC AND ORGANOMETALLIC CANCER CELL INHIBITORS ASSOCIATED WITH OXIDATIVE STRESS" contains seven subchapters: 1) ABTS⁺⁺ and DPPH⁺ radical scavenging activity of the tested compounds; 2) Oxygen Radical Absorption Capacity (FL) activity of the tested compounds; 3) Antilipoxygenase activity of the tested compounds; 4) Impacts of the tested compounds on methemoglobin formation; 5) Impacts of the tested compounds on RBCs hemolysis; 6) *Paramecium* toxicity activity of the tested compounds; 7) Conclusion.

The respective chapter begins with a description of the results on the antioxidant activity of the tested compounds, followed by reporting of experimental results on the tested compounds screening including toxic hemolysis and methemoglobin formation in human RBCs observations, which do not exceed the permissible values in the therapeutic concentration range. The following subchapter presents data on direct toxic evaluation that demonstrates lower toxicity for 24 h and 48 h of the compounds under study in comparison with that of doxorubicin.

1. CANCER AND GENERAL ASPECTS OF CHEMOTHERAPY

1.1. Cancer epidemiology

The problem of cancer remains a priority for modern society. The World Health Organization has recently demonstrated that more than 18 million new cases of cancer are recorded all over the world annually; while 9.6 million deaths were reported in 2018 [1]. The International Agency for Research on Cancer released the latest estimates on the global burden of cancer in September 2018 [11, 12]. They reveal a large geographical diversity in cancer occurrence and variations in the number and profile of the disease between and within regions worldwide. Every fifth male and every sixth female develop cancer during their lifetime in the world, and every eighth male and every eleventh female dies from the disease. It has been estimated worldwide that the total number of people diagnosed of cancer who are alive within five years, called the five-year prevalence, constitutes 43.8 million. Though, Europe's population makes only 9%, the continent accounts for 23.4% of the global cancer cases and 20.3% of the cancer deaths. The Americas account for 21.0% of incidence and 14.4% of mortality due to cancer having 13.3% of the global population. The proportions of cancer deaths in Asia and in Africa (57.3% and 7.3%, respectively) are higher than those of incident cases (48.4% and 5.8%, respectively) in contrast to other world regions because of a higher frequency of certain cancer types connected with poorer prognosis and higher mortality rates; moreover, the access to timely diagnosis and treatment is limited in many countries.

Worldwide, the leading types in terms of the number of new cases include lung and female breast cancers; around 2.1 million diagnoses were estimated for each of these types in 2018, contributing to about 11.6% of the total cancer incidence burden. Colorectal cancer (1.8 million cases, 10.2% of the total), prostate cancer (1.3 million cases, 7.1%), and stomach cancer (1.0 million cases, 5.7%) are the most commonly diagnosed ones (Figure 1) [11, 12].

Lung cancer also accounts for the largest number of deaths (1.8 million deaths, 18.4% of the total), because of its poor prognosis worldwide, followed by colorectal cancer (881,000 deaths, 9.2%), stomach cancer (783,000 deaths, 8.2%), and liver cancer (782,000 deaths, 8.2%). Female breast cancer ranks as the fifth main cause of death (627,000 deaths, 6.6%) due to relatively favorable prognosis, at least in more developed countries (Figure 2) [11, 12].



Fig. 1.1. Number of new cases in 2018, both sexes, all ages [11, 12].



Fig. 1.2. Number of deaths in 2018, both sexes, all ages [11, 12].

1.2. Cancer etiology and pathogenesis

Cancerous tumors are characterized by uncontrollable, not regulated by external signals proliferation of cells and their capacity to penetrate into surrounding tissues and organs destroying them and to spread by blood or lymth flow with formation of secondary foci - metastases [13].

The tumor cell transformation occurs as a result of accumulation of mutations affecting various regulatory mechanisms. Frequently, the cell cycle is disrupted when the cell is going through restriction points. Usually, telomerase expression and excess expression of growth factors and their receptors are observed in tumor cells. Tumor cells are characterized by changes in cytoskeleton and loss of sensitivity to contact inhibition of proliferation. The proteins involved in apoptosis are frequently not expressed in them. As a rule, mutations disturb different paths of signal transmission. The high mutation frequency in tumor cells facilitates their adaptation to environment, and one of the manifestations of such adaptation is the development of the resistance to drugs. With the tumor growth, the cells start to secrete proteases that promote invasive growth and metastasis development. At a certain stage, cells start to secrete factors that contribute to vessel proliferation and improvement of blood supply to the tumor [14]. Some mutations give a possibility to tumor cells to remain invulnerable to the immune system; for example, in some tumors, the expression of HLA class I antigens is reduced and the cells are not recognized by T-lymphocytes [15, 16].

A large variety of genes is involved in tumor development [17]. Deregulation of multitude of cell functions, including the mechanisms of control over cell proliferation [18], DNA repair, [19] chromosome stability, intercellular interactions, cell-matrix interactions, angiogenesis, cell aging, apoptosis etc. [20, 21].

Hyperplasia, adenoma, dysplasia *in situ* cancer, invasive cancer are observed as genetic disorders accumulated in the epithelial tissues. Tumor transformation is practically always caused by genetic disorders, however, in the experiment, tumor cells may be produced without gene damage. Thus, the cells of the primary ectoderm of the mouse embryo proliferate uncontrollably in the culture. After such cells are introduced to animals, they develop a tumor, teratocarcinoma. However if teratocarcinoma cells are reintroduced into the early embryo, under the influence of neighboring cells they differentiate into cells of normal organs and tissues according to the injection site. Thus, external factors influence the gene expression in target cells. Receiving many different signals, the cell responds to them by activating a specific set of transcription factors. It depends on this set whether the cell will proliferate, differentiate, or die.

27

In *in vitro* cultures, human fibroblasts and epithelial cells after 50-60 divisions of the "Hayflick number" [22] irreversibly stop in the G1- and G2 phases of the cell cycle. The mechanism is based on a progressive shortening of the telomere length as a result of incomplete replication of the chromosome terminal sections in each of the mitotic cycles. The stop of the cell cycle is conditioned by the formation of "sticky" chromosome ends, which causes them to connect and trigger reactions similar to those observed under the action of DNA-damaging agents [23]. However, in cells with active telomerase, which elongates DNA telomere repeats or when other, so called "alternative mechanisms of telomere elongation" are activated based particularly, on non-reciprocal recombination of their sites, the restriction of the division number - immortalization - can be lifted [24].

This is evidenced by the fact that in contrast to normal human tissues, in the cells of most tumors, as well as in stem cells, telomerase is active and transduction of the vectors expressing the catalytic telomerase subunit (TERT) increases the life span of normal human cells of some lines by as many as 20 divisions. The interconnectedness of the processes of apoptosis inhibition and telomerase activation in cancer cells is evidenced by the overproduction of the Bcl-2 protein in cancer cells accompanied by an elevation of the telomerase activity level.

It has been found that telomerase activity is regulated by the Myc oncoprotein that increases the transcription of the TERT subunit gene, the expression level of which determines the enzyme activity in normal cells [25, 26].

It is known from literature that a number of other cellular and viral oncoproteins (activated Ras, Mdm2, cycline D1, Cdc25A, E7 HPV) do not activate telomerase [27], while HPV16 E6 possesses this capacity, it being linked precisely with the capacity of this viral protein to boost Myc expression [27]. It is not excluded that telomerase activation in mutagen-stimulated lymphocytes, as well as in the proliferative zones of hair follicles and intestinal crypts, is also conditioned by the expression of the Myc protein in them [28, 29].

It is noteworthy that in the lines that proliferate normal cells, telomerase, as a rule, is inactive. However, the activation alone of the mechanisms preventing telomere shortening is not sufficient for cell immortalization. Thus, TERT or E6 transduction by removing restriction on the number of cell divisions in the cells of some lines does not result in immortalization of fibroblasts IMR-90, keratinocytes and breast epithelial cells, although it causes activation of telomerase and telomere elongation in them. Immortalization in such cells occurs only in the case of supplementary inactivation of the function of certain tumor suppressers. Moreover, inactivation of different suppressors is required for different types of cells. Thus, in human kerotinocytes and mammary epithelial cells immortalization is observed upon transduction of

TERT and simultaneous inactivation of either pRb or p16INK4a, while elimination of p53 [30] or p19ARF does not induce such effect [31]. On the other side, in mouse cells, in the majority of which, unlike human ones telomerase is constitutively activated [32], immortalization, as a rule, is induced by just inactivation of p53 or p19ARF [33, 34].

The data accumulated during the last decade point to the necessity of angiogenesis for the growth of the vast majority of malignant tumors. Having reached a certain stage of development, a malignant tumor penetrates through the basal membrane and invades neighboring connective tissue. Angiogenesis is regulated by angiogenic stimulating factors such as angiogenin, vascular endothelial growth factor [VEGF] [35], basic fibroblast growth factor [bFGF], transforming growth factor b [TGFb] and cytokines (interleukin [IL]-1, 6 and 8) as well as through inhibitors angiostatin and endostatin.

Malignant cells express collagenases, heparanases and plasminogen activators and advance through supporting tissues along the path of least resistance. Angiogenesis plays an important role in the delivery of nutrients to a proliferating tumor [36]. The synthesis of collagen, vitronectin and fibronectin by malignant cells forms the basis for the development of tumor cells and contributes to its engraftment in metastasis sites. Capillary vessels first develop in the adjacent tissues, which are later substituted by tumor cells. The capillary vessels surrounding the tumor are formed from the cells of the normal endothelium, however they differ considerably from the normal ones in terms of morphology density and vascular permeability. A dense network of capillaries supplies the developing tumor cells. The presence of a capillary network also facilitates the introduction and spread of metastatic tumor cells. As a result of angiogenesis, "dormant" metastases are capable to initiate exponentially progressively growing tumor [37].

1.3. Utilization of chemotherapy in view of the cell cycle in cancer

To correctly prescribe antitumor drugs and understand their mechanism of action, it is necessary to take into account the basic processes of cell proliferation. Many of the antitumor drugs act at the expense of DNA damage and are most active in the S phase when DNA replication occurs, while taxans disrupt mitosis preventing the formation of a division spindle. Such drugs act only on dividing cells, therefore tumors with a high growing fraction are most sensitive to chemotherapy. However, most antitumor agents also attack normal rapidly dividing cells (in bone marrow, hair follicles, gastrointestinal mucosa), which limits the utilization of these products. At the same time, tumors with a low growth fraction (colon or lung cancer) often are resistant to chemotherapy.

The duration of the cell cycle varies with the cell type, the division of all cells occurs according to the general scheme. The phases of the cell cycle are as follows: (1) G1 presynthetic phase; (2) S synthetic phase; (3) G2 postsynthetic phase, and (4) mitosis. As a result of mitosis, two daughter cells are formed from the G2 cell, which immediately start a new cell period, entering the G1 phase or proceed to a dormant state (G0). The cells of some tissues at the G0 phase differentiate and lose their capacity to continue division. Many other cells especially in slowly growing tumors, after a durable dormant state can again start to divide. Reaching a control point at the boundary of G1 and S phases, cells with damaged DNA are exposed to apoptosis, if they retain the TP53 gene and the p53 protein encoded by it accomplishes its control functions. With mutation of this gene, cells manage to avoid apoptosis: they proceed to the S phase, divide and some of them can give rise to a population of drug-resistant cells.

The growth of the population of tumor cells is characterized by a slow linear growth of the tumor at its minimum and maximum size and by exponential growth at the intermediate stage. A low growth rate is characteristic of very small and very large tumors, while the growth is exponential with an intermediate tumor size.

The basic principles of cancer therapy are determined by the kinetics of cell proliferation. The log-kill hypothesis postulates that a certain dose of drug the kills a constant fraction of tumor cells (expressed in cell log number), and not a constant cell number. It means that after a course of treatment a part of the tumor cells accidentally survives, without acquiring specific resistance to the drug. In this connection, healing is more probable when a combined therapy isemployed. Log-killing varies with the speed of the cell growth, its progressive decrease being observed in the late stages of tumor growth, when the cells no longer proceed to the cell cycle. Early relapses of slowly growing tumors result from their slight log-killing. Late relapses of rapidly growing tumors can appear notwithstanding the efficient treatment if the number of therapy courses was too low during the so-called risk period.

Slowdown of tumor growth and death of malignant cells correlate with cytological and spatial factors. Proximity to blood vessels and access to oxygen are significant factors determining the vital capacity and growth of a malignant cell, which leads to important therapeutic consequences in the case of chemotherapy when many antitumor drugs specifically target dividing cells [38].

30

1.4. Side effects associated with oxidative stress and resistance in anticancer chemotherapy

In the management of cancer, high systemic toxicity and drug resistance remain a major challenge for modern medicine despite the significant progress made in the anticancer therapy. Chemotherapy can have severe side effects because of its cytotoxic action on normal cells. This limits its employment and it is indicated to reduce the drug dose, interrupt and even cease the treatment. It is important, therefore, that the anticancer drugs induce antiproliferative and cytotoxic activity in tumor cells without affecting normal tissues [39, 40].

Hemolysis induction is one of the severe side effects of chemotherapy. Two mechanisms are involved in this process. Toxic hemolysis implies direct toxicity of the drug, its metabolite, or an excipient in the formulation; allergic hemolysis implies toxicity caused by an immunological reaction in patients pre-sensitised to a drug [41]. For most drugs, toxic hemolysis involves lower doses given to individuals who are genetically predisposed to hemolysis although the majority of normal individuals may suffer toxic hemolysis at sufficiently high concentrations of hemolytic drugs. To test the excipients intended for injectable use for hemolytic potential, it is strongly recommended that an *in vitro* hemolysis assay evaluates hemoglobin release in the plasma, which is as an indicator of red blood cell lysis after test agent exposure. Compounds with a hemolysis value of <10% are considered nonhemolytic while the values of >25% are considered fit for hemolysis [42].

A major dose-limiting toxicity was symptomatic dyspnea in early clinical trials due to treatmentrelated methemoglobinemia [43, 44]. Methemoglobinemia is a reversible condition in which more than 15% of a patient's hemoglobin is incapable of carrying oxygen because of iron oxidation [45, 46]. Erythrocyte hemoglobin carries oxygen in reversible connection with iron in a reduced, ferrous Fe^{2+} state. Fe^{2+} iron hemoglobin oxidizes to Fe^{3+} methemoglobin at a daily rate of approximately 3%. Methemoglobin returns to hemoglobin due to the action of cytochrome b5 reductase and cytochrome b5 [47]. This pathway is responsible for 94% of the conversion of methemoglobin to hemoglobin and normally maintains methemoglobin levels below 1% of total hemoglobin. Dyspnea occurs when blood methemoglobin levels reach 25% [48, 49, 50, 51, 52]

Induced toxic hemolysis and elevated index of methemoglobin are the result of the effect of oxidative stress of free-radical nature caused by chemotherapy [53].

Free radicals (FR) are highly reactive molecules, containing one or several unpaired electrons on the outer electron membrane. Cellular damage occurs when FR meet a molecule and try to extract an electron pair from it for the odd electron. Unstable due to the electronic deficiency, such FR will capture the missing electron of a neighboring molecule, which leads, in its turn, to transformation of that molecule into a FR. The new FR will capture an electron from the following molecule in a chain chemical reaction that produces radicals. In such reactions, the newly formed FR will ultimately capture an electron from a modified molecule without being able to further function. Such an event results in the destruction of the molecule and the containing it cell. As occurs when the reaction involves paired basic molecules in a DNA strand, the triggered chain reaction may lead to atomic structures cross-linking. DNA cross-linking can cause various aspects of aging, especially that of cancer. An anticancer compound should not be prooxidant as it may produce adverse modifications to cell components [54, 55].

It is known from literature that the biological action of the anticancer anthracyclines doxorubicin and daunorubicin is frequently connected with their ability to induce oxidative stress through RF generation and reactive oxygen species (ROS) [56, 57]. This property is due to the presence of a quinone moiety in the drugs' structures, which may cause metabolic reduction generating superoxide via aerobic redox cycling and, subsequently, other more reactive oxygen forms. ROS are believed to possibly play a role in cardiotoxicity induced by anthracycline. A few studies have recently revealed that anthracyclines have also reducing capacities as they react with oxidants. This is not surprising, as the drugs contain an electron-donating hydroquinone moiety in their chromophores [58, 4].

In cancer treatment, development of multidrug resistance to chemotherapy remains a major challenge. Resistance exists against every effective anticancer drug and can develop using numerous mechanisms that include decreased drug uptake, increased drug efflux, activation of detoxifying systems, activation of DNA repair mechanisms, evasion of drug-induced apoptosis, etc [59, 60, 61].

Drug metabolism enzymes are the second line of cellular resistance once in the intracellular compartment. The process employs phase I and II enzymes. It is cytochrome P450 enzymes (CYPs) and epoxide hydrolases that mainly mediate phase I or oxidative metabolism [62]. CYPs belong to a superfamily of hemoproteins that comprises, based on their degree of sequence homology, 57 genes classified in 18 families and 44 subfamilies. CYPs are locatedd in mitochondria and the endoplasmic reticulum (ER) and, by incorporating one atom of molecular oxygen into the substrate and one into water, catalyze the monooxygenase reaction. This reaction also demands a source of electrons that are supplied by the NADPH cytochrome P450 reductase

and ferredoxin in ER and mitochondria, respectively. Microsomal CYPs metabolize both endogenous and exogenous compounds while mitochondrial CYPs are involved in the metabolism of endogenous substrates [63, 64]. Therapeutic drugs are therefore metabolized by microsomal CYP and epoxide hydrolases, which convert highly mutagenic aromatic metabolites (epoxide) created from the CYP metabolism in a metabolite that can be conjugated by the phase II enzymes and then effluxed by transporters such as the members of the ABCC transporter family. Although mainly expressed in the liver, extrahepatic expression of CYPs has been shown in both normal and tumor tissues. The CYP3A, 2D6, and 2C families metabolize most chemotherapeutic drugs [65, 66].

Drug detoxification is mainly realized by phase I reactions. However, a prodrugbased strategy may employ these enzymes. Hence, it is particularly important to understand the polymorphism effect on CYP enzyme activity. This is well illustrated by the findings referring to 516G>T polymorphism in CYP2B6, which proves that depending on the drug administered, the effect of polymorphisms can vary dramatically [67, 68]. Studies have singled out the synergism between CYP enzymes and ABC transporters that occurs when CYP enzyme produced metabolites, especially CYP3A4, are better substrates for ABCB1 than the parent compound or when ABCB1 prevents the saturation of CYP enzymes by requiring a subsequent entry of the drug into the cell. This process enhances exposure to CYP enzymes and can dramatically reduce the efficiency of chemotherapeutic treatment [69]. Phase II enzymes are included in conjugation reactions involving glutathionylation, glucuronidation, and sulfation [70]. These enzymes comprise UDP-glucuronosyltransferases (UGT), arylamine N-acetyltransferases (NAT), sulfotransferases, and glutathione-S-transferase (GST), which transform the reactive species into hydrophilic nontoxic metabolite conjugates. Members of the ABCC family of ABC transporters efflux afterwards these conjugated metabolites. Overall survival in cancer patients have also been related to genetic polymorphisms in these families of genes. Ekhart et al. demonstrated the impact of genetic polymorphisms in both these enzymes and in phase I enzymes including ABC transporters on survival after chemotherapy [71].

P-glycoproteid (Pgp) encoded by the ABCB1 gene transports drugs from the cell ensuring the efflux of cytostatics, in particular, anthracyclines, which facilitates, when it is expressed, development of multiresistance to antitumor drugs [72].

The activity of Pgp determines the resistance of tumor cells to many antitumor drugs. The basic issue of PGp biochemistry has not been elucidated up to now, how one protein ensures the resistance to a wide range of various compounds and how a single protein transports various substances.

It is suggested that twelve transmembranous domains form pores and canals through which Pgp actively removes substances, and the energy of ATP hydrolysis is somehow transferred from two ATP-binding domains, ensuing the operation of the efflux pump. It is unclear how the ATP energy is transformed into drug transfer, however, it is well known that ATP analogs are linked to Pgp and that a purified Pgp molecule possesses ATP-ase activity. Evidence has been obtained in favor of the fact that Pgp functions as a flippase transferring the substrates bound by it from the inner lipid layer of the cell membrane to the outer one or into external ambient [73, 74].

An increase in Pgp expression was founded by biopsy in tumors sampled both before and after chemotherapy. This protein was detected in all types of neoplasms [73].

Alkaloids of rosy periwinkle (*Catharanthus roseus*), anthracyclins, dactinomycin, epipodophyllotoxins and colchicines are eliminated from the cell by P-glycoproteid and induce its synthesis. Under the action of one of them, the tumor acquires resistance to the rest of them but remains sensitive to other groups of cytostatics (alkylating agents, antimetabolites) [75, 76, 77].

To monitor the integrity of a cell's DNA and govern proper responses to any genetic damage a complex network of interacting pathways has evolved. This network consists of sensor complexes that discover DNA breaks. Mre11-Rad50-Nbs1 (MRN) has been shown to recognize or sense doublestrand breaks (DSBs) in DNA, while the RPA-ATRIP complex binds to single strand breaks (SSBs). MRN and RPA-ATRIP involve then kinases ATM and ATR, respectively to phosphorylate/activate a multitude of other proteins including the checkpoint kinases Chk1 and 2, initiating a cascade that leads to cell-cycle arrest and DNA repair. However, if the damage is too extensive, rather than repair itself, the cell will enter one of these states: senescence, which is characterized by an irreversible growth arrest, apoptosis, or necrosis.

A complex network of interacting pathways has evolved to monitor the integrity of a cell's DNA and govern proper responses to any genetic damage [78]. This network includes sensor complexes that detect DNA breaks. It has been shown that Mre11-Rad50-Nbs1 (MRN) recognizes or senses DNA doublestrand breaks (DSBs), while the RPA-ATRIP complex binds to single strand breaks (SSBs). Kinases such as ATM and ATR are then recruited by MRN and RPA-ATRIP, respectively, and phosphorylate/activate a myriad of other proteins including the checkpoint kinases Chk1 and 2, initiating a cascade that results in cell-cycle arrest and DNA repair [79]. However, the cell will enter one of these states: senescence, which is characterized by an irreversible growth arrest, apoptosis, or necrosis if the damage is too extensive, rather than repair itself. Many chemotherapeutic drugs have been used to kill proliferating cells, which

causes extensive DNA damage that ultimately results in cell cycle arrest and cell death. However, the efficiency of such therapeutic agents as platinum drugs and alkylating agents can be considerably diminished by the ability of cells to repair DNA [80, 81]. DNA repair involves an intricate network of repair systems, each of them targeting a specific subset of lesions. These pathways include the nucleotide excision repair (NER) pathway, the base excision repair (BER) pathway, the direct reversal pathway (MGMT, ABH2, ABH3), the homologous recombination (HR) pathway, the nonhomologous end joining (NHEJ) pathway, and the mismatch repair (MMR) pathway. It has been reported that there is an inverse correlation of ERCC1 (NER pathways) with either response to platinum therapy or survival in colorectal, non-small cell lung cancer, and ovarian cancers [81]. It has also been demonstrated that MMR deficiency is connected with cisplatin resistance. The MMR mechanism removes the newly inserted intact base instead of the damaged one, thereby triggering subsequent rounds of futile repairs, which can result in cell death [82].

1.5. Antitumor drugs

The first antitumor drug was registered in 1946. That was embilished on the basis of poisonous mustard gas used during the WWI. A focused screening for antitumor drug has started since the 1940-ies [83].

Presently, more than 100 drugs are known that are capable to cause necrosis of cancer cells when membrane, nucleus and other their components are damaged which results in cell death (cytotoxic effect) or trigger the apoptosis process (cytostatic effect) of a malignant cell.

In this connection, antitumor drugs are divided into cytotoxic and cytostatic (antimitotic and karyoclast) ones. Among cytostatic drugs the most known include doxorubicin, cisplatin, fluorouracil, hydroxyurea, and cyclophosphamide [84].

However, antitumor drugs do not have a high selective capacity and along with cancer cells, they damage the cells of normal proliferating tissues (cells of lymphoid tissue, bone marrow. gastrointestinal tract, genital glands, skin etc.) [85].

Different models are used to develop and test anticancer drugs (cancer cell lines, explants of tumor and normal tissues, enzyme systems), but the main selection of antitumor substances is carried out on experimental tumors (usually on cancer cell lines and various strains of transplanted tumors of mice or rats). Attempts are also being made to use animals with tumors caused by oncogenic agents and animals with spontaneous tumors. No distinct correlations in the sensitivity to antitumor agents of experimental neoplasms and human tumors have not been

35

established. Therefore, the question of the spectrum of antitumor activity, i.e., the question of which tumors the selected antitumor agent will act on, is finally resolved only in clinical trials.

1.5.1. Naturally-occurring and semi-synthetic antineoplastic drugs, their mechanism of action

Alkaloids. Alkaloids of rosy periwinkle, vinblastine, vincristine, vindesine, and vinorelbine are asymmetric dimeric compounds. A slight difference in their structure results in distinctive differences in the range of antitumor activity and toxicity. The alkaloids of rosy periwinkle act on dividing cells and block mitosis. This effect is explained by binding of products with r-tubulins and polymerization disorder in a- and r-tubulins in microtubules. When cells are incubated with vinblastine, microtubules dissolution occurs to produce crystalline structures containing tubulins and vinblastine in a molar ratio of 1:1. Due to the destruction of fission spindle microtubules, the cell ceases dividing in metaphase. At the same time, chromosomes randomly disperse in the cytoplasm or accumulate in unusual structures. It is suggested that abnormal divergence of chromosome during mitosis results in cell death. Changes characteristic of apoptosis are observed in both tumor and normal cells in the presence of alkaloids of rosy periwinkle [86]. Besides division, microtubules are necessary for cell movement, phagocytosis and axonal transport. Side effects of rosy periwinkle, for example neuropathy, are associated with the disturbance of these processes [87].

Alkaloids of rosy periwinkle possess a powerful and selective antitumor action but strongly vary in their effect on normal tissues. Vincristine is included in standard chemotherapy regimens for leukemia and solid tumors in children and are frequently used for lymphomas in adults.

Due to weak inhibition of blood formation, it is very important for polychemotherapy of leukemia and lymphomas. Vinblastine is indicated for testicular tumors and lymphomas, as well as second line chemotherapy for solid tumors. The lack of neurotoxicity makes vinblastine a valuable drug for testicular tumors (in combination with cisplastin) and recurrent lymphoma. Non-small cell lung and breast cancers are sensitive to vinorelbine; indications for vinorelbine employment expand with new tests performed. Vinorelbine possesses low neurotoxicity and moderately inhibits blood formation [88].

Complete cross-resistance to different rosy periwinkle alkaloids is not observed despite their structural similarity. However, after treatment with only one naturally-occurring cytostatic agent, the cells can become multiresistant, that is, insensitive immediately to many drugs of
different structures. This is how cross-resistance to different rosy periwinkle alkaloids, epipodophyllotoxins, taxanes and anthracyclines develops.

All rosy periwinkle alkaloids are neurotoxic, and vincristine has a characteristic cumulative effect. The first and most common symptoms are numbness and tingling in the limbs and loss of tendon reflexes, followed by muscle weakness. Sensitivity disorders usually do not require an immediate dose reduction, however, when motor impairment is observed, the drug must be discontinued in most cases.

Paclitaxel was isolated from the bark of Pacific yew (*Taxus brevifolia*). Paclitaxel attracted attention due to its capacity to induce microtubules assembly at low temperature and in the absence of GTP. The product binds with P-tubulin and impede disassembly of microtubules because of which microtubule bundles and their conglomerates of a quaint shape accumulate in the cell, and the cell cycle stops in mitosis. The cytotoxicity of paclitaxel depends on its concentration and duration of action [89].

Paclitaxel cytotoxicity depends on its concentration and action duration. Its effect is diminished by the products that block the cell cycle in the S phase and impede mitosis onset. The search for optimal combinations of paclitaxel with other antitumor drugs including doxorubicin and cisplatin is in progress. It has been noticed that administration of paclitaxel after cisplatin slows down the elimination of paclitaxel and enhances toxicity compared with the inverse order of administration.

It has been shown that resistance to paclitaxel of some lines of tumor cells is associated with amplified expression of the ABCBI gene that encodes P-glycoproteid and with the mutations of the P-tubulin gene, such mutations being able to enhance sensitivity to alkaloids of rosy periwinkle. The clinical significance of these findings is unclear. Palitaxel causes apoptosis but its activity against test tumors does not require the presence of a normal protein p53.

Podophyllotoxin isolated from *Podophyllum* peltatum was used by North American Indians and the first colonists as a vomitive, purgative and anthelmintic drug. Two semisynthetic podophyllotoxin glycosides, etoposide and teniposide are active for a number of malignant neoplasms, including leukmia in children, lymphogranulomatosis, large-cell lymphomas, testicle tumors and small cell lung cancer [90].

Etoposide and teniposide are close in the action mechanism and the range of antitumor activity. In contrast to podophyllotoxin, they do not block mitosis, but form a triple complex with DNA topoisomerase II and DNA. In this case, the enzyme cuts both DNA strands, however the unwinding of the DNA supercoil followed by elimination of disruption do not proceed. The enzyme remains bound to the free DNA end, therefore DNA breaks accumulate in the cell

37

resulting in its death. Epipodophyllotoxins are most active in the S and G2 phases. The reasons for the resistance to these products are as follows: amplification of the ABCB1 gene that encodes P-glycoproteid, mutations or activity decline of DNA-topoisomerase II, as well as mutations of the TP53 gene required for apoptosis [91].

Enzymes. It was shown in 1953 that guinea pig serum causes regression of lymphomas in test animals, which is associated with the presence of asparaginase in it (Kidd, 1953). Fifteen years later, this enzyme found application as an antitumor product, the action of which is based on the differences in the metabolism of tumor and normal cells (Broome, 1981).

Normal cells usually develop asparagine in the amount sufficient for protein synthesis, but many tumor cells, especially in acute lymphocytic leukemia, are in need of exogenous asparagine. Hydrolyzing asparagine in the blood to aspartate and ammonium ions, asparaginase discontinues its supply into neoplastic cells, disrupts protein synthesis in them and causes their death. The combination of asparaginase, methotrexate, doxorubicin, vincistine and prednisone frequently used in acute lymphocytic leukemia. The order of the medicine administration is crucial: for example, administration of asparaginase after methotrexate enhances the effect, while the inverse order of administration reduces it. The fact is that asparagenase disturbs protein synthesis, whereupon interferes with the action of methotrexate, that is most active in the S phase. The cell death under the action of asparaginase occurs through apoptosis. The development of resistance is linked with the acquisition of the capacity to synthesize asparagine.

Escherichia coli produces two isoenzymes of asparaginase, but just one of them possesses antitumor activity. This isoenzyme in purified form is employed in clinical practice. Pegaspargase (an enzyme conjugated with polyethylene glycol) or asparagenase produced by *Erwinia chrysanthemi* are prescribed in case of allergy to the product isolated from *Escherichia coli* [92].

Hormonal products, their synthetic analogs, as well as antihormonal medicines are widely used in oncologic practice for hormone-dependent tumors. Ch.Huggins and col. first started to use hormones in the treatment of prostate cancer in 1941. Estrogens, gestagens (progestins), androgens and corticosteroids are used for hormonel therapy of malignant tumors. Synthetic products of chloditan capable to reduce the corticosteroid level and tamoxifen having an antiestrogenic action are employed of the antihormones.

Steroid hormones form complexes with protein molecules (receptors), bind to chromatin and disrupt the synthesis of nucleic acids of target cells (cells, sensitive to this hormone) and, in certain doses, inhibit proliferative processes in the mammary gland (androgens, estrogens), prostate gland (estrogen), blood-forming organs (corticosteroids), endometrium (gestagens). Antitumor antibiotics. Actinomycins are chromopeptides; they usually contain the same chromophore – actinocine (a flat derivative of phenoxazone) giving them an orange-red color. Naturally-occurring actinomycins are distinguished by the structure of the amino acids included in peptide chains. Addition of different amino acids into nutrient medium can alter the type of actinomycin and its biological activity (Crooke, 1983). The actinomycin cytotoxicity is conditioned by the capacity to bind to the double helix of DNA. The crystallographic study of its complex with deoxyguanosine made it possible to explain the dactinomycin action. A flat phenoxasone nucleus interposes between the neighboring pairs of guanine – cytosine and cytosine – guanine, while peptide chains are settled in small DNA grooves. This results in the formation of a very stable complex of the product with DNA, which blocks primarily transcription. RNA-polymerases are significantly more sensitive to dactinomycin than DNA-polymerases. Besides, dactinomycin causes single-stranded DNA breaks, which may be connected with the formation of free radicals or the inhibition of DNA-topoisomerases [93, 94].

Dactinomycin acts on rapidly dividing normal and tumor cells; this is one of the most powerful antitumor drugs. In test animals, it leads to atrophy of thymus, spleen and other lymphoid organs. Dactinomycin causes alopecia. Contact with tissues leads to a pronounced inflammatory reaction. Sometimes erythema and even necrosis may develop on the skin areas irradiated before, during or after treatment with dactinomycin.

Anthracyclines and their derivatives belong to the most powerful antitumor drugs. Daunorubicin and doxorubicin are isolated from *Streptomyces peucetius caesius* cultures, idarubicin is produced synthetically. These products don't differ significantly n the structure, but daunorubicin and idarubicin are mostly administered for acute leukemia, while the activity range of doxorubicin is broader and includes many solid tumors. A significant drawback of anthracyclines is their cardiotoxicity, resulting in the development of dilatation cardiomyopathy that is frequently irreversible [3, 95, 96]. This atypical for antitumor drugs side effect depends on the total dose of the drug. Hundreds of anthracyclines and close for the structure substances have been synthesized in search for more active and less cardiotoxic drugs. Some of them have been clinically employed: idarubicin for leukemia, epirubicin for solid tumor, mitoxantrone for prostate cancer, leukemia and high-dose chemotherapy [97, 98].

Anthracyclines contain a tetracyclic core and daunosamine monosaccharide connected to the nucleus through a glycosidic bond. Due to the conjugated quinone and hydroquinone rings, it is easily oxidized and reduced. Doxorubicin and daunorubicin vary strongly in the activity range, but their formulas differ only by one hydroxy group at the C-14 atom.

Anthracyclines and their analogues wedge into the DNA molecule causing disruption of replication and transcription, single and double stranded DNA breaks, sister chromatid exchanges, having thereby a mutagenic and carcinogenic action on the cell. DNA breaks occur at the expense of binding of antitumor drugs to a complex consisting of DNA-topoisomerase II and DNA, which prevents the elimination of DNA breaks formed by the enzyme. Due to quinone groups, anthracyclines form free radicals in solution, as well as in normal and tumor cells. In the presence of NADPH they are reduced by NADPH-oxidase into unstable semiquinones which rapidly react with oxygen to produce superoxide radicals. The latter can transform into hydrogen peroxide and hydroxyl radicals, which oxidize the nitrogenous bases of DNA. The production of free radicals is significantly accelerated by the interaction of doxorubicin with iron ions. Besides, intramolecular transfer of electrons in semiguinone radicals contributes to formation of lipid peroxides, nitric oxide and other highly reactive compounds. Enzymes, in particular superoxide dismutase and catalase, play an important role in protecting cells from the toxic effects of anthracyclines. The action of these enzymes is enhanced by exogenous antioxidants (a-coferol) and the iron-binding substances, for example, dexrasoxane, a product that diminishes cardiotoxicity of anthracyclines. Finally, anthracyclines react with the cell membrane, disrupting its function at the expense of the formation of lipid peroxides, this mechanism may be important for both antitumor activity and cardiotoxicity of these drugs [99].

Anthracyclines initiate apoptosis through activation of the p53 protein and caspas (intracellular proteases); ceramide (a breakdown product of sfingolipids) and CD95 receptor (Fas protein) are also involved in this process.

As mentioned before, under the action of anthracyclines tumor cells may acquire multiresistance. It is caused by the amplification of the ABCB1 gene, which encodes P-glycoproteid removing these and other antitumor drugs from the cell. Anthracylines are also removed from the cell by carrier protein of the MRP family. Additional resistance mechanisms include enhancement of glutathione peroxidase activity and decrease in the DNA-topoisomerase II activity [100].

Daunorubicin is quite effective in the cases of acute lymphopaecosis and myeloid leukemia. The combination of daunorubicin or idarubicin with cytarabine is the principle chemotherapy regimen for scheme acute myeloid leukemia. Daunorubicin and adarubiin cause inhibition of blood formation, stomatitis, alopecia, lesion of gastrointestinal tract and skin. A particular side effect of these drugs is myocardial damage accompanied by the development of tachycardia, arrhythmia, dyspnea, arterial hypotension, pericardial effusion and cardiac insufficiency resistant to digoxin.

40

Doxorubicin is indicated for lymphomas and acute leukemia, but, in contrast to doxorubicin it is also active against solid tumors, primarily, breast cancer. In combination with cyclophosphamide, vincristine, procarbosine and other drugs, it contributes to healing of lymphogranulomatosis and lymphoma. Doxorubicin is an important component in the chemotherapy regimens for breast cancer and small cell lung cancer. This drug is active in sarcomas, as well as cancer of the body and cervix, prostate cancer, tumors of the head and neck, tumors of the testis and myeloma [101, 102, 103].

Bleomycins are a group of antibiotics damaging DNA. Umezawa and col. first isolated them from the Streptomycesverticillus culture. Bleomycin contains a mixture of bleomycins A2 and B2, which are copper binding glycopeptides. Bleomycins differ only in the structure of end carboxamide, which can be modified through supplementing the nutrient medium with different amines.

Bleomycins attracted interest for their high activity in squamous cell carcinoma of the lung, cervical cancer, head and neck tumors, as well as lymphomas and testicular tumors. These drugs have a slight inhibitory action on blood formation and immune system, but cause unusual lesions to skin and lungs. Since bleomycins differ from other antitumor drugs in terms of toxicity and mechanism of action, they play an important role in polychemotherapy.

Bleomycins are water-soluble major glycopeptides containing a pyrimidine nucleus coupled with propionamide, p-aminoalaninamide, L-glucose, and 3-O-carbamoyl-O-mannose. This structure binds metal ions in a qui-molar ratio. A tripeptide chain, two thiazole rings and a substituted carboxamide (a DNA binding fragment) are sequentially attached to the nucleus [104].

Bleomycin has a number of interesting biochemical properties, but its cytotoxic effect is associated with the oxidation of deoxyribose of cTMP and other nucleotides with the formation of single and double-stranded DNA breaks. *In vitro*, bleomycin causes cell retention in the G2 phase, and chromosomal aberrations including breaks, deletions, fragmentation, and translocations occur in many of them. Activation of bleomycin can also occur with the participation of the flavoproteid NADPH oxidase. Another part of the bleomycin molecule binds to DNA; thus, the resulting free radicals oxidize deoxyribose, breaking DNA chains. The main side effect of bleomycin is lung damage, including life-threatening pneumosclerosis [105].

In 1958, Wakaki et al. isolated mitomycin (mitomycin C) from Streptomyces caespitosus culture. Mitomycin is activated in the cell through enzymatic or spontaneous reduction of the quinone ring and the cleavage of the methoxy group and becomes a mono-or bifunctional alkylating agent. *In vitro*, recovery was observed mainly under conditions of hypoxia.

Mitomycin forms DNA cross-links between the N-6 adenine atom and 0-6 or N-7 guanine atoms, disrupts replication, and causes single and double-stranded DNA breaks. It has a strong radiosensitizing effect, and in rodents it has a teratogenic and carcinogenic effect. Stability mechanisms include impaired activation, inactivation of the reduced quinone ring and excretion from the cell by the action of a P-glycoproteid [106, 107].

Various combinations of mitomycin with fluorouracil, cisplatin and doxorubicin are employed for cancer of the cervix, stomach, colon, breast, bladder, lung, and head and neck tumors [108].

1.5.2. Synthetic antitumor drugs, their mechanism of action

Alkylating agents are substances the molecule of which contain chloroethylamine, ethyleneimine, epoxy groups or methanesulfonic acid residues, and constitute the most extensive group of antitumor agents. Currently, five main subclasses of alkylating agents are used: (1) chloroethylamines, (2) ethylenimines, (3) alkyl sulfonates, (4) nitrosourea derivatives and (5) triazenes.

All alkylating agents have strong electrophilic groups which, through the formation of carbcations or transition complexes, interact with nucleophilic groups to form a covalent bond. The cytotoxic effect of these drugs is directly related to DNA alkylation. Nitrogen base atoms (especially *N*-7 guanine, *N*-1 and *N*-3 adenine, *N*-3 cytosine and 0-6 guanine) are alkylated, as well as phosphate groups of DNA, amino groups and sulfhydryl groups of proteins [109].

The main pharmacological effect of alkylating agents is a disturbance of DNA replication and cell division. The ability of these drugs to damage DNA in rapidly dividing cells explains both their antitumor effects and many side effects. Tissues with a high proliferative index are primarily affected, but some drugs damage those tissues where this index is small (liver, kidneys), as well as mature lymphocytes. Although resting cells are also alkylated, cytotoxicity increases dramatically if DNA is damaged during the preparation of the cell for division. If the reparation systems manage to repair DNA damage before division begins, then cell death does not occur.

Unlike many other antitumor drugs, alkylating agents act on cells in all phases of the cell cycle. Nevertheless, this action is usually manifested when the cell enters the S phase - the cell cycle stops. In a synchronized cell culture, it can be found that cells are slightly more sensitive to chloroethylamines at the end of the G1 phase and in the S phase than in mitosis, in the G2 phase and at the beginning of the G1 phase. The fact is that unpaired nucleotides are more susceptible

to alkylation than nucleotides in helical DNA, and DNA strands in individual regions are unlaced during replication.

The mechanism of cell death during DNA alkylation has not been studied in detail. It was shown that in normal cells of the bone marrow and gastrointestinal mucosa, DNA damage causes the cell cycle to stop at the boundary of the G1 and S phases, after which DNA repair occurs or, if the DNA is damaged too much, apoptosis develops. The p53 protein controls these processes, and with mutation or deletion of the TP53 gene, tumor cells avoid apoptosis and continue to proliferate (Fisher, 1994).

Although DNA is the primary target of all alkylating agents, it should be mentioned that there are important differences between bifunctional and monofunctional drugs. The former develop cross-links of DNA chains and have mainly a cytotoxic effect, while the latter (procarbazine, temozolomide) methylate DNA and, along with cytotoxicity, exhibit pronounced mutagenicity and carcinogenicity. Obviously, crosslinking of DNA chains is more detrimental to a cell than methylation of individual purine bases with their subsequent cleavage and breaking of the DNA chain. Methylation is compatible with cell life, but it is fraught with mutations that, transmitted to daughter cells, can cause malignant degeneration [110].

Most cells are capable of DNA repair; apparently, repair plays an important role in the low sensitivity of dormant cells to alkylating agents, in the selectivity of the action of these agents on various types of cells, and in the development of resistance. Alkylation of one DNA strand is usually eliminated quite easily, but chain crosslinking, which occurs, for example, under the action of chloroethylamines, requires more complex repair systems. Against the background of low doses of these drugs, the cell can eliminate some of the cross-links, but with an increase in the dose, their number increases dramatically, causing DNA breakdown. Repair enzymes were found(Matijasevic et al., 1993), that cleave alkyl groups from the 0-6 guanine atom (methylguanine DNA methyltransferase), the N-3 adenine and N-7 atoms of guanine (3-methyladenine DNA glycosylase). The high activity of methylguanine DNA methyltransferase provides the cell with resistance to nitrosourea derivatives and triazenes (Pegg, 1990).

Antimetabolites compete with metabolites and lead to disruption of the activity of tumor cells. Methotrexate - an antagonist of folic acid, which is its chemical analogue; mercaptopurine - an analogue of purine; fluorouracil, fluoroafur and cytarabine, that are pyrimidine analogues present the greatest interest [111].

Methotrexate forms a strong complex with dihydrofolate reductase and thereby blocks the recovery of dihydrofolic acid into its tetrahydroform and its further conversion to formide tetrafolic acid (leucovorin, citrovorum factor) and other metabolically active derivatives of folic

acid involved in the synthesis of purines, methine, thymine, thymine histidine. Previously used aminopterin also belongs to antifolium products. Methotrexate, therefore, inhibits the synthesis of DNA, RNA, thymidylates, and proteins [112, 113, 114]. Previously used aminopterin also belongs to antifolium products. A specific feature of the antitumor effect of other antimetabolites, which are analogues of purines and pyrimidines, is that they turn into abnormal biologically active nucleotides, leading to metabolic disorders.

Mercaptopurine inhibits purine nucleotide synthesis and metabolism by inhibiting an enzyme called phosphoribosyl pyrophosphate amidotransferase. Since this enzyme is the rate limiting factor for purine synthesis, this alters the synthesis and function of RNA and DNA. Mercaptopurine interferes with nucleotide interconversion and glycoprotein synthesis [115, 116].

Fluorouracil inhibits the process of cell division by blocking the synthesis of DNA and the formation of structurally incompatible RNA [117].

One of the mechanisms of action of cytarabine is its incorporation into DNA during its synthesis, which leads to disruption of this process and to cell death. In addition, cytarabine inhibits the activity of the DNA-polymerase, which inhibits DNA replication [118].

1.5.3. Other synthetic anticancer drugs

Hydroxyurea was synthesized by Dresler and Stein in 1869, but its biological activity was discovered only in 1928, when hydroxyurea turned out to cause leukopenia and megaloblastic anemia in experimental animals. In the 1950s its activity against various tumors of mice, including leukemia and solid tumors was discovered; clinical trials started in the 1960s.

Hydroxyurea belongs to ribonucleoside diphosphate reductase inhibitors. A clear relationship was found between the activity of this enzyme and the growth rate of liver cancer in rats. Ribonucleoside diphosphate reductase is a good target for anticancer drugs, as it catalyzes the reduction of ribonucleotides to deoxyribonucleotides - a limiting reaction in DNA replication. Hydroxyurea inactivates the tyrosine free radical formed in the active center of the enzyme. It acts in the S phase, when the enzyme activity is maximum, and causes the cell cycle to stop at the border of the G1 and S phases. Since the cells in the G1 phase are highly sensitive to radiation, the drug has a radiosensitizing effect. Hydroxyurea can also enhance the effect of DNA damaging drugs: cisplatin, alkylating agents, DNA topoisomerase II inhibitors. But, it is more interesting the increased effect of antimetabolites, especially nucleoside analogues, since a decrease in the supply of deoxyribonucleotides under the influence of hydroxyurea promotes the inclusion of cytarabine, gemcitabine and fludarabine in the DNA. This interaction is also

44

important for antiretroviral therapy: inhibition of ribonucleoside diphosphate reductase in the host cell facilitates the incorporation of nucleoside reverse transcriptase inhibitors into the viral DNA. It was shown, that hydroxyurea is converted *in vivo* into nitric oxide, thereby enhancing the expression of genes encoding TNF- α , IL-6, p-chain globin and other proteins, as well as accelerating the destruction of double microchromosomes containing numerous copies of genes. However, the clinical significance of these observations is not clear [119, 120].

The main mechanism of resistance to hydroxyurea is an increase in the activity of ribonucleoside diphosphate reductase, for example, due to amplification of the gene encoding it or to enhanced translation. In addition, resistance can be caused by synthesis of an enzyme with reduced affinity for hydroxyurea [121].

The main side effect is inhibition of blood formation (leukopenia, megaloblastic anemia, rarely thrombocytopenia); when the drug is cancelled for several days, these phenomena quickly disappear. Gastrointestinal disorders and mild skin reactions are also possible, stomatitis, alopecia, and neurological disorders are less common.

Platinum compounds. In 1965, Rosenberg and co-workers discovered the cytotoxic effect of platinum complex compounds, showing that the current passed between platinum electrodes immersed in a nutrient medium disrupts the proliferation of Escherichia coli. It soon became clear that this was due to the formation of inorganic compounds of platinum in the presence of chlorine and ammonium ions. The most active of these compounds was cisplatin (*cis*-diamindichloroplatin), which has found a wide clinical application (Rosenberg, 1973). Subsequently, more than 100 different platinum preparations were obtained. One of them, carboplatin was approved by the FDA in 1989 for the treatment of ovarian cancer, while other drugs are being tested. The range of cisplatin activity is very wide, its effect on epithelial tumors being of particular value. It serves as the basis for chemotherapy regimens that can treat testicular tumors; the drug showed high activity in cancer of the ovaries, bladder, esophagus, lungs, as well as tumors of the head and neck.

Cisplatin is a water-soluble inorganic compound of divalent platinum. Clinical trials of other platinum preparations are being carried out, namely tetraplatin, ormiplatin, iproplatin, oxaliplatin; cisplatin-resistant tumors remain sensitive to some of them. Complex compounds of divalent or tetravalent platinum with various organic radicals are more stable and less nephrotoxic than cisplatin, but they have not yet shown a high antitumor activity. In the carboplatin molecule, platinum is also bound to a complex organic radical [122].

The chlorine atoms contained in cisplatin are easily replaced by nucleophiles, for example, thiols or water. In the latter case, the molecule acquires a positive charge, due to which,

45

apparently, the drug is activated, which then reacts with nucleic acids and proteins. Hydrolysis is promoted by a low concentration of chlorine ions. Otherwise, cisplatin stabilizes, so the creation of a high concentration of chlorine ions in the urine prevents the toxic effect of the drug on the kidneys. Carboplatin hydrolysis is slower than that of cisplatin, while the dibasic butane dicarboxylic acid is cleaved off. Reacting with DNA, primarily with the N-7 atom of guanine, platinum products form cross-links in the same DNA chain between neighboring guanines or between guanine and adenine. Crosslinking between chains occurs slower and in smaller quantities. By binding to DNA, cisplatin disrupts replication and transcription, and also causes mutations and chain breaks. Although a clear relationship between the binding of platinum products to DNA and their activity has not been established, the antitumor effect seems to depend on the ability of cells to form and accumulate platinum complexes with DNA. A quantitative assessment of the cytotoxic effect of these complexes is difficult to make, since it is not easy to determine the role of genetic characteristics and environmental factors acting on normal and tumor cells, and in addition, the role of other antitumor drugs, usually prescribed together with platinum preparations. However, according to experimental studies, crosslinking between guanine and adenine is crucial for cytotoxicity [5].

The activity of cisplatin in different phases of the cell cycle depends on the type of cells, however, crosslinking of DNA chains is manifested primarily in the S phase. Cisplatin possesses a mutagenic, carcinogenic and teratogenic effect. Cases of secondary leukemia are described in particular, treatment of ovarian cancer with cisplatin or carboplatin increases the risk of leukemia by four times.

Cisplatin-resistant test tumors may remain sensitive to its analogues. Resistance to cisplatin and carboplatin is usually cross, but at the same time, sensitivity to oxaliplatin and derivatives of tetravalent platinum remains, which attracts interest to these drugs. Sensitivity to cisplatin is affected by a number of factors - the accumulation of the drug in the tumor cells, the intracellular concentration of glutathione and other thiols, for example metallothionein, which bind and inactivate the drug, as well as the rate of DNA repair. Binding to cisplatin causes the DNA helix to bend, which is recognized by special proteins with highly mobile domains; they are believed to inhibit repair. The complex of cisplatin with DNA is eliminated in the process of excision repair of nucleotides. The repair enzymes recognize the altered nucleotide, remove the damaged fragment of the chain around it and restore the integrity of the DNA chain. Inhibition of excision repair may increase sensitivity to cisplatin.

Obviously, cisplatin resistance is also associated with the repair system of unpaired DNA nucleotides. Proteins entering this system, especially MLH1 and MSH6, probably play an

important role in recognizing platinum-linked nucleotides and triggering apoptosis. Deficiency of these proteins causes resistance to cisplatin *in vitro*. Recognition by the MLH1 protein of the cisplatin DNA complex enhances the synthesis of p73 protein (p53 analog) and AY1 tyrosine kinase, which ultimately leads to apoptosis. With a deficiency of proteins involved in the repair of unpaired nucleotides, or with inability to activate tyrosine kinase A1, cells do not undergo apoptosis under the action of cisplatin.

Obviously, cisplatin resistance is also associated with the repair system of unpaired DNA nucleotides. Proteins entering this system, especially MLH1 and MSH6, probably play an important role in recognizing platinum-linked nucleotides and triggering apoptosis. Deficiency of these proteins causes resistance to cisplatininvitro. Recognition by the MLH1 protein of the cisplatin DNA complex enhances the synthesis of p73 protein (p53 analog) and AY1 tyrosine kinase, which ultimately leads to apoptosis. With a deficiency of proteins involved in the repair of unpaired nucleotides, or with inability to activate tyrosine kinase A1, cells do not undergo apoptosis under the action of cisplatin [123].

Ultrastructural analysis of platinum-based antineoplastic medication showed that cisplatin treated renal tubular cells of mouse kidney, which demonstrates disruption of cristae, and extensive mitochondrial swelling, supporting the involvement of mitochondria in cisplatin induced nephrotoxicity [124, 6]. Moreover, cisplatin considerably impairs kidney mitochondrial bioenergetic functions. Cisplatin inhibits complexes I to IV and decreases intracellular ATP in proximal tubular cells [5, 125].

Thus, cisplatin demonstrates multifactorial resistance and high toxicity for normal cells, which limits its broad application in medical practice. Therefore, it is crucial to develop new transition metal ion-based compounds as potential anti-cancer drugs with low toxicity for non-cancer mammalian cells [126].

Copper thiosemicarbazone complexes. Since copper is biocompatible and displays many important roles in biological systems, its complexes are considered to be promising alternatives as anticancer drugs to platinum ones among the many bio-essential metals. Also, copper promotes the altered metabolism in cancer cells and differential response between normal and tumor ones. The concentration of copper has been demonstrated to be higher in cancerous tissues in comparison with that in normal tissue, and the sequestration of copper may prevent the appearance of new blood vessels [127].

It is known from literature that copper possesses pro-angiogenic properties and it has been found that copper salts and copper extracted from tumors caused migration of endothelial cells, an early step of angiogenesis. It is noteworthy that introducing copper to the cornea of rabbits induced the devlopment of new blood vessels and copper contributed to increased proliferation of human endothelial cells in the absence of serum and growth factors. On the contrary, copper had little effect on the proliferation of both arterial smooth muscle cells and fibroblasts in humans [128]. Moreover, zinc or iron employed at the same concentration as copper diminished endothelial cell growth [7]. No doubt, the findings have demonstrated that copper is a powerful inducer of the angiogenic process [129].

High copper concentrations in serum are linked with various types of cancers including reticulum cell sarcoma, bronchogenic and laryngeal squamous cell carcinomas, lymphoma, breast, cervical, lung and stomach cancers. Startlingly, increased copper amounts in serum correlated with the phase of the disease and its progression in breast and colorectal cancers. Serum copper levels were clearly linked to drug resistance in patients with advanced breast, lung or colon cancer and in the ones who were administered various chemotherapeutics (e.g. doxorubicin, etoposide or 5-fluorouracil) as single agents or in combination. Non-responders had by about 130–160% more copper in their serum [130, 131]. The observations led to the hypothesis that the copper level in serum may be considered a biomarker of cancer recurrence and may be measured to monitor treatment efficacy. Noteworthy, the levels of iron, zinc and selenium are frequently lower in the serum of cancer patients in contrast to copper. Copper is a redox active metal that may increase the ROS production, which afterwards can damage most biomolecules [132].

The molecular pathways through which copper acts to induce a pro-angiogenic response vary. Copper can directly bind to angiogenin and the angiogenic growth factor, as well as can increase its affinity for endothelial cells [133, 134]. Copper can also regulate the secretion of such angiogenic molecules as FGF and IL-1a. FGF-1 and IL-1a are secreted only after copper-dependent development of a multi-protein complex. The signal sequence for endoplasmic reticulum (ER)-Golgi mediated secretion is absent in FGF-1 and IL-1a. For example, copper deficit inhibits the activity of the nuclear factor kappa-light-chain-enhancer of activated B cells (NF-kB), which in turn lowers expression of five pro-angiogenic mediators (VEGF, bFGF, IL-1a, IL-6 and IL-8) [8]. Copper is also transported into the cells nuclei by the copper chaperone CCS, where it can regulate development of the hypoxia-inducible factor 1 (HIF-1) transcriptional complex and thereby regulate expression of VEGF, a powerful angiogenic factor [135, 136]. Likewise, ATOX1 can enter the cell nuclei as a copper-dependent transcription factor. It has been shown to regulate platelet-derived growth factor (PDGF) signaling and, hence, potentially malignant angiogenesis and vascular remodeling [137, 138].

Indeed, studies have demonstrated that copper chelation can impede cancer growth and progression, which is compelling evidence that copper is crucial for malignant angiogenesis. An obvious role that copper plays in metastasis consists in regulating angiogenesis, which is a basic process necessary for metastatic potential. However, there is growing evidence that copper has also a direct influence on the capacity of tumor cells to invade and metastasize.

Due to their high antitumor activity and advantages relative to other metal anticancer products, copper-based complexes have been extensively synthesized and investigated as anticancer agents up to the present. As mentioned before, platinum-based anticancer drugs play a major role in the treatment of various malignant tumors, however, their wide range of clinical applications has been limited because of severe side effects such as neurotoxicity, nephrotoxicity, and drug resistance. This has stimulated extensive studies and forced chemists to search for alternative approaches to using endogenous metals with the aim of improving the pharmacological properties. Because copper is biocompatible and exhibits many significant roles in biological systems among many bio-essential metals, its complexes are believed to be promising alternatives to platinum ones as anticancer drugs. Besides, copper is associated with differential response between normal and tumor cells and altered metabolism of cancer cells. Hence, cancer cells can be chosen as a suitable, selective target for copper-based agents. It has been reported recently that a large number of synthetic copper(II) complexes of thiosemicarbazones ligands act as pharmacological agents and as potential anticancer and cancer-inhibiting agents, and they turned out to be active both in vitro and in vivo [139, 140, 141].

Thiosemicarbazone is a class of organic compounds that possesses a broad range of biological activities and medical properties. Thiosemicarbazones can form coordination compounds with transition metal ions since they contain a wide spectrum of donor atoms [142]. Thiosemicarbazones are produced through a condensation reaction of thiosemicarbazide and aldehydesor ketones. Pharmacological studies have shown that thiosemicarbazones are characterized by various biological activities. Thiosemicarbazones contain nitrogen and sulphur atoms with powerful coordination capacity, and are able to form various complexes with new structures [143]. Metal complexes are produced from thiosemicarbazone ligands and exhibit high anticancer activity [144, 145]. Nowadays, thiosemicarbazone complexes may provide reactive oxygen species and act against topoisomerase II, DNA, and other potential targets in the nucleus [146]. Therefore, the copper thiosemicarbazone complex is a promising candidate for creating ideal non-platinum and multi-target antitumor drugs.

1.6. Conclusions to chapter 1

1. Since cancer represents one of the most serious health problems and major causes of death around the world, the development of novel efficient and safe products has become a hotspot in the chemotherapy of tumor diseases.

2. Despite the significant progress made in the anticancer therapy, high systemic toxicity and drug resistance remain a major challenge for modern medicine in the management of cancer. Chemotherapy can produce severe side effects caused by its cytotoxic effect on normal cells, and this limits its use.

3. It is known that a wide variety of genes are involved in the development of tumors and many cell processes are deregulated, including mechanisms for controlling cell proliferation, DNA repair, chromosome stability, cell-cell interactions, cell-matrix interactions, angiogenesis, cell aging and apoptosis.

4. Doxorubicin causes toxic damage to the mitochondria of cardiomyocytes contributing to enhanced oxidative stress.

5. Platinum-based anticancer drugs play a leading role in the treatment of various malignant tumors, but severe side effects such as nephrotoxicity, neurotoxicity, and drug resistance have limited their wide range of clinical applications.

6. Among the many bio-essential metals, copper complexes are regarded as promising alternatives to platinum complexes as anticancer drugs because copper is biocompatible and exhibits many significant roles in biological systems.

50

2. CHARACTERISTICS OF THE OBJECTS OF STUDY AND RESEARCH

METHODS

The study of this work was implemented over the period 2013-2020 in the Research Laboratory of Advanced Materials in Biopharmaceutics and Technics of the Moldova State University, Research Biochemical Laboratory of the *Nicolae Testemitanu* State University of Medicine and Pharmacy, Institute of Zoology and Medical Research Center of the Polish Academy of Sciences.

2.1. Characterization of the tested compounds

In this work anticancer activity of tiosemicarbazones and Cu(II) coordination compounds with tiosemicarbazones is described. The 2-formylpyridine N(4)-phenylthiosemicarbazone (Nphenyl-2-(pyridin-2-ylmethylidene)hydrazinecarbothioamide, CMT-22, HL), complex copper(II) [Cu(L)Cl]with **CMT-22** (chloro(N-phenyl-N'-[(pyridin-2ligand yl)methylidene]carbamohydrazonothioato copper, CMT-67), mixed-ligand copper (II) complex [Cu(Str)(L)Cl] with CMT-22 and 4-aminobenzenesulfonamide (Str) ligands (chloro(N-phenyl-*N*-[(pyridin-2-yl)methylidene]carbamohydrazonothioato) (4-aminobenzene-1sulfonamide)copper, CMT-68) [147], as well as coded organic compound CMJ-23 and copper(II) complex CMJ-33 with ligand CMJ-23 were synthesized in Research Laboratory of Advanced Materials in Biopharmaceutics and Technics of the Moldova State University by acad. A. Gulea et al. Since compounds CMJ-23 and CMJ-33 are not patented, their structural formula is not disclosed.

The thiosemicarbazone CMT-22 (Figure 2.1. A), and copper (II) complex CMT-67 (Figure 2.1. B), were synthesized as described in the literature [148].

The thiosemicarbazone CMT-22 was characterized by NMR (¹H and ¹³C) spectroscopy. The complex CMT-67 was characterized by electronic, FT-IR and EPR spectroscopy, molar conductivity, magnetic susceptibility measurements and elemental analysis. Also, the crystal structure of CMT-67 was determined by single-crystal X-ray diffraction analysis. Melting points, IR, and NMR spectra of the tested compounds correspond to the literature data [148].

The copper (II) mixed-ligand complex CMT-68 (Figure 2.2.) was synthesized by reaction between 2-formylpyridine N (4)-phenylthiosemicarbazone (CMT-22) with CuCl₂·2H₂O and 4-aminobenzenesulfonamide (Str) [149, 150].

Biological activities of the tested compounds were compared with the Food and Drug Administration (FDA) approved reference anticancer compounds such as doxorubicin ((7*S*,9*S*)-7-[(2R,4*S*,5*S*,6*S*)-4-amino-5-hydroxy-6-methyloxan-2-yl]oxy-6,9,11-trihydroxy-9-(2-

hydroxyacetyl)-4-methoxy-8,10-dihydro-7*H*-tetracene-5,12-dione) [151], cicplatin (*cis*-dichlorodiammineplatinum) [5] and the used in biological or biochemical applications antioxidants such as trolox (6-Hydroxy-2,5,7,8-tetramethylchroman-2-carboxylic acid), rutin (2-(3,4-dihydroxyphenyl)-5,7-dihydroxy-3-[α -L-rhamnopyranosyl-(1 \rightarrow 6)- β -D-glucopyranosyloxy]-4*H*-chromen-4-one) (Figure 2.3. A, B, C, D).



Fig. 2.1. Structural formula of the 2-formylpyridine *N*(4)-phenylthiosemicarbazone (*N*-phenyl-2-(pyridin-2-ylmethylidene)hydrazinecarbothioamide, CMT-22, HL) (A) and copper(II) complex [Cu(L)Cl] (B).



Fig. 2.2. Structural formula of the mixed-ligand complex chloro(*N*-phenyl-*N*'-[(pyridin-2-yl)methylidene]carbamohydrazonothioato)(4-aminobenzene-1sulfonamide)copper.

The tested compounds and the reference controls were each dissolved in dimethylsulfoxide (DMSO) to create 10 mM stock solutions that were stored at a prescribed temperature of 7°C. The stock solutions were further diluted with cell culture medium or physiological saline solution to appropriate concentrations before use. The maximum final concentration of DMSO (<0.1%) did not affect cell proliferation and did not induce cytotoxicity on the tested cell lines.



С





Fig. 2.3. Structural formula of the reference compounds: A – doxorubicin; B – cicplatin; C – rutin; D – trolox

2.2. In vitro antiproliferative activity

Antiproliferative activity of the tested compounds against human melanoma cells of line MeW-164 was investigated in the Medical Research Center of the Polish Academy of Sciences using the MTT (3-(4,5-dimethylthiazolyl-2)-2, 5-diphenyltetrazolium bromide) assay and flow fluorescence cytometry method.

Investigation of the antiproliferative activity of the synthesized compounds in relation to HeLa (human cervix adenocarcinoma, ATCC CCL-2), BxPC-3 (human primary pancreatic adenocarcinoma, ATCC CRL-1687), RD (human rhabdomyosarcoma, ATCC CCL-136), MDCK (Madin Darby Canine Kidney epithelial normal cells, ATCC CCL-34) was carried out in the research Biochemical Laboratory of the *Nicolae Testemițanu* State University of Medicine and Pharmacy by resazurin assay.

Cells lines for experiments were taken after cryopreservation, in liquid nitrogen vapor phase at temperatures ranging from -180° C to -196° C in freeze medium: complete growth medium supplemented with 5% (v/v) DMSO. For the formation of a healthy monolayer on the substrate, cells were cultured for at least three weeks, passaged every 2-3 days, followed by trypsinization of adhesive cell clusters and replacement of growth media, inactivated fetal bovine serum was added as a growth factor. Cells in logarithmic growth phase were used for experiments. Viability of cells was assessed by dye 0.2% trypan blue ((3Z,3'Z)-3,3'-[(3,3'-dimethylbiphenyl-4,4'-diyl)di(1Z)hydrazin-2-yl-1-ylidene]bis(5-amino-4-oxo-3,4-dihydronaphthalene-2,7-disulfonic acid) Euroclone) (Figure 2.4).



Fig. 2.4. Structural formula of the trypan blue ((3Z,3'Z)-3,3'-[(3,3'dimethylbiphenyl-4,4'-diyl) di(1Z) hydrazin-2-yl-1-ylidene] bis (5-amino-4-oxo-3,4dihydronaphthalene-2,7-disulfonic acid)).

2.2.1. Cell culture

In order to study, human melanoma MEW-164 cell line, human cervical epithelial HeLa cell line, human epithelial pancreatic adenocarcinoma BxPC-3 cell line, human muscle rhabdomyosarcoma RD cell line and normal kidney epithelial MDCK cell line were used. All cells were tested in the middle log – phase of growth. The log – phase (sometimes called the logarithmic phase or the exponential phase) is a period characterized by cell doubling. Cells culture doubling continues at a constant rate so both the number of cells increase doubles with each consecutive time period. For this type of exponential growth, plotting the natural logarithm of cell number against time produces a straight line. The slope of this line is the specific growth rate of the cell, which is a measure of the number of divisions per cell per unit time. The actual rate of this growth depends upon the growth conditions, which affect the frequency of cell division events and the probability of both daughter cells surviving. Exponential growth cannot continue indefinitely, however, because the medium is soon depleted of nutrients and enriched with wastes.

Human melanoma cell line MeW-164 culture conditions.

Human melanoma cell line MeW-164, passage 8 was used (Figure 2.5). The line MeW-164 was derived from melanoma cell line collection established in culture from melanoma metastases, surgically removed from patients in the Warsaw Cancer Center [152].



Fig. 2.5. Monolayer culture of human melanoma MEW-164 cell line.

Human melanoma cells were grown in suspension in minimum essential medium (MEM) (Biomed-Lublin) 90% v/v containing L-glutamine and supplemented with foetal bovine serum (FBS) (Invitrogen) 10% v/v and penicillin/streptomycin 1% v/v in 75 cm² cell culture flasks (CellStar) and incubated at 37^{0} C in a 5% CO₂ humidified atmosphere, with fresh culture medium changes occurring every 2 to 3 days.

Human cervical epithelial cell lines HeLa (ATCC CCL-2) and HEp-2 (ATCC CCL-23) culture conditions.

The HeLa line is an immortal cell line used in scientific research. It is the oldest and most commonly used human cell line. The HeLa line was derived from cervical cancer cells taken on February 8, 1951 from Henrietta Lacks. HeLa cells have been reported to contain human papilloma virus 18 (HPV-18) sequences. P53 expression was reported to be low. Epithelioid cervix carcinoma cell line HeLa, passages 7-8 were used (Figure 2.6). Human epithelial cell line HEp-2 contain HeLa marker chromosomes, and were derived by HeLa contamination. This line was originally thought to be derived from an epidermoid carcinoma of the larynx, but was subsequently found, based on isoenzyme analysis, HeLa marker chromosomes, and DNA fingerprinting, to have been established via HeLa cell contamination. The cells are positive for keratin by immunoperoxidase staining.



Fig. 2.6. Monolayer culture of human cervical epithelial HeLa cell line.

The HeLa and HEp-2 cells were cultured as monolayer in Dulbecco's Modified Eagle Medium (DMEM) high glucose (Invitrogen) containing L-glutamine, bovine albumin fraction (V 7.5%) 0.2% v/v (Invitrogen), buffer (*N*-2 hydroxyethylpiperazine-*N*'-2-ethane sulfonic acid) (HEPES) 20mM (Invitrogen), antibiotics penicillin-streptomycin (final concentration penicillin 100 U/mL and streptomycin sulfate100 μ g/mL) (Invitrogen) and supplemented with FBS-

irradiated 10% v/v (Cambrex) in 75 cm² falcon culture flasks (CellStar) and incubated in 5% carbon dioxide (CO₂), 78% air in humidified atmosphere at 37^{0} C. The culture medium was changed every 2-3 days.

The cell layer was briefly rinsed with trypsin 0.25% w/v and ethylenediaminetetraacetic acid (EDTA) 0.53 mM solution to remove all traces of serum which contains trypsin inhibitor. After that, 2.0 mL of trypsin-EDTA solution was added to the flask and the cells were observed under an inverted microscope until cell layer was dispersed usually within 5 to 15 min. In order to avoid the formation of cell aggregates, 8.0 mL of complete growth medium Dulbecco's Modified Eagle Medium (DMEM) and aspirate cells were added by gently pipetting, and appropriate aliquots of the cell suspension was added to new falcon culture flasks. Viability of cells was assessed by dye exclusion assay with trypan blue (Euroclone) 0.2%.

Human epithelial pancreatic adenocarcinoma cell line BxPC-3 (ATCC CRL-1687) culture conditions.

The BxPC-3 line is a human pancreatic cancer cell line used in the study of pancreatic adenocarcinomas and treatments thereof. BxPC-3 cells were derived from a 61-year-old female. The cells produce mucin, and exhibit an epithelial morphology. Human epithelial pancreatic adenocarcinoma cell of line BxPC-3, passage 8 was used (Figure 2.7).



Fig. 2.7. Monolayer culture of human epithelial pancreatic adenocarcinoma BxPC-3 cell line.

Cell line BxPC-3 was cultured as monolayer in Roswell Park Memorial Institute (RPMI) 1640 medium (ATCC), supplemented with fetal bovine serum (ATCC) 10% v/v and

antibiotics penicillin-streptomycin (final concentration penicillin 100 U/mL and streptomycin sulfate100 μ g/mL). Cells were grown in 75-cm² cell culture flasks (Thermo Scientific) at 37°C and 5% CO₂, with fresh culture medium changes occurring every 2 to 3 days.

The cell layer was briefly rinsed with Trypsin 0.25% w/v and EDTA 0.53 mM solution to remove all traces of serum which contains trypsin inhibitor. Then, 2.0 mL of trypsin-EDTA solution was added to the flask and the cells were observed under an inverted microscope until cell layer is dispersed (usually within 3 to 5 min). In order to avoid the formation of cell aggregates, 8.0 mL of complete growth medium RPMI-1640 and aspirate cells were added by gently pipetting, and appropriate aliquots of the cell suspension were added to new cell culture flasks. Viability of cells was assessed by dye exclusion assay with trypan blue 0.2% (Euroclone).

Human muscle rhabdomyosarcoma cell line RD (ATCC CCL-136) culture conditions.

The RD (rhabdomyosarcoma) cells were derived directly from biopsy specimens of a 7year-old female with a pelvic rhabdomyosarcoma stages (RMS) previously treated with cyclophosphamide and radiation and found to have refractory disease.



Fig. 2.8. Monolayer culture of human muscle rhabdomyosarcoma RD cell line.

Human muscle rhabdomyosarcoma spindle and large multinucleated cell line RD, passage 8 was used (Figure 2.8). Cells were cultured and grown in the Dulbecco's Modified Essential Medium (Invitrogen) with 4 mM L-glutamine, glucose 4.5 g/L, bovine albumin fraction 0.2% v/v, HEPES buffer 20 mM, antibiotics penicillin-streptomycin (final concentration

penicillin 100 U/mL and streptomycin sulfate 100 μ g/mL) and supplemented with heatinactivated FBS 10% v/v. Cells were maintained at 37°C in a humidified 5% CO₂ atmosphere in the incubator in 25-cm² cell culture flasks (culture dishes). The culture medium was changed every 3 days.

The cell layer was briefly rinsed with trypsin 0.25% w/v and EDTA 0.53 mM solution to remove all traces of serum which contains trypsin inhibitor. After that, 2.0 to 3.0 ml of trypsin-EDTA solution was added to flask and the cells were observed under an inverted microscope until cell layer is dispersed (usually within 5 to 10 min). In order to avoid the formation of cell aggregates, 8.0 ml of complete growth medium and aspirate cells were added by gently pipetting, and appropriate aliquots of the cell suspension were added to new cell culture flasks. Viability of cells was assessed by dye exclusion assay with trypan blue 0.2%.

Culture conditions for normal kidney epithelial cell line MDCK (ATCC CCL-34).

The MDCK cell line was derived from a kidney of an apparently normal adult female cocker spaniel, 1958, by S.H. Madin and N.B. Darby.

Normal kidney epithelial cells MDCK were maintained at passage numbers 7–8 (Figure 2.9) in the (DMEM) high glucose (Invitrogen) containing L-glutamine, bovine albumin fraction (V 7.5%) 0,2% v/v (Invitrogen), HEPES buffer (N-2 hydroxyethylpiperazine-N'-2-ethane sulfonic acid) 20mM (Invitrogen), antibiotics penicillin-streptomycin (final concentration penicillin 100 U/ml and streptomycin sulfate100 μ g/ml) (Invitrogen) and supplemented with fetal bovine serum (irradiated) 10% v/v (Cambrex) in 75-cm² culture flasks (CellStar) and incubated in 2% CO₂, 78% of air in humidified atmosphere at 37°C, with medium renewal every 2–3 days.

The cell layer was briefly rinsed with Trypsin 0.25% w/v and EDTA 0.53 mM solution to remove all traces of serum which contains trypsin inhibitor. After that, 3.0 ml of trypsin-EDTA solution was added to flask and the cells were observed under an inverted microscope until cell layer is dispersed (usually within 10 to 15 min). In order to avoid the formation of cell aggregates, 8.0 ml of complete growth medium (DMEM) and aspirate cells were added by gently pipetting, and appropriate aliquots of the cell suspension were added to new cell culture flasks. Cells in logarithmic growth phase were used for experiments. Viability of cells was assessed by trypan blue 0.2%.



Fig. 2.9. Monolayer culture of normal kidney epithelial cells of MDCK line.

2.2.2. Seeding cells on plate

Taking the culture flasks from the CO_2 incubator, the culture medium was removed. The cells were washed twice with a warm trypsin-EDTA 0.25% disintegrator with a volume of 2 ml. With the residual volume of the disintegrator, the flask was placed in a CO_2 - incubator for 7 minutes.

B А 000 0 8 8 0 O. o 0 00 8 00 0 10 0 Ö e

Fig. 2.10. Seeding cells on the culture plate.A: A Goryaev's chamber with cell suspension.B: Cultivation of the tested cell lines in a CO₂ – incubator.

The detached cell monolayer was transferred to a centrifuge tube with suspension for centrifugation for 5 minutes at 1000 rpm, after which the supernatant was removed. After resuspending the pellet in 2 ml of complete nutrient medium, the number of cells was calculated using the Goryaev chamber (Figure 2.10. A).

Preparing a cell suspension (1 million cells in 10 ml complete nutrient medium), the cells were seeded in a 96-well plate (100 μ L of cell suspension per well) and placed in a CO₂ - incubator (Figure 2.10. B).

2.2.3. Cell Proliferation MTT Assay

The MTT assay is used to measure cellular metabolic activity as an indicator of cell viability, proliferation and cytotoxicity. It was used to determine the possible cytotoxic effect of the tested compounds on cancer cell line MeW-164.

This colorimetric assay is based on the reduction of a yellow tetrazolium salt 3-(4,5dimethylthiazol-2-yl)-2,5-diphenyltetrazolium bromide or methyl thiazole tetrazolium bromide (MTT) to purple formazan crystals by metabolically active cells (Scheme 2.1). The viable cells contain NAD(P)H-dependent oxidoreductase enzymes which reduce the methyl thiazole tetrazolium bromide to formazan. The insoluble formazan crystals are dissolved using a solubilization solution and the resulting colored solution is quantified by measuring absorbance using a multi-well spectrophotometer. The darker the solution, the greater the number of viable, metabolically active cells.



3-(4,5-dimethylthiazol-2-yl)-3,5-diphenyltetrazolium bromide

(MTT)

(*E*,*Z*)-5-(4,5-dimethylthiazol-2-yl)-1,3-diphenylformazan (Formazan)

Scheme 2.1. Chemical scheme of the metabolism of yellow MTT (3-(4,5-dimethylthiazol-2-yl)-2,5-diphenyltetrazolium bromide) and purple formazan product in living cells.

The functional activity there of is interpreted as a measure of cellular viability. It is important to mention that mitochondria belonging to dead cells are not able to respire. Determination of the ability of cells to reduce MTT to formazan after exposure to a compound allows obtaining information about the toxicity of the compound being evaluated.

The tested compounds were dissolved in a physiological saline solution and DMSO, in which DMSO concentration did not exceed 0.1%. The experiment was performed according to the method described by Mosmann [153].

Suspension cells were harvested, using centrifugation method (MPW 370 centrifuge). Adherent cells were released from their substrate by trypsinization (EDTA 0.53mM, Lonza, Belgium). The dilutions of cells $5x10^4$ cells per ml were prepared in culture medium (RPMI 1640 medium 90% (Sigma), containing fetal bovine serum 10% (Invitrogen)). $5x10^3$ cells/100 μ L of the dilutions were plated out in 96 wells of a microtiter plate. All determinations were done in triplicate. The cells were incubated for 2-3 hours. The tested compounds 10 μ L at three concentrations of 0.1, 1 and 10 μ M (three tests were performed for each concentration) were added and incubated for 24 h at 37^oC, 5% CO₂ (SANYO, CO₂ - incubator). After that, 10 μ L of MTT reagent was added to each well, including controls (cells without treatment). The plates were returned to cell culture incubator for another 24 h, periodically viewing the cells under an inverted microscope (OLYMPUS CK40) for presence of intra cellular punctuate purple precipitate. When the purple precipitate was clearly visible under the microscope, 100 μ L of detergent reagent was added in all wells, including controls. The plates with cover were left in the dark for 4 hours at room temperature. The optical absorbance was measured at 540 nm on a Synergy multi-mode microplate reader (BioTek).

The results were reported as the percentage of cell proliferation inhibition compared to the control (basal cell proliferation = 100%) [154]. Absorbance values greater than the control indicate cell proliferation, while lower values suggest cell death or inhibition of proliferation.

% inhibition =
$$100 - \frac{Abs_{540 \text{ nm}(sample)}}{Abs_{540 \text{ nm}(control)}} \times 100$$
 (2.1)

As an indicator of efficiency of the experimental compounds on proliferation of cancer cells, the half maximal inhibitory concentration (IC₅₀) was used, which is a quantitative indicator of the activity of antagonists test reactions *in vitro* in the pharmacological studies. The IC₅₀ values were calculated according to the Hill equation, using the software.

2.2.4. Cell proliferation resazurin assay

Resazurin cell viability assay is a rapid, reliable, sensitive and safe measurement of cell viability [155]. Resazurin detects cell metabolism by converting from a nonfluorescent dye to the highly red fluorescent dye resorufin in response to chemical reduction of growth medium resulting from cell growth. The continued cell growth maintains a reduced environment while inhibition of growth maintains an oxidized environment. The reduction related to growth causes the redox indicator to change from oxidized (nonfluorescent, blue) form to reduced (fluorescent, red) form.

Resazurin is a non-fluorescent indicator dye, which is converted to highly red fluorescent resorufin via reduction reactions of metabolically active cells. The amount of fluorescence produced is proportional to the number of living cells. Resazurin was dissolved in physiological buffers (resulting in a deep blue colored solution) and added directly to cells in culture in a homogeneous format. Usually, in the presence of NADPH dehydrogenase or NADH dehydrogenase as the enzyme, NADPH or NADH is the reductant that converts resazurin (7hydroxy-3H-phenoxazin-3-one-10-oxide sodium salt) to resorufin (7-Hydroxy-3H-phenoxazin-3-one) (Scheme 2.2)

Cells of lines HeLa, BxPC-3, RD, MDCK were trypsinized from subconfluent cultures by adding 3 ml of trypsin-EDTA 0.05% (Invitrogen) to 50 ml of culture flasks with confluent cells followed by 5-15 min incubation at 37°C with regular gentle shaking and counted under an inverted microscope (OLYMPUS). The trypsin reaction was stopped by adding 10 ml of appropriate culture medium containing 10% FBS. The cell suspension was centrifuged at 750 rpm for 10 min at 25°C. The cell pellet was suspended in 2 ml of medium with 10% FBS and thoroughly mixed. Cells were counted and brought to a concentration of 1×10^5 cells/ml. The resulting cell suspension was seeded into triplicate wells of a 96-well microtiter plat (Becton Dickinson and Company, Lincoln Park, NJ, USA) (100µL/well) and incubated at 37°C, 5% CO₂. After an initial 2-3 h period to allow cell attachment, 10 µL of the tested compounds and reference controls were directly added to the medium resulting. The plate was further incubated for 24 h at 37°C, 5% CO₂.

The tested compounds and reference controls were dissolved in DMSO to prepare the stock solution of 10 mM, which were used as reference at final concentrations ranging from 10, 1, 0.1 μ M in medium. The compounds were incubated with cell suspension at 37°C, 5% CO₂ for 24 h. Following each treatment, 20 μ L resazurin indicator solution was added to each well and incubated at 37°C, 5% CO₂ for 4 h.



Scheme 2.2. Reduction of resazurin (7-hydroxy-3H-phenoxazin-3-one-10-oxide sodium salt) to resorufin (7-Hydroxy-3H-phenoxazin-3-one) in living cells with NADH.

Subsequently, the absorbance was read by hybrid reader (Synergy H1, BioTek) with 570 nm and 600 nm filters [156, 157]. The percentage of cell proliferation inhibition was calculated according to the formula:

% inhibition =
$$100 - \frac{Abs_{570 \text{ nm}(sample)} - Abs_{600 \text{ nm}(sample)}}{Abs_{570 \text{ nm}(control)} - Abs_{600 \text{ nm}(control)}} \times 100$$
 (2.2)

As an indicator of efficiency of the experimental compounds on proliferation of cancer cells, the half maximal inhibitory concentration was used, which is a quantitative indicator of the activity of antagonists test reactions *in vitro* in the pharmacological studies. The IC₅₀ values were calculated according to the Hill equation, using the software.

2.2.5. Cell proliferation assay by flow fluorescence cytometry

The suspension cells MeW-164 were harvested, using centrifugation method (MPW 370 centrifuge). Adherent cells were released from their substrate by trypsinization (EDTA 0.53 mM, Lonza, Belgium). Cells were counted and brought to a concentration of 5×10^4 cells/mL. The resulting cell suspension was seeded into wells of a 24-well plat 0.9 mL/well and incubated at

 37° C, 5% CO₂. After an initial 4 hrs period to allow cell attachment, tested compounds were added at final concentrations ranging from 10, 1, 0.1 μ M (for each concentration three tests were performed). The cell suspension was treated by lysis buffer for cell lysis and stabilizing buffer for optimizing the pH of the lysed cell suspension. After incubation, the total cells count and viability of cells in suspension were measured by flow cytometry using integrated fluorescence microscope (NucleoCounter NC-100), and nucleo cassettes with fluorescent intercalating dye propidium iodide (3,8-Diamino-5-[3-(diethylmethylammonio)propyl]-6-phenylphenanthridinium diiodide) (Sigma).

Propidium iodide (PI) is a red-fluorescent cell viability dye which is excluded from live cells with intact membranes, but penetrates dead or damaged cells and binds to DNA and RNA by intercalating between the bases. It is widely used as a counterstain to differentiate and exclude non-viable cells in flow cytometric analyses, and can be excited using blue (488 nm), green (532 nm), or yellow-green (561 nm) laser lines, with detection in the FL2 or FL3 channels. PI is used in DNA fluorescence imaging applications to discriminate early and late stages of apoptosis, to study cell-mediated cytotoxicity.

The results from the NucleoCounter represent either total or nonviable cell concentration, depending on the sample preparation. The percent of cell proliferation inhibition was calculated using NucleoView computer software.

2.2.6. DNA fragmentation

DNA fragmentation analysis reveals the ability of the tested compounds to induce apoptosis in cells. It was carried out by the methodology of Kumar et al. [158], where HEp-2 cells (1×10^5) were treated with 10 µM tested compounds for 24 h and then lysed with 250 µl of lysis buffer. After incubation at 37°C for 90min, 200 mg/mL of proteinase K and lithium chloride 0.2% w/v were added and incubated again for 60 min at 50°C. After incubation was over, suspension was centrifuged at 13000 rpm for 3min; the aqueous phase was transferred to fresh tube containing deproteinizing mixture of phenol, chloroform, and isoamyl alcohol (25:24:1) and again centrifuged at 13000 rpm for 3 min. DNA was precipitated from the aqueous phase with 3 volumes of chilled ethanol containing 0.3 M sodium acetate at 4°C. The purity and concentration of nucleic acids were determined by spectrophotometer (ScanDrop) at wavelengths of 260 nm and 280 nm. The samples were subjected to electrophoresis in 0.8% w/v agarose gel using TBE buffer (Sigma) with ethidium bromide (3,8-diamino-5-ethyl-6phenylphenanthridinium bromide) (Sigma) (Figure 2.11) at 90V for 35 min and visualised on a UV transilluminator.



Fig. 2.11. Structural formula of ethidium bromide (3,8-Diamino-5-ethyl-6phenylphenanthridinium bromide).

2.3. Antioxidant and antilipoxygenase activity assays

2.3.1. ABTS⁺⁺ radical cation scavenging assay

The antioxidant activity by the ABTS⁺⁺ method was assessed according to the method described by Re et al [159] with modifications. ABTS⁺⁺ assay is an excellent tool for determining the antioxidant activity of hydrogen-donating antioxidants and of chain-breaking antioxidants.

The ABTS⁺⁺ radical was formed through the reaction of ABTS (2,2'-azino-bis (3ethylbenzothiazoline-6-sulphonic acid)) (Sigma) solution 7 mM with potassium persulfate (K₂S₂O₈) (Sigma) solution 140 mM, incubated at 25°C in the dark for 12-20 hours at room temperature. The resulting solution was further diluted by mixing with acetate buffered saline (0.02 M, pH 6.5) to obtain an absorbance of 0.70 ± 0.01 units at 734 nm.

The dilutions of the tested compounds were prepared in DMSO at concentrations ranging from 1 to 100 μ M. After that, 20 μ L of each tested compound dilution were transferred in a 96-wells microtiter plate and 180 μ L of working solution of ABTS⁺⁺ were dispensed with dispense module of hybrid reader (BioTek). The decrease in absorbance at 734 nm was measured exactly after 30 min of incubation at 25°C. DMSO was used as negative control. Blank samples were run by solvent without ABTS⁺⁺ [160].

The measurement was made by hybrid reader (Synergy H1, BioTek). All tests were performed in triplicate and the obtained results were averaged. The percent of inhibition (I %) of free radical cation production of ABTS⁺⁺ was calculated by using the following equation:

$$I(\%) = \frac{Abs_{734 \text{ nm}_0} - Abs_{734 \text{ nm}_1}}{Abs_{734 \text{ nm}_0}} \times 100 \text{ , where}$$
(2.3)

Abs _{734 nm0} is the absorbance of the control solution;

Abs $_{734\;nm1}$ is the absorbance in the presence of sample solutions or standards for positive controls.

The IC₅₀ values were calculated according to the Hill equation, using the software.

2.3.2. DPPH[•] radical scavenging assay

The DPPH[•] assay was done according to the method of Brand-Williams et al. [161] with some modifications. The effect of antioxidants on DPPH[•] radical scavenging is due to the hydrogen donating ability or radical scavenging activity of the samples. The scavenging reaction between (DPPH) and an antioxidant (H-D) can be written as: (DPPH) + (H-D) \rightarrow DPPH-H + (D). The DPPH reagent was diluted with methanolic solution to give an absorbance of 0.7 ± 0.01 at 517 nm.

The dilutions of the tested compounds were prepared in DMSO at concentrations ranging from 1 to 100 μ M. After that, 20 μ L of each tested compound dilution were transferred in a 96 wells microtitre plate and 180 μ L of DPPH[•] (1,1-diphenyl-2-picrylhydrazyl) reagent 0.002% w/v (Sigma) with methanolic solution were dispensed with dispense module of hybrid reader (Synergy H1, BioTek), and were shaken for 10 s. The decrease in absorbance at 515 nm was measured exactly after 30 min of incubation at 25°C (Hybrid reader, Synergy H1, BioTek) [162].

All determinations were done in triplicate. DMSO was used as negative control. Blank samples were run by solvent without DPPH[•] radical. The measurement was made by hybrid reader (Synergy H1, BioTek). The percent of inhibition (I %) of free radical production of DPPH[•] was calculated by using the following equation:

$$I(\%) = \frac{Abs_{517 \text{ nm}_0} - Abs_{517 \text{ nm}_1}}{Abs_{517 \text{ nm}_0}} \times 100 \text{ , where}$$
(2.4)

Abs 517 nm 0 is the absorbance of the control solution;

Abs 517 nm 1 is the absorbance in the presence of sample solutions or standards for positive controls.

The IC₅₀ values were calculated according to the Hill equation, using the software.

2.3.3. Oxygen radical absorbance capacity (ORAC-Fluorescein) assay

The Oxygen Radical Absorbance Capacity (ORAC) assay is a sensitive method based on the detection of chemical damage to fluorescein through the decrease in its fluorescence emission by peroxyl radicals that are generated *in situ* by the thermal decomposition of the free radical initiator 2,2'-azobis(2-methylpropionamidine) dihydrochloride (AAPH). The ORAC procedure used an automated plate reader (Synergy H1, BioTek, USA) with 96-well plates (Prior et al) [163]. The ORAC assay is unique in that its reactive oxygen species (ROS) generator, AAPH produces a peroxyl free radical upon thermal decomposition that is commonly found in the body, making the reaction biological relevant. Furthermore, since AAPH is reactive with both water and lipid soluble substances it can be used to measure the total antioxidant potential. The radical can oxidize fluorescein to generate a product without fluorescence.

The automated ORAC assay was performed on a microplate reader with fluorescence filters FP (485 nm / 528 nm). The experiment was conducted at 37^{0} C under pH 7.4 condition with a blank sample in parallel. The tested compounds were prepared in DMSO for use as a stock solution. Trolox (2 mM methanolic stock solution) was used as reference at dilution concentrations ranging from 3,125 to 100 μ M in phosphate-buffered saline (PBS, sigma) (pH 7.4). Phosphate buffer was used as blank, instead of the antioxidant solution.

The reaction was carried out in phosphate buffered saline (PBS) (10 mM, pH 7.4) and the final reaction mixture was 200 μ L. 25 μ L of each tested compounds dilution were transferred in a 96-wells black microtitre plate (Nunc black microwell, Denmark) and 150 μ L of working solution of fluorescein disodium (3',6'-dihydroxy-spiro[isobenzofuran-1[3H], 9'[9H]-xanthen]-3-one) (sigma) (15 nM final concentration) were dispensed with dispense module of hybrid reader (Synergy H1, BioTek). The mixture was preincubated for 30 min at 37°C prior to shaking at 700 rpm (Shaker-thermostat, Sky Line, Elmi ST-3L). After that, 25 μ L of (2,2'-Azobis (2-methylpropionamidine) dihydrochloride) (Sigma) solution (240 mM final concentration) were dispensed with dispense module of hybrid reader (Synergy H1, BioTek). The plate was immediately placed in the hybrid reader (Synergy H1, BioTek) and the fluorescence was recorded every minute for 100 min. The black microtitre plate was automatically agitated prior to each reading [164].

The antioxidant capacity, expressed as the area under curve (AUC), was calculated by a statistical program, using the following formula:

$$AUC = 1 + \frac{RFU_1}{RFU_0} + \frac{RFU_2}{RFU_0} + \frac{RFU_3}{RFU_0} + \dots + \frac{RFU_n}{RFU_0} \text{ , where}$$
(2.5)

RFU₀ is the relative fluorescence units at time point zero;

RFU_n is the relative fluorescence units at time points.

The Net AUC was calculated by subtracting the blank AUC from the AUC of each sample, the standards, and the positive control:

$$Net AUC = AUC (sample) - AUC (blank)$$
(2.6)

The slope (m) was calculated as follows:

Slope (m) =
$$\frac{dy}{dx}$$
 (2.7)

To determine trolox equivalents (TE) of each sample range, the ratio of the slope (m) of the linear regression analysis of the compound to the slope of the linear regression of trolox was used:

$$TE = \frac{m_{(compound)}}{m_{(trolox)}}$$
(2.8)

2.3.4. Colorimetric assay for lipoxygenase activity

Lipoxygenases (LOX) comprise a class of non-heme iron-containing dioxygenases that stereospecifically insert molecular oxygen into *cis-cis*-1,4-pentadiene-containing polyunsaturated fatty acids. Among the six identified functional LOX gene isoforms in humans, 5-lipoxygenase (5-LOX), platelet 12-lipoxygenase (p 12-LOX), and 15-lipoxygenase (15-LOX) were originally discovered in leukocytes, platelets, and reticulocytes, respectively. Linoleic or arachidonic, the substrate of LOX, is an essential constituent of cellular membranes that is released by tightly regulated phospholipase cleavage.

The LOX assay [165] system is widely employed to determine the antioxidant activity of the tested compounds. In the LOX assay, LOX-derived lipid hydroperoxides oxidize the ferrous ion (Fe²⁺) to the ferric ion (Fe³⁺), the latter of which binds with thiocyanate [SCN]⁻ to generate a red ferrothiocyanate (FTC) complex.

The LOX method was carried with some modifications. The LOX colorimetric assay was performed in 96-well flat-bottom plates in a total assay volume of 210 μ L.

Various concentrations of the tested compounds, DOXO as well as the positive assay control Quercetin were premixed with soybean lipoxidase 500-1000 U/mL in Tris–HCl buffer (50 mM, pH 7.5) and were incubated for 5 min at room temperature, shaking at 1000 rpm (Shaker-thermostat, Sky Line, Elmi ST-3L). Then, a solution of 2 mM linoleic acid in MeOH was dispensed with dispense module of hybrid reader (Synergy H1, BioTek) to induce the enzymatic reaction. After 6 min of the incubation at room temperature the enzymatic reaction was stopped by adding 100 μ L of ferrithiocyanate complex (FTC; chromogen) with dispense module (MultiFlo, Biotek). The FTC was prepared *ex tempore* by mixing the equivalent volumes of 4.5 mM FeSO₄ in 0.2 M HCl with 3% NH₄SCN methanolic solution [166].

The absorbance at 500 nm was measured, using a hybrid reader (Synergy H1, BioTek). The percentage inhibition of lipoxygenase activity was calculated according to the formula:

% inhibition =
$$\frac{Abs_{500 \text{ nm}_0} - Abs_{500 \text{ nm}_1}}{AAbs_{500 \text{ nm}_0}} \times 100 \text{ , where}$$
(2.9)

Abs 500 nm0 is the absorbance of the control (100% activity LOX)

Abs 500 nm1 is the absorbance of the sample.

IC₅₀ was calculated, using statistical program.

2.4. In vitro toxic red blood cells (RBCs) hemolysis assay

To determine the resistance of red blood cell to oxidative stress (hemolysis), human blood was used (cod.140080991, Balti). The hemolytic activity was carried out by detection of hemoglobin release from erythrocyte in response to various concentrations of the tested compounds and DOXO. Human venous blood was incubated at room temperature with gentle shaking at 500 rpm for 30 min. Then, the samples were centrifuged at 1000 rpm for 10 min. The haemoglobin absorbance of the supernatant was measured at 540 nm. For negative (0% lysis) and positive (100% lysis) controls, isotonic solution (0.9%) and hypotonic solution (0.1%) of NaCl were used, respectively. The positive absorbance value should be 0.8 ± 0.3 , while the negative one should be less than 0.03 [167]. The measurement was obtained by a plate reader (BioTek) [168]. The hemolytic rates of the compounds were calculated as the following equation:

Hemolytic rate (%) =
$$\frac{A_t}{A_c} \times 100$$
, where (2.10)

At is the absorbance value of the tested compound;

A_c is the absorbance value of the positive control.

2.5. In vitro formation of methemoglobin (metHb) in intact erythrocytes assay

The assay was performed as described with minor modifications. Human venous blood was used (cod.140080991, Balti). The blood sample methemoglobin concentration was measured using the method below, which is based on Evelyn and Malloy method.

Serum was removed after centrifugation at 1000g for 5 min, and the red blood cells (RBCs) were washed in cold phosphate-buffered saline (PBS) at 1000g for 5 min. The washed erythrocytes were diluted in physiological saline (1:1) with various concentrations of the tested compound as well as DOXO were incubated at 37^{0} C with gentle shaking at 500 rpm for 3 h.

After that, solution of 2% digitonin was used to induce haemolysis. The measurement was made by hybrid reader (BioTek), in absorbance at 540 and 630 nm. Then, the hemolysate was divided into two parts. The absorbance of the first part was read at 630 nm and then read again at 630 nm after addition of 2% potassium cyanide (KCN), to convert the metHb into cyanmethemoglobin. The change in the intensity of light absorption after addition of potassium cyanide is directly proportional to the concentration of metHb [169].

Finally, 10 μ L of 2% potassium hexacyanoferrate(III) (K₃[Fe(CN)₆]) (causes translation remaining oxyhemoglobin to methemoglobin) were applied and the absorbance was measured at 540 nm. The measurement was obtained by a plate reader (BioTek) at 540/630 nm [168].

Ability to induce MetHb formation in human RBCs was calculated using the following equation:

MetHb (mM) =
$$\frac{A_1 - A_2}{4.3 - 0.71}$$
, where (2.11)

A₁ – the maximum absorbance value of MetHb at 630 nm (pH 6.8);

 A_2 - the absorbance value of test sample at 630 nm, where cyanmethemoglobin is directly proportional to the concentration of MetHb

4.30 - millimolar absorbance coefficient of MetHb at 630 nm (pH 6.8)

0.71 - millimolar absorbance coefficient of cyanmethemoglobin at 630 nm (pH 6.8).

The Hb (mM) was calculated by equation:

Hb (mM) =
$$\frac{A_t}{11} \times 100$$
, where (2.12)

At - absorbance value of test sample at 540 nm;

11- millimolar absorbance coefficient of cyanmethemoglobin at 540 nm.

The MetHb (percentage total Hb) was calculated by equation:

Total Hb (%) =
$$\frac{\text{MetHb}}{\text{Hb}} \times 100$$
 (2.13)

2.6. In vivo toxicity assay

A new spectrophotometric method for determination of toxicity regarding test objects *Paramecium caudatum* has been developed and patented [170]. The use of this method accelerates biotesting and gives possibility accurately establish the dependence of toxicity on the substance concentration.

Taxonomic Hierarchy (NCBI BLAST) Kingdom: *Protozoa* Phylum: *Ciliophora* Class: *Ciliatea* Subclass: *Rhabdophorina* Order: *Hymenostomatida* Suborder: *Peniculina* Family: *Parameciidae* Genus: *Paramecium* Species: *Paramecium caudatum* (Ehrenberg, 1838)

Because some *Paramecium* species are readily cultivated and easily induced to conjugate and divide, they have been widely used for the toxicity screening.

Paramecium caudatum were maintained in aqueous straw infusion growth media supplemented with NaCl (1.0 g/l), KCl (0.1 g/L), NaHCO₃ (0.2 g/L), MgSO₄ (0.1 g/L), and CaCl₂ (0.1 g/L) at 23–25 °C in the dark. *Protozoans* were fed with *Saccharomyces cerevisiae* yeast that was added to growth media. *Paramecium caudatum* were cultured in a growth chamber covered by a lid to prevent the possibility of contamination and evaporation but at the same time to allow gaseous exchange between air and culture medium [171].
To run the assay, live *Paramecium caudatum* $(3 \times 10^3 \text{ cells/mL})$ cells were exposed to various concentrations of the tested compounds for 24 hours. The cells were then incubated with Neutral red dye (NR) (3-Amino-7-dimethylamino-2-methylphenazine hydrochloride) for 12 hours, which is a weak cationic dye that easily penetrates the cell membrane and accumulates intracellularly in lysosomes, where it binds with anionic sites to the lysosomal matrix. Afterwards, the cells of *Paramecium caudatum* were washed twice with H₂O and centrifuged at 1000 rpm for 5 min.

Finally, the NR dye was extracted by NaOH (3M). The absorbance was measured at 690 nm and 540 nm using a microplate reader (BioTek). The percentage of viability of *Paramecium caudatum* (V (%)) was calculated according to the formula:

$$V(\%) = \frac{Abs_{540 \text{ nm}(sample)} - Abs_{690 \text{ nm}(sample)}}{Abs_{540 \text{ nm}(control)} - Abs_{690 \text{ nm}(control)}} \times 100, \text{ where}$$
(2.14)

The median lethal concentration (LC₅₀) values were calculated, using GraphPad.

2.7. Statistical analysis

The cell proliferation assay results were reported as the percent inhibition of the test and control substances. As an indicator of efficiency of the experimental compounds on proliferation of cell lines, the half maximal inhibitory concentration was used. According to FDA documents, IC_{50} is an indicator of the concentration of medicinal substance required for 50% inhibition of the tested reaction *in vitro*. The toxicity activity of compounds was evaluated as the median lethal concentration (LC_{50}).

All data are presented as means \pm standard deviation (SD). The formula for the sample standard deviation is:

$$s = \sqrt{\frac{1}{N-1} \sum_{i=1}^{N} (x_i - \overline{x})^2}$$
(2.15)

 $\{x_1, x_2, ..., x_N\}$ are the observed values of the sample items;

 \overline{x} is the mean value of these observations;

N is the number of observations in the sample.

The Trendline Analysis in Excel is a linear least squares regression tool that can be employed to provide some correlation to data points. The accuracy of the fit can be interpreted using the R-squared. R-squared is the proportion of the variance in the dependent variable that is predictable from the independent variables. R-squared measures the strength of the relationship between model and the dependent variable on a convenient 0 - 100% scale. As the R-squared value approaches 1, the accuracy of the fit approaches 100%.

R-squared provides a measure of how well observed outcomes are replicated by the model, based on the proportion of total variation of outcomes explained by the model [172, 173].

The most general definition of the coefficient of determination is:

$$R^2 = \frac{SS_{res}}{SS_{tot}} = 1 - \frac{SS_{err}}{SS_{tot}}$$
(2.16)

 SS_{res} - Regression Sum of Squares

 SS_{tot} - Total Sum of Squares

SSerr - Error Sum of Squares

In the best case, the modeled values exactly match the observed values, which results in $SSR_{res} = 0$ and $R^2 = 1$.

2.8. Conclusions to chapter 2

1. Based on the known methods and their modifications, 5 compounds were synthesized: 2-formylpyridine N(4)-phenylthiosemicarbazone (HL), complex copper(II) [Cu(L)Cl] with 2formylpyridine N(4)-phenylthiosemicarbazone ligand, copper(II) mixed-ligand complex chloro(*N*-phenyl-*N*'-[(pyridin-2-yl)methylidene] carbamohydrazonothioato)(4-aminobenzene-1sulfonamide)copper [Cu(Str)(L)Cl], as well as coded organic compound (CMJ-23) and copper(II) complex (CMJ-33) with ligand (CMJ-23). The purity, composition and structure of the synthesized substances were established on the basis of electronic, FT-IR and EPR spectroscopy, molar conductivity, magnetic susceptibility measurements and elemental analysis and for the previously described substances, are consistent with published data.

2. Cell lines such as MeW-164 human malignant melanoma (Warsaw Cancer Center), HeLa human cervix adenocarcinoma (ATCC CCL-2), BxPC-3 human primary pancreatic adenocarcinoma (ATCC CRL-1687), RD human rhabdomyosarcoma (ATCC CCL-136) and normal kidney epithelial cells of MDCK line (ATCC CCL-34) were cultured to study the inhibitory effect of the tested compounds.

3. Antiproliferative properties were studied for cancer and normal cell lines using the methods described for the tested compounds.

4. The electrophoretic DNA fragmentation method was used to identify the mechanism of action of the studied substances associated with a direct effect on the genomic DNA of the cell.

5. Antioxidant properties were determined using the above described methods for the tested substances.

6. The studied substances were tested to determine the side effects associated with tissue hypoxia and hemolysis in human blood *in vitro*.

7. *Paramecium caudatum* test objects were used to determine direct toxicity and the absence of resistance of the tested substances.

3. ANTIPROLIFERATIVE ACTIVITY OF THE TESTED COMPOUNDS

This work represents a series of comparative antiproliferative studies on several cancer cells of the thiosemicarbazone HL (CMT-22), copper(II) complex (CMT-67), copper(II) mixed-ligand complex (CMT-68), and complex copper(II) (CMJ-33) with its ligand (CMJ-23).

To test the anticancer properties of the tested compounds, a series of suitable for preclinical studies cancer cell lines was used. So, the antiproliferative effect of the tested compounds was determined using human melanoma cell line MeW-164 [174], human epithelioid cervix carcinoma cell line HeLa, human epithelial pancreatic adenocarcinoma cell line BxPC-3, human muscle rhabdomyosarcoma spindle and large multinucleated cell line RD. An additional experiment aiming at the evaluation of the nephrocytotoxic effect of the tested compounds on normal kidney epithelial cells of MDCK line was used in this work [175].

It was mentioned before that many of the antitumor drugs act due to DNA damage and are most active in the period S; therefore, cells in the middle phase of exponential growth were used for research.

To estimate the results on the cytotoxic effect of the cell lines, the tested compounds CMT-22, CMT-67, CMT-68, CMJ-23 and CMJ-33 were compared to doxorubicin (DOXO) and cisplatin (CDDP) as the referent controls, which is used in the clinical management of a wide range of cancers.

For a comparative assessment of the results, IC_{50} (μM) values were used as indices, which are quantitative indicators of the antagonist substance efficiency when choosing the optimal therapeutic dose.

3.1. *In vitro* antiproliferative activity of the tested compounds CMT-22, CMT-67 and CMT-68 on different lines of cancer cells

The morphological examinations of cells were photographed using the inverted microscope (LOMO). Because cytoplasmic vacuolation is a future of cellular death, the ability of the tested compounds to induce formation of cellular vacuoles was microscopically examined on a variety of human cancer cell types, including MeW-164, HeLa, BxPC-3 and sarcoma cells RD, as well as on normal kidney epithelial cell line MDCK [176]. The morphological changes in MeW-164, HeLa, BxPC-3 and RD cancer cell lines after 24 h treatment with CMT-22, CMT-67 and CMT-68 at concentration 10 μ M are represented in figures 3.1, 3.3, 3.5, 3.7. As expected, no cellular vacuoles formation was microscopically observed in the control (non-chemical

compounds exposed cells). Thus, no vacuoles were identified in BxPC-3, and MDCK cells after incubation for 24 hours with concentration 10 μ M of CMT-22 (Figure 3.5, 3.9). In contrast, cellular vacuolization was observed in MeW-164, HeLa, RD cancer cells in response to concentration 10 μ M of CMT-22 (Figure 3.1, 3.3, 3.7). Further, intensive cellular vacuolization was identified in all cancer cells as well as MDCK cells after exposure to 10 μ M of complex CMT-67 (Figure 3.1- 3.9). Intensive cellular vacuolization was also detected in all cancer cells, but not for normal kidney epithelial cell line MDCK after exposure to 10 μ M of the mixed-ligand complex CMT-68 (Figure 3.1- 3.9).



Fig. 3.1. Phase-contrast images of MeW-164 cells after 24 h treatment with CMT-22, CMT-67, CMT-68 at concentration 10 μM. Untreated MeW-164 cells served as a control.

The compounds have been tested for antiproliferative activity on the following cancer cells: human melanoma cell line (MeW-164), human cervical epithelial cell line (HeLa), human epithelial pancreatic adenocarcinoma cell line (BxPC-3), human muscle rhabdomyosarcoma spindle and large multinucleated cell line (RD).

The human melanoma cells of line (MeW-164) were incubated for 24 h in the presence of synthesized compounds and the number of viable cells was measured using the MTT assay. The results are expressed as the percentage of cell growth inhibition at three concentrations (Figure 3.2) [154].



Fig. 3.2. Antiproliferative activity of the positive control DOXO and the tested compounds CMT-22, CMT-67, CMT-68 on human melanoma cells of line MeW -164.
Mew-164 cells were treated with DOXO, CMT-22, CMT-67 and CMT-68 at concentrations 0.1 μM, 1 μM, 10 μM for 24 h. Values are represented as mean ± SD of 3 replicates.

The antiproliferative activity experiments were displayed in a dose-dependent manner and showed concentration dependence between the inhibitory effects of the tested compounds CMT-22, CMT-67 and CMT-68 at the micromolar concentration range.

The tested compounds CMT-22, CMT-67, CMT-68 and the referent control DOXO possess antiproliferative activity on melanoma cells of line MeW-164 with IC₅₀ values 2.5 ± 0.1 μ M, 1.0 ± 0.1 μ M, 1.0 ± 0.1 μ M and 7.3 ± 0.3 μ M, respectively. The curves were characterized by the coefficient of determination values (R²) of 0.93, 0.78, 0.88, 0.99 for CMT-22, CMT-67, CMT-68 and DOXO, respectively (Figure 3.2). Thus, all compounds showed high antiproliferative activity against line MeW-164.



Fig. 3.3. Phase-contrast images of HeLa cells after 24 h treatment with CMT-22, CMT-67 and CMT-68 at concentration 10 μ M. Untreated HeLa cells served as a control.

The viability of cells HeLa, BxPC-3, RD and MDCK were determined by the resazurin assay [156, 157]. The comparative study and concentration ranges identification of cytotoxic activity of the tested compounds CMT-22, CMT-67, CMT-68 and the referent controls DOXO, CDDP in regard to human cancer cells of HeLa line are shown in figure 3.4.



Fig. 3.4. Antiproliferative activity of the positive controls (DOXO, CDDP) and the tested compounds (CMT-22, CMT-67 CMT-68) on the cervical epithelial cells HeLa. HeLa cells were treated with DOXO, CMT-22, CMT-67 and CMT-68 at 0.1, 1 and 10 μ M and CDDP at 0.03, 0.3, 3.3 and 33 μ M for 24 h. Values are represented as mean ± SD of 3 replicates.



Fig. 3.5. Phase-contrast images of BxPC-3 cells after 24 h treatment with CMT-22, CMT-67 and CMT-68 at concentration 10 μM. Untreated BxPC-3 cells served as a control.

It was founded, that the tested compounds CMT-22, CMT-67 and CMT-68 exhibited inhibitory activity against human epithelioid cervix carcinoma cells of HeLa line, with IC₅₀ values of $8.3\pm0.2 \mu$ M, $2.1\pm0.4 \mu$ M, and $0.40\pm0.04 \mu$ M, respectively. The curves were characterized by the determination coefficients (R²) values of 0.73, 0.94, 0.93 and regression slope values (m) of 0.51, 1.73, and 1.41 for CMT-22, CMT-67 and CMT-68, respectively. The IC₅₀ values of reference drugs DOXO and CDDP were found to be $10.0\pm0.4 \mu$ M and $4.0\pm0.3 \mu$ M, with the coefficients of determination R² = 0.94, 0.76, respectively.



Fig. 3.6. Antiproliferative activity of the positive controls (DOXO, CDDP) and the tested compounds CMT-22, CMT-67 and CMT-68 on the pancreatic adenocarcinoma cells of line BxPC-3. BxPC-3 cells were treated with DOXO, CMT-22, CMT-67 and CMT-68 at 0.1, 1 and 10 μM and CDDP at 0.03, 0.3, 3.3 μM and 33 μM for 24 h. Values are represented as mean ± SD of 3 replicates.

Thus, it was established that the tested compounds copper complexes (CMT-67 and CMT-68) exhibit stronger inhibitory activity on HeLa cells proliferation than DOXO and CDDP. The inhibitory activity of CMT-22 is comparable to that of the clinically used anticancer drugs (DOXO and CDDP).



Fig. 3.7. Phase-contrast images of the human muscle rhabdomyosarcoma spindle and large multinucleated cells of line RD after 24 h treatment with CMT-22, CMT-67 and CMT-68 at concentration 10 μM. Untreated RD cells served as a control.

The tested compounds CMT-22, CMT-67 and CMT-68 inhibit the formation and growth of the pancreatic adenocarcinoma cells of line BxPC-3, which demonstrates the capacity of experimental substances to inhibit the process of metastasis.

It was found that the IC₅₀ values of BxPC-3 cells are $\geq 10 \ \mu\text{M}$ for CMT-22; $0.6 \pm 0.1 \ \mu\text{M}$ for CMT-67; $1.7 \pm 0.2 \ \mu\text{M}$ for CMT-68; $5.24\pm0.03 \ \mu\text{M}$ for DOXO and $11.2 \pm 1.2 \ \mu\text{M}$ for CDDP, with determination coefficients (R² = 0.98, 0.91, 0.998, 0.99, 0.78), respectively (Figure 3.6).

Thus, the experiment showed that thiosemicarbazone CMT-22 inhibits proliferation of BxPC-3 cells only at concentration of 10 μ M by 47.3%, but also it was established that the copper(II) complex CMT-67 and copper(II) mixed-ligand complex CMT-68 exhibit stronger inhibitory activity on BxPC-3 cells proliferation than DOXO and CDDP.

It was established that the tested compounds CMT-22, CMT-67 and CMT-68 exhibit stronger inhibitory activity on human muscle rhabdomyosarcoma spindle and large multinucleated cells of line RD proliferation than DOXO.

Thus, the IC₅₀ values of RD are $1.1\pm0.1 \mu$ M for CMT-22; $0.27\pm0.02 \mu$ M for CMT-67; $1.3\pm0.3 \mu$ M for CMT-68 and $2.3\pm0.9 \mu$ M for DOXO, with the coefficient of determination values (R² = 0.9, 0.98, 0.79, 0.99), respectively (Figure 3.8).

The inhibitory rates of the tested compounds copper complexes (CMT-67 and CMT-68) on cancer cells MeW-164, HeLa, BxPC-3, RD proliferation and the inhibitory rates of tested thiosemicarbazone CMT-22 on the cells MeW-164, HeLa, RD proliferation manifest higher than the corresponding values of the positive controls (CDDP and DOXO) [164].

It is known from the literature that, as a rule, anticancer chemotherapeutic drugs have a high cytotoxic effect on normal cells, which leads to serious side effects that can be fatal. On this basis, we have exploited normal kidney epithelial cells of line MDCK for selective cytotoxicity evaluation.

As it can be seen from figure 3.10, the thiosemicarbazone CMT-22 in the concentration range from 0.1 μ M to 100 μ M does not show inhibitory activity on cell proliferation, but, on the contrary, enhances the proliferative effect, which indicates its non-toxic properties with respect to the MDCK cell line. The proliferation effect of MDCK cells was manifested at low concentrations of the thiosemicarbazone CMT-22, possibly due to the degree of dissociation, which is enhanced at lower concentrations. An increase in the concentration of the compound CMT-22 to 100 μ M leads to an inhibitory effect with 12.5 ± 1.8%.



Fig. 3.8. Antiproliferative activity of the positive controls DOXO, CDDP and the tested compounds CMT-22, CMT-67, CMT-68 on human muscle rhabdomyosarcoma spindle and large multinucleated cells of line RD. RD cells were treated with DOXO, CMT-22, CMT-67 and CMT-68 at 0.1 μM, 1 μM and 10 μM for 24 h. Values are represented as mean ± SD of 3 replicates.

The tested complexes CMT-67 and CMT-68 inhibit the formation and growth of MDCK cells, with values $IC_{50} = 4.0\pm0.1 \mu M$ and $12.0\pm0.9 \mu M$, with the coefficient of determination values ($R^2 = 0.7, 0.7$), respectively. The positive control DOXO demonstrated cytotoxic effect against MDCK cell line, with values $IC_{50} = 7.0\pm0.3 \mu M$, with the coefficient of determination value 0.7.



Fig. 3.9. Phase-contrast images of MDCK cells after 24 h treatment with the tested compounds at concentration 10 μ M. Untreated MDCK cells served as a control.

The search for new compounds that exhibit selectivity for cancer cells but not for normal cells is a major challenge in anticancer drug research [177, 176].

Thus, selectivity index (SI) of the tested compounds were estimated (Table 3.2). For comparison purposes, the cytotoxicity of DOXO as a reference anticancer drug was also evaluated under the same conditions.

The SI of DOXO, CMT-67 and CMT-68 vary in the range of 0.7–3.0, 1.9–14.8, and 7.1–30.0, respectively. Thiosemicarbazone CMT-22 showed selective cytotoxicity to the cancer lines BxPC-3, RD, HeLa and MeW-164, with a selectivity index (SI) of ≥ 10 , ≥ 91 , ≥ 12 and ≥ 40 , respectively [178].



Fig. 3.10. Nephrocitotoxic effect *in vitro* of DOXO, CMT-22, CMT-67, CMT-68 on MDCK cells after 24 h exposure. MDCK cells were treated with CMT-22, CMT-67, CMT-68 and DOXO at concentrations 100 μ M, 10 μ M, 1 μ M and 0.1 μ M. Values are represented as mean ± SD of 3 replicates.

Importantly, all tested compounds demonstrate a more selective activity than DOXO in the tested cell lines. It was concomitantly found that CMT-22 possesses the most selective cytotoxicity, what is an important aspect in personalized chemotherapy. Obviously, coordination of thiosemicarbazone CMT-22 to the metal center leads to a marked enhancement of its antiproliferative activity.

It should be mentioned that thiosemicarbazone CMT-22 slightly inhibits the proliferation of cancer cells only at a concentration of 10 μ M. Its addition into the complex compounds leads to an increase in anticancer activity. The main influence on the anticancer activity of the complex is exerted by the nature of the central atom.

Thus, coordination to the copper(II) ion leads to inhibition of the growth and division of cancer cells at a concentration range of 10–0.4 μ M. It is known from the literature [179], that the introduction of amines into the inner sphere of copper(II) complexes with various azomethines results in an increase in their anticancer activity, and copper(II) mixed-ligand complex CMT-68 behaves as described above [147].

Table 3.1. Antproliferative activity of the tested compounds CMT-22, CMT-67, CMT-68 and the positive control DOXO on cancer cells of lines BxPC-3, RD, HeLa, MeW-164 and normal kidney epithelial cell line MDCK

	MDCK	BxPC-3		RD		HeLa		MeW-164	
Compound	IC ₅₀ (μM)	IC ₅₀ (μM)	\mathbf{SI}_1	IC ₅₀ (μΜ)	SI_2	IC ₅₀ (μM)	SI ₃	IC ₅₀ (μΜ)	SI 4
DOXO	7.0±0.3	5.24±0.03	1.3	2.3±0.9	3.0	10.0± 4.0	0.7	7.3±0.3	0.95
CMT-22	≥100	≥10	≥10	1.1±0.1	≥91	8.3±0.2	≥12	2.5 ± 0.1	≥40
CMT-67	4.0±0.1	0.6 ± 0.1	6.7	$0.27{\pm}0.02$	14.8	2.1±0.4	1.9	1.0 ± 0.1	4.0
CMT-68	12.0 ± 0.9	1.7 ± 0.2	7.1	1.3±0.3	9.2	0.40±0.04	30.0	1.0 ± 0.1	12

Notes: IC₅₀ valium is a concentration inhibiting cellular proliferation by 50%. SI valium is selectivity index.

Substances with a SI > 3 are considered to be promising.

The SI₁, SI₂, SI₃, SI₄ of each compound were calculated as the ratio of the IC₅₀ for MDCK cells / IC₅₀ for cancer cell lines BxPC-3,

RD, HeLa, MeW-164, respectively.

3.2. *In vitro* antiproliferative activity of the tested compounds CMJ-23 and CMJ-33 on different lines of cancer cells

The morphological examinations of the cancer cells were observed and photographed using the phase contrast inverted microscope (OLYMPUS). The vacuolization of the cancer cell membranes, as well as small and round cells were observed. It is likely that the tested compounds significantly induced apoptosis in the cancer cell lines, such as MeW-164, HeLa, BxPC-3 and sarcoma cells RD [180]. As expected, no cellular vacuoles formation was microscopically observed in the control (non-chemical compound exposed cells) (Figures 3.11, 3.12).

Thus, no vacuoles were identified in MDCK cells after incubation for 24 h with concentration 10 μ M of CMJ-23 (Figure 3.12). In contrast, cellular vacuolization was observed in cancer cells MeW-164, HeLa and sarcoma cells RD in response to concentration 10 μ M of CMJ-23. Further, intensive cellular vacuolization was identified in all cancer and sarcoma cells as well as MDCK cells after exposure to concentration 10 μ M of complex CMJ-33.

Study of antiproliferative activity showed that there is concentration dependence between inhibitory effects of the tested compounds at the micromolar concentration range. The inhibitory effect was displayed in a dose-dependent manner.

The antiproliferative activity of the tested compounds CMJ-23 and CMJ-33 on human melanoma cells of line MeW-164 was determined, using the fluorescent flow cytometry assay by Nucleo Counter.

Figure 3.13 shows the percent inhibition of the compounds on the tested cell line MeW-164. It was found that the IC₅₀ values are $0.40\pm0.02 \mu$ M for CMJ-23 and $0.20\pm0.01 \mu$ M for CMJ-33 on the tested cells MeW-164. The curves were characterized by the coefficient of determination values (R²) of 0.97 and 1 for CMJ-23 and CMJ-33, respectively. Thus, both compounds showed high antiproliferative activity against cells MeW-164, but copper(II) complex CMJ-33 is 50% more active than its ligand CMJ-23.

Next, the viability of cancer cells HeLa, BxPC-3 and sarcoma cells RD and normal cells of line MDCK was assessed by the redox indicator of resazurin, which allowed us to measure the number of viable cells.

The comparative study and concentration ranges identification of cytotoxic activity of the tested compounds CMJ-23, CMJ-33 and the positive control DOXO, in regard to human epithelioid cervix carcinoma cells of HeLa line, human epithelial pancreatic adenocarcinoma

cells of BxPC-3 line and human muscle rhabdomyosarcoma cells of RD line are shown in figures 3.14 - 3.16.



Fig. 3.11. Phase-contrast images of cells MeW-164, BxPC-3 and HeLa after 24 hours treatment with the tested compounds CMJ-23 and CMJ-33 at concentration 10 μ M. Untreated cells served as a control

The tested compound CMJ-23 cytotoxicity against cancer cells BxPC-3 and sarcoma cells RD yielded respective IC₅₀ values of 2.5 ± 0.7 µM and 0.30 ± 0.04 µM, with the coefficient of determination values (R²) 0.9, 0.7, respectively. However, the compound CMJ-23 was significantly less toxic giving IC₅₀ value of 18.7 ± 1.0 µM against HeLa cells with the coefficient of determination values (R²) 0.9.



Fig. 3.12. Phase-contrast images of cells RD and MDCK after 24 hours treatment with the tested compounds CMJ-23 and CMJ-33 at concentration 10 µM. Untreated cells served as a control

In contrast, the tested thiosemicarbazone CMJ-33 demonstrated potent toxicity to the cell lines BxPC-3, RD, HeLa with IC₅₀ values of 0.10 ± 0.04 , 0.20 ± 0.03 , $0.40\pm0.02 \mu$ M, and with the coefficient of determination values 1.0, 0.9 and 0.8, respectively. The reference control DOXO exhibited cytotoxic activity against cell lines BxPC-3, RD and HeLa, with IC₅₀ values of $6.0\pm0.8 \mu$ M, $2.3\pm0.9 \mu$ M and $6.2\pm1.0 \mu$ M, respectively [180], and coefficient of determination values are 0.9, 1.0 and 0.8, respectively.



Fig. 3.13. Antiproliferative activity of the tested compounds CMJ-23 and CMJ-33 on human melanoma cells of line MeW -164. MeW -164 cells were treated with CMJ-23 and CMJ-33 at 0.1 μ M, 1 μ M or 10 μ M for 24 h Values are represented as mean ± SD of 3 replicates.

BxPC-3



Fig. 3.14. Antiproliferative activity of the positive control DOXO and the tested compounds CMJ-23, CMJ-33 on human epithelial pancreatic adenocarcinoma cells of line BxPC-3. Values are represented as mean ± SD of 3 replicates.



Fig. 3.15. Antiproliferative activity of the positive control DOXO and the tested compounds CMJ-23, CMJ-33 on human epithelioid cervix carcinoma cells of line HeLa. Values are represented as mean ± SD of 3 replicates.



Fig. 3.16. Antiproliferative activity of the positive control DOXO and the tested compounds CMJ-23, CMJ-33 on human muscle rhabdomyosarcoma spindle and large multinucleated cells of line RD. Values are represented as mean ± SD of 3 replicates.

Thus, copper(II) complex CMJ-33 exhibits stronger inhibitory activity on cancer cells proliferation than the reference control DOXO. However, the antiproliferative activity of CMJ-23 is comparable to that of the DOXO. Obviously, coordination of organic molecules to the metal center leads to a marked enhancement of their biological activity.

As the main drawback of compounds with anticancer properties is their toxicity, thus for the tested compounds it is necessary to determine the selectivity of cytotoxic action. For this purpose, the cytotoxic effect of these substances was studied on normal kidney epithelial cells of MDCK line. The comparative study and concentration ranges identification of proliferative activity of the tested compounds CMJ-23, CMJ-33 and the reference control DOXO in regard to normal kidney epithelial cells of line MDCK are shown in figure 3.17.



MDCK

Fig. 3.17. Antiproliferative activity of the positive control DOXO and the tested compounds CMJ-23, CMJ-33 on normal kidney epithelial cells of MDCK line. Values presented were mean± SD of 3 replicates.

It was established that the tested compounds CMJ-23 and CMJ-33 showed low cytotoxic activity against MDCK line, with $IC_{50} \ge 100 \mu M$, $R^2 = 0.8$ and $IC_{50} = 11.0 \pm 1.0 \mu M$, $R^2 = 0.8$, respectively. The positive control DOXO exhibited cytotoxicity against MDCK line with IC_{50} of 7.0±0.3 μ M and with the coefficient of determination value 0.7

It was concomitantly found that the cytotoxic activity of the tested compounds CMJ-23 and CMJ-33 on normal cells line MDCK is significantly lower than that exerted on the cancer cells, and lower than that exerted by DOXO is shown in table 3.4.

The selectivity index that is the ratio between the IC₅₀ value for the normal cells (MDCK line) and IC₅₀ values for the cancer cells varies in the range of 0.96–3.04 for DOXO and 28-110 for CMJ-33. Thiosemicarbazone CMJ-23 showed selective cytotoxicity to the cancer lines BxPC-3, RD, HeLa and MeW -164 with a selectivity index (SI) of \geq 40, \geq 330, \geq 5.3 and \geq 250 respectively. Importantly, all tested compounds demonstrate more selective activity than DOXO in all tested cell lines. An additional experiment aiming at the evaluation of the nephrocytotoxic effect on MDCK line revealed that compound CMJ-23 is significantly less toxic than compound CMJ-33, what is an important aspect in personalized chemotherapy.

Table 3.2. Antiproliferative activity of the tested compounds CMJ-23, CMJ-33 and the positive control DOXO on cancer cell of lines BxPC-3, RD, HeLa, MeW-164 and normal kidney epithelial cell line MDCK

	MDCK	BxPC-3		RD		HeLa		MeW -164	
Compound	IC ₅₀ (μM)	IC ₅₀ (μM)	SI ₁	IC ₅₀ (μM)	SI ₂	IC ₅₀ (μM)	SI ₃	IC ₅₀ (μM)	SI ₄
DOXO	7.0±0.3	6.0±0.8	1.2	2.3±0.9	3.04	6.2±1.0	1.13	7.3±0.3	0,96
СМЈ-23	≥100	2.5±0.7	≥40.0	0.30±0.04	≥330	18.7±1.0	≥5.3	0.40 ± 0.02	≥250.0
СМЈ-33	11±1	0.10±0.04	110.0	0.20±0.03	55.0	0.40±0.02	28	0.20±0.01	55.0

Notes: IC₅₀ valuem is a concentration inhibiting cellular proliferation by 50%. SI valuem is selectivity index.

Substances with a SI > 3 are considered to be promising.

The SI₁, SI₂, SI₃, SI₄ of each compound were calculated as the ratio of the IC50 for MDCK cells / IC50 for cancer cell lines BxPC-3, RD, HeLa, MeW-164, respectively.

3.3. The ability of the tested compounds to induce DNA fragmentation in vitro

Currently, the used anticancer drugs have been shown to induce apoptosis in susceptible cells. Apoptosis is an important process of many pathological conditions. The principle of apoptosis was described by Vogt which shows it as a programmed death of cells, which may even occur in multicellular organisms. Various biochemical changes such as loss of cell membrane asymmetry and attachment, cell shrinkage, nuclear fragmentation, chromatin condensation, and chromosomal DNA fragmentation take place during apoptosis. DNA fragmentation occurs at an end stage of apoptosis, which includes activation of calcium and magnesium dependent nucleases that degrade genomic DNA.

The tested compounds induced apoptosis of celss were examined by DNA fragmentation of agarose gel electrophoresis and flow cytometric analysis [181]. It was carried out as per DNA fragmentation analysis on agarose gel, containing ethidium bromide, which is an intercalating agent commonly used as a fluorescent tag (nucleic acid stain).

Human cells of line HEp-2 (ATCC CCL-23) were treated with CMT-22, CMT-67, CMT-68, CMJ-23 and CMJ-33 at 5 μ M for 24 h. Cells of this line contain HeLa marker chromosomes, and were derived via HeLa contamination. This line was originally thought to be derived from an epidermoid carcinoma of the larynx, but was subsequently found, based on isoenzyme analysis, HeLa marker chromosomes, and DNA fingerprinting, to have been established via HeLa cell contamination. The cells are positive for keratin by immunoperoxidase staining.

In order to study the influence of the tested substances on DNA fragmentation, a concentration of 5 μ M was used, which is average IC₅₀ (μ M) of all tested compounds against HeLa cells. As it can be obsered form figure 3.18, the tested compounds CMT-22, CMT-67, CMT-68, CMJ-23 and CMJ-33 induce DNA fragmentation in cancer cells because the light intensities of tracks of DNA molecules in cases 1-5 (Figure 3.18) are considerably lower than in case of control (Figure 3.18, lane C). These results as well as the results of flow fluorescent cytometry provide evidence that the tested compounds CMT-22, CMT-67, CMT-68, CMJ-23 and CMJ-33 induce cell-cycle arrest and apoptosis of cells [182, 183, 184].

The tested compounds CMJ-23 and CMJ-33 have demonstrated promising ability toward cleavage of genomic DNA. Thus, they have shown enhanced antiproliferative activity associated with increased induction of apoptosis by breaking the structures of the genomic DNA in the cell nucleus. It is very important, because cellular death is the underlying pharmacological purpose

for chemotherapy. Disruption of the apoptotic pathways is the hallmark of cancer, being a major obstacle in chemotherapy.



Fig. 3.18. The degradation effect of the tested compounds on the genomic DNA isolated from HEp-2 cells. *Notes:* Lane 1: fragmented DNA of cells after 24 h treatment with CMT-67 at 5 μM. Lane 2: fragmented DNA of cells after 24 h treatment with CMT-22 at 5 μM. Lane 3:fragmented DNA of cells after 24 h treatment with CMT-68 at 5 μM. Lane 4: fragmented DNA of cells after 24 h treatment with CMJ-33 at 5 μM. Lane 5: fragmented DNA of cells after 24 h treatment different with CMJ-33 at 5 μM. Lane 5: fragmented DNA of cells after 24 h treatment with CMJ-33 at 5 μM. Lane 5: fragmented DNA of cells after 24 h treatment with CMJ-33 at 5 μM. Lane 5: fragmented DNA of cells after 24 h treatment with CMJ-23 at 5 μM. Lane 5: fragmented DNA of cells after 24 h treatment with CMJ-23 at 5 μM. Lane 5: fragmented DNA of cells after 24 h treatment with CMJ-33 at 5 μM. Lane 5: fragmented DNA of cells after 24 h treatment with CMJ-33 at 5 μM. Lane 5: fragmented DNA of cells after 24 h treatment with CMJ-33 at 5 μM. Lane 5: fragmented DNA of cells after 24 h treatment with CMJ-33 at 5 μM. Lane 5: fragmented DNA of cells after 24 h treatment with CMJ-33 at 5 μM. Lane 5: fragmented DNA of cells after 24 h treatment with CMJ-33 at 5 μM. Lane 5: fragmented DNA of cells after 24 h treatment with CMJ-33 at 5 μM. Lane 5: fragmented DNA of cells after 24 h treatment with CMJ-33 at 5 μM. Lane 5: fragmented DNA of cells after 24 h treatment with CMJ-33 at 5 μM. Lane 5: fragmented DNA of cells after 24 h treatment with CMJ-33 at 5 μM. Lane 5: fragmented DNA of cells after 24 h treatment with CMJ-33 at 5 μM. Lane 5: fragmented DNA of cells after 24 h treatment with CMJ-33 at 5 μM. Lane 5: fragmented DNA of cells without treatment.

A magnetochemical study of the tested substances showed that they have a magnetic moment characteristic of one unpaired electron, which indicates their monomeric structure. It is known from the literature that compounds with a monomeric structure are able to intercalate between the nitrogenous bases of nucleic acids, which causes apoptosis in cells [109].

Probably, the ability to induce DNA fragmentation of the mixed-ligand complex CMT-68 at concentration 5 μ M (Figure 3.18, lane 3) has resulted from its inner ligand environment properties, so the presence of an additional amino group 4-aminobenzenesulfonamide in the internal sphere of the copper(II) mixed-ligand complex, characterized by the presence of a lone electron pair on the nitrogen atom, makes it easier to interact with the atoms of the DNA molecules grooves during replication or transcription.

Possibly, a much higher antiproliferative activity of copper coordination compounds can be caused by coordination of CMT-22 with the copper central atom, which leads to a change of electron density in the thiosemicarbazone moiety. So, the copper atom in these coordination compounds is able to coordinate DNA molecules. Electron density distribution in the 4-allylthiosemicarbazone 2-formylpyridine molecule, which also manifests high antiproliferative activity against human promyelocytic cell line HL-60, has been studied based on the X-ray diffraction data provided by the Research Laboratory of Advanced Materials in Biopharmaceutics and Technics of the Moldova State University in collaboration with the Institute of Applied Physics (Figure 3.19).



Fig. 3.19. Structure – molecular electrostatic surface charge. Azot from Py ring has electronegative charge and the capacity to form H-bonds with DNA and to inhibit cells proliferation is high.



Scheme 3.1. Interaction of thiosemicarbazone CMT-22 with guanine fragment of DNA molecule

The presence of high electron density in the nitrogen atom of the pyridine ring has been found to allow this molecule to form hydrogen bonds with a DNA molecule.

In addition, NMR spectroscopic studies have allowed the values of the energies of hydrogen bonds to be calculated, arising from the interaction of thiosemicarbazone CMT-22 with the guanine fragment of the DNA molecule in the range of 8 - 13 kJ/mol (Scheme 3.1).

Thus, the interaction of the molecular inhibitors of cancer cell proliferation with a DNA molecule has been found to occur due to the formation of hydrogen bonds, which triggers the process of cell death by apoptosis.

3.4. Conclusions to chapter **3**

1. All tested compounds exhibited an antiproliferative activity in relation to the tested cancer cells of lines.

2. Analyzing the results of the antiproliferative activity, it was established that the tested compounds exhibited high inhibitory activity on the tested cell of lines, such as MeW-164 (humanmalignantmelanoma), HeLa (humancervixadenocarcinoma), BxPC-3 (humanprimarypancreaticadenocarcinoma), RD (humanrhabdomyosarcoma) proliferation.

3. The tested compounds demonstrated selective cytotoxicity towards cancer cells. It was detected that the tested compounds have higher values of selectivity index than DOXO, while the tested thiosemicarbazones showed the highest values of selectivity index compared to DOXO and the tested complexes, which is an important aspect in personalized medicine.

4. Based on NMR and X-ray analysis, it was established that thiosemicarbazones interact with the DNA fragment (guanine) forming hydrogen bonds, which causes DNA fragmentation and finally apoptosis.

5. Electrophoresis method of DNA defragmentation confirms the mechanism of action of the studied substances linked with a direct effect on cell genomic DNA. The research findings identified a possible mechanism of action of the tested compounds associated with cellular apoptosis. Thus, the tested compounds showed enhanced antiproliferative activity, linked with increased induction of apoptosis, breaking structures of genomic DNA in the cell nucleus.

6. Altogether, these study observations indicated that the tested compounds may be potential anticancer drugs.

4. STUDIES OF THE MECHANISM OF ACTION AND SIDE EFFECTS OF NEW ORGANIC AND ORGANOMETALLIC CANCER CELL INHIBITORS ASSOCIATED WITH OXIDATIVE STRESS

Active forms of oxygen (ROS), which include free radicals, peroxides of inorganic and organic origin and oxygen ions are products of normal oxygen metabolism in a living cell. Only 5% of the oxygen consumed by the cell as a result, as a rule, of enzymatic reactions, are converted to ROS. Cells are protected from reactive oxygen species by low molecular weight antioxidants, for example, vitamin C, glutathione, uric acid, as well as antioxidant enzymes such as superoxide dismutase, catalase, and glutathione peroxidase. The presence of various chemical pollutants in the environment stimulates increased ROS formation in the body, which leads to oxidative stress and a decrease in antioxidant protection. This, in turn, contributes to the development of various pathologies, and ultimately to cell death and tissue necrosis.

Free radicals have been implicated in the causation of several oxidative damage diseases such as liver cirrhosis, atherosclerosis, cancer, diabetes, ageing. An antioxidant can be defined as any substance that when present at low concentrations compared with those of an oxidizable substrate can inhibit the oxidation of lipids, proteins or other molecules by preventing the initiation or propagation of oxidative chain reactions and can thus prevent or repair the damage done to the body's cells by oxygen [185].

Synthetic antioxidants are widely used to inhibit oxidative processes. Most currently used antioxidant drugs are direct-acting antioxidants. Primary screening of direct-acting antioxidants is carried out on *in vitro* model systems, i.e. when the efficiency of their antioxidant action is determined primarily by the chemical structure of the substance and does not depend, in any way, on the general homeostasis of the body. Hydrophilic (ascorbic acid, uric acid, cysteine) and lipophilic (tocopherols, retinol, bilirubin) are distinguished among direct-acting antioxidants.

Thiosemicarbazones and its metal complexes antioxidants have gained attention recently for their capacity to protect organisms and cells from damage induced by oxidative stress or scavenge free radicals [186]. These compounds, which show considerable biological activity, may represent an interesting approach for designing new anticancer drugs [187].

In order to exclude the eventual presence of concomitant adverse effects associated with oxidative stress, the tested compounds: thiosemicarbazone CMT-22, copper(II) complex CMT-67, copper(II) mixed-ligand complex CMT-68 and copper(II) complex CMJ-33 with its ligand CMJ-23 were tested by several antioxidant-capacity (AC) assays [188], such as ABTS⁺⁺, DPPH⁺, ORAC and LOX [189]. The antioxidant potency of the tested compounds was compared to the

FDA-approved anticancer drug doxorubicin and the reference antioxidant controls trolox and rutin. It is known that doxorubicin-induced cardiomyopathy carries a poor prognosis and is frequently fatal. Doxorubicin induces toxic damage to the mitochondria of cardiomyocytes contributing to increased oxidative stress [3, 164].

Drug-induced hemolysis and methemoglobin formation is a relatively rare but serious toxicity liability caused by oxidative stress, so *in vitro* assessment of the probability of development and the nature of possible side effects of the tested substances (CMT-22, CMT-67, CMT-68, CMJ-33 and CMJ-23) associated with hemolysis and the formation of methemoglobin in human red blood cells (RBCs) was investigaited.

Finally, direct toxic evaluation of CMT-22, CMT-67, CMT-68, CMJ-33 and CMJ-23 and anticancer drug doxorubicin was studied by NR-colorimetric assay of the quantification of the membrane permeability and lysosomal activity of *Paramecium caudatum*, which is one of the most commonly used test-objects in laboratory research aimed at directly determining the toxicity of chemical compounds, which are used in toxicological medicine [171].

4.1. ABTS⁺⁺ and DPPH⁻ radical scavenging activity of the tested compounds

The ABTS⁺⁺ and DPPH⁺ assays are widely used methods for the assessment of the total antioxidant capacities of the anticancer compound *in vitro* [162].

The effect of antioxidants on DPPH[•] radical scavenging is due to the hydrogen donating ability or radical scavenging activity of the samples. The scavenging reaction between (DPPH[•]) and an antioxidant (AOH) can be depicted as scheme 4.1.



Scheme 4.1. Reaction of stable radical DPPH' with an antiradical compound (AOH)

The ABTS⁺⁺ method is based on the variation in the long wavelength absorption of a stable radical, the radical cation ABTS⁺⁺ (2,2'-azobis-(3-ethylbenzothiazoline-6-sulfonate)) [160]. Unlike the commercially available stable free radical DPPH⁺, ABTS⁺⁺ is generated by the oxidation of ABTS, commonly using potassium persulfate (Scheme 4.2). Antioxidants inhibit the oxidation of ABTS⁺⁺ by electron transfer radical scavenging and hydrogen donating [159, 190, 189].



Scheme 4.2. Oxidation of ABTS⁺⁺ by potassium persulfate to generate radical cation ABTS⁺⁺ and its reaction with an antiradical compound (AOH)

Thus, the tested compounds CMT-22, CMT-67, CMT-68, CMJ-33, CMJ-23, as well as the FDA-approved anticancer drug doxorubicin (DOXO) and the reference antioxidant compounds trolox and rutin were screened for free radical scavenging activity by the ABTS⁺⁺ method. The percentage inhibition results of free radical scavenging activity of the tested compounds are shown in figure 4.1.

According to this work, the tested compounds were capable of scavenging $ABTS^{+}$ radical in a concentration dependent manner. The coordination of metal ions to thiosemicarbazone CMT-22 resulted in a wider spectrum of activity comparable to those of the used reference antioxidant compounds (trolox, rutin) and reference anticancer compound DOXO. The tested compounds exhibited better scavenging activity than the reference antioxidant compounds at the lowest concentration 1 μ M. The IC₅₀ values of the

tested compounds are listed in table 4.1, with CMT-68 possessing the highest antioxidant potency (IC₅₀ = $0.67\pm0.01 \mu$ M), followed by CMT-67, CMJ-23, CMJ-33, CMT-22 with IC₅₀ values of $4.9\pm0.1 \mu$ M, $6.20\pm0.01 \mu$ M, $11.4\pm0.4 \mu$ M, $14.9\pm1.4 \mu$ M, respectively (Table 4.1). The coefficients of determination (R²) values are 0.99, 0.99, 0.99, 1, 1 for the tested compounds CMT-22, CMT-67, CMT-68, CMJ-33, CMJ-23, respectively.



ABTS radical scavenging activity

Fig. 4.1. ABTS⁺⁺ scavenging activity of the tested compounds CMT-22, CMT-67, CMT-68, CMJ-33, CMJ-23, as well as the anticancer drug doxorubicin and the reference antioxidant compounds (trolox, rutin). Values are represented as mean ± SD of 3 replicates.

It was found that the reference compounds trolox, rutin, and DOXO exhibited antioxidant activity, with IC₅₀ values of 26.9±0.7 μ M, 20.7±0.1 μ M, 11.5±0.6 μ M, respectively. The ABTS⁺⁺ radical cation scavenging ability of the tested compounds and reference compounds can be ranked in the order CMT-68 \geq CMT-67 \geq CMJ-23 \geq CMJ-33 \geq DOXO \geq CMT-22 \geq rutin \geq trolox. Analyzing the results of ABTS⁺⁺ method, it was observed that the tested compounds showed the best antioxidant activity compared with trolox and rutin.

The increased antioxidant activity of CMT-68 and CMT-67 complexes (Table 4.1) can be attributed to the electron withdrawing effect of the Cu(II) ion which facilitates the release of hydrogen to reduce the ABTS⁺⁺ radical.

The examined and compared changes in the DPPH[•] free radical scavenging ability of the thiosemicarbazone CMT-22, copper(II) complex CMT-67, copper(II) mixed-ligand complex CMT-68 and copper(II) complex CMJ-33 with its ligand CMJ-23 as well as the anticancer drug DOXO and the reference antioxidant compounds trolox, rutin on the basis of percent inhibition are represented in figure 4.2.





Fig. 4.2. DPPH[•] scavenging activity of the tested compounds CMT-22, CMT-67, CMT-68, CMJ-33, CMJ-23, as well as the anticancer drug doxorubicin and the reference antioxidant compounds (trolox, rutin). Values are represented as mean ± SD of 3 replicates.

It was observed that the free ligands CMT-22 and CMJ-23 have higher activity than that of the copper(II) complexes. At the highest concentration 100 μ M, the antioxidant activity of the free ligands was found to be 57.1±0.5 % for CMT-22 and 61.7±0.8 % for CMJ-23, but upon complexation they changed in the range of 32.4 % – 54.1 %.

It was found that the inhibitory effect of the compounds on percentage DPPH' scavenging activity was in a concentration dependent manner. The IC₅₀ values of the tested compounds and the reference controls are represented in table 4.1, along with the coefficient of determination values. The antioxidant activity of the tested compounds CMT-22, CMT-67, CMT-68, CMJ-33, CMJ-23 can be attributed to the effect of release of hydrogen to reduce the DPPH[•] radical. This proton release was pronounced in thiosemicarbazone CMT-22, with IC₅₀ value of 72.7±0.5 μ M, followed by CMT-67 with IC₅₀ of 83.1±1.3 μ M, CMT-68 with IC₅₀ of 133.0±2.5 μ M, CMJ-23 with IC₅₀ of 48.3±0.8 μ M, CMJ-33 with IC₅₀ of 139.0±2.5 μ M. For the comparative analysis of the tested compounds, the anticancer drug DOXO and the reference antioxidant compounds trolox, rutin were determined with the IC₅₀ values of ≥100 μ M, 48.9±0.8 μ M, and 64.8±2.1 μ M, respectively. The DPPH[•] radical scavenging ability of the compounds can thus be ranked in the order CMJ-23 ≥ trolox ≥ rutin ≥ CMT-22 ≥ CMT-67 ≥ CMT-68 ≥ CMJ-33 ≥ DOXO.

Compound	ABTS ⁺⁺ radical cation scavenging activity	DPPH [.] radical scavenging activity			
	IC_{50} (μM) ±SD	IC_{50} (μ M) ±SD			
Trolox	26.9±0.7	48.9±0.8			
Rutin	20.7±0.1	64.8±2.1			
DOXO	11.5±0.6	≥100			
CMT-22	14.9 ± 1.4	72.7±0.5			
CMT-67	4.9±0.1	83.1±1.3			
CMT-68	0.67 ± 0.01	133.0±2.5			
CMJ-23	6.20±0.01	48.3±0.8			
CMJ-33	11.4 ± 0.4	139.0±2.5			

Table 4.1. The influence of the tested compounds and reference controls for ABTS⁺⁺ and DPPH[•] free radicals

Note: Dose-response plots of percent inhibition versus concentration were obtained from triplicate samples and adjusted to sigmoidal curves, from which values of the 50% inhibitory concentration (IC₅₀) were calculated.

The scavenging of the DPPH[•] radical by the tested compounds was found to be moderate compared to that of ABTS^{•+} radical cation. The enhanced inhibition displayed on the ABTS^{•+}

radical cation by the tested samples shows that the compounds are capable of donating electrons to neutralize free radicals, which indicates their potentials as chemotherapeutic agents for radical chains terminator.

4.2. Oxygen Radical Absorption Capacity (FL) activity of the tested compounds

The antioxidant capacity of the tested compounds such as thiosemicarbazone CMT-22, copper(II) complex CMT-67, copper(II) mixed-ligand complex CMT-68 and copper(II) complex CMJ-33 with its ligand CMJ-23 were measured by ORAC assay and their potency was compared with that of the reference antioxidant control trolox, a water-soluble vitamin E analogue.

The ORAC assay is based on *in situ* production of peroxyl free radicals generated via an azo-compound, 2,2,-azobis(2-methylpropionamidine) dihydrochloride, according to the reaction presented in scheme 4.3.



Scheme 4.3. Oxygen Radical Absorption Capacity (ORAC) assay measuring principle

An azo-compound, 2,2,-azobis(2-methylpropionamidine) dihydrochloride (AAPH), thermally generates C centred free radicals, which in the presence of oxygen generates the peroxy free radicals interacting with the fluorescent probe.

The oxygen radical absorbance capacity (ORAC) assay measures the radical chain breaking ability of antioxidants by monitoring the inhibition of peroxyl radical induced oxidation. Peroxyl radicals are the predominant free radicals found in lipid oxidation in biological systems under physiological conditions.

Hence, ORAC values are considered by some to be of biological relevance as a reference for antioxidant effectiveness. In this assay, the peroxyl radical produced by a generator reacts with a fluorescent probe resulting in the loss of fluorescence, which is recorded with a fluorescence microplate reader. A set of fluorescence decay curves can be constructed in the absence or presence of antioxidants, and the net integrated area under the decay curves (area gain in the presence of antioxidants compared to that of a blank run without antioxidants) can be calculated as an indicator of the peroxyl radical scavenging capacity of the antioxidants.

A standard antioxidant trolox (Figure 4.3), was used as reference, and ORAC values of the tested compounds are reported as trolox equivalents. The ORAC method measures hydrogen atom donating ability of antioxidants, and is, therefore, a hydrogen atom transfer (HAT) - based method.

The oxygen antioxidant capacity of the tested compounds CMT-22, CMT-67, CMT-68, CMJ-33, CMJ-23 were estimated by comparison to the standard curve of trolox. Figure 4.3 depicting the kinetic curves of trolox demonstrates the concentration dependent protection of fluorescein against the oxidative degradation by AAPH. The progress of each reaction was followed in real time using the current state option [164].

The Net AUC calculated by equation is graphically indicated in figure 4.4. The curves were characterized by the coefficient of determination values (R^2): 0.99 for trolox, 0.98 for DOXO, 0.88 for CMT-22, 0.87 for CMT-67, 0.67 for CMT-68, 0.94 for CMJ-23 and 0.78 for CMJ-33.

The antioxidant property for the tested compounds, anticancer drug DOXO, and the reference antioxidant control trolox was determined by the ratio of the slope (m) of the linear regression curve. Slope (m) values are 3.4 for CMT-22, 3.5 for CMT-67, 3.6 for CMT-68, 3.7 for CMJ-23, 3.6 for CMJ-33, 0.5 for DOXO and 1.2 for trolox.

The calculated trolox equivalents (TE) were used for comparative analysis of the antioxidant capacity of the tested compounds and anticancer drug DOXO (Table 4.2).




Time (min)

Fig. 4.3. Plots of trolox kinetic curves. The representative curves from ORAC assay of varying concentrations of trolox antioxidant standards ranging from 0 to 100 μM. The automated ORAC assay was performed on a microplate reader with fluorescence filters FP (485 nm / 528 nm). The experiment was conducted at 37⁰ C under pH 7.4 condition with a blank sample in parallel. The fluorescence was recorded every minute for 100 min.

Analyzing the ORAC results, it was observed that TE (trolox equivalent) values are 2.8 for CMT-22, 2.9 for CMT-67, 3.0 for CMT-68, 3.1 for CMJ-23, 3.0 for CMJ-33, 0.4 for DOXO [191].



Fig. 4.4. The Net AUC of varying concentrations of the reference antioxidant control trolox, the anticancer drug doxorubicin and the tested compounds CMT-22, CMT-67, CMT-68, CMJ-33 and CMJ-23. Values are represented as mean ± SD of 3 replicates.

Oxygen Radical Absorbance Capacity (ORAC-FR)				
Compound	m	TE		
Trolox	1,2	1		
DOXO	0,5	0.4		
CMT-22	3.4	2.8		
CMT-67	3.5	2.9		
CMT-68	3.6	3.0		
СМЈ-23	3.7	3.1		
CMJ-33	3.6	3.0		

 Table 4.2. Antioxidant activity of the tested compounds, reference antioxidant control trolox and anticancer drug doxorubicin (DOXO)

Note: trolox equivalent (TE), slope (m)

The oxygen antioxidant capacity of the compounds can thus be ranked in the order CMJ-23 \geq CMJ-23 = CMT-68 \geq CMT-67 \geq CMT-22 \geq DOXO \geq trolox. Thus, it was found that the tested compounds showed the highest oxygen radical absorbance capacity compared with DOXO.

4.3. Antilipoxygenase activity of the tested compounds

Lipoxygenase constitutes a family of non-heme iron containing enzymes, as versatile biocatalysts are capable of catalyzing many reactions involved in the xenobiotic metabolism. The lipoxygenase enzyme catalyzes the reaction: unsaturated fatty acid + O_2 = unsaturated fatty acid hydroperoxide. It is believed that only unsaturated fatty acids that contain a *cis-cis-*1,4-pentadiene group are exposed to the enzyme, as shown in scheme 4.4.

Lipoxygenases (LOX) enzymes are reported to convert the arachidonic, linoleic, and other polyunsaturated fatty acid into biologically active metabolites that are involved in the inflammatory and immune responses. LOX also play a significant role in cancer cell growth, metastasis, invasiveness, cell survival and induction of cancer necrosis factor alpha (TNF- α) (Arfan et al., 2010).

The intermediate formation of radical results in peroxide, one double bond moves to the adjacent (conjugated) position, and the unsaturated fatty acid passes into the *cis*-trans isomer. Linoleic, linolenic and arachidonic acids are oxidized by the enzyme at the same rate. Fatty acids with trans-configuration of double bonds are not oxidized by the enzyme.



Scheme 4.4. Oxidation reaction of polyunsaturated fatty acid by lipoxygenase enzyme.

Lipoxygenases are the key enzymes in the biosynthesis of leukotrienes (LTs) that play an important role in several inflammation-related diseases such as arthritis, asthma, cancer, and allergic diseases. High levels of LTs could be observed in the case of asthma, psoriasis, allergic rhinitis, rheumatoid arthritis, and ulcerative colitis. Therefore, it is of the view that the production of LTs can be prevented via inhibition of the LOX pathway and targeting LOX with inhibitors is of a promising therapeutic target for treating a wide spectrum of human diseases. Pidgeon et al., also suggested that LOX inhibitors may lead to the design of biologically and pharmacologically targeted therapeutic strategies inhibiting LOX isoforms and their biologically active metabolites which may be useful in cancer treatment. Many COX-2 or 5-LOX inhibitors have been developed as drugs to treat inflammation [166].

Inflammation is favorable in most cases, because it is a kind of body's defensive response to external stimuli; sometimes, inflammation is also harmful, such as attacks on the body's own tissues. It is likely that inflammation is a unified process of injury and resistance to injury. Inflammation brings extreme pain to patients, showing symptoms of rubor, swelling, fever, pain and dysfunction. In these aspects, the medicinal properties of the tested compounds should be investigated on biological activities to counteract the inflammatory process, being with no side effects and with high economic viability.

In this regard, in this study, the ability of the tested compounds CMT-22, CMT-67, CMT-68, CMJ-33, CMJ-23 as well as the anticancer drug DOXO to inhibit the activity of lipoxygenases [192] was evaluated (Table 4.3).

Compound	% inhibition mean ± SD			R ²
	0.05 μΜ	0.5 μΜ	5 μΜ	
Quercetin	20.0±1.5	28.0±2.1	50.0±0.8	0.94
DOXO	34.5±0.5	37.0±1.0	40.0±1.0	0.99
CMT-22	48.5±0.5	52.5±2.5	61.0±1.0	0.95
CMT-67	44.2±1.5	53.1±0.5	77.6±1.9	0.93
CMT-68	48.4±0.5	53.1±0.4	58.1±0.9	0.91
СМЈ-33	46.0±1.0	54.0±0.4	61.0±1.2	0.95
CMJ-23	42.0±0.2	54.0±0.9	70.0±0.7	0.97

Table 4.3. The percentage of inhibition of the tested compounds CMT-22, CMT-67, CMT-68, CMJ-33, CMJ-23 and positive control quercetin and anticancer drug DOXO on the inhibition of the lipoxygenase activity by FTC-based LOX activity method.

Note: Values are represented as mean \pm SD of 3 replicates.

The antioxidant quercetin was used as positive control. Quercetin is a plant flavonol from the flavonoid group of polyphenols, the most abundant of the flavonoid molecules, are widely distributed in plants.

The tested compounds CMT-22, CMT-67, CMT-68, CMJ-33 and CMJ-23 were able to induce inhibition of LOX in a dose-dependent manner with the IC₅₀ values of $0.20\pm0.02 \mu$ M, $0.40\pm0.05 \mu$ M, $0.30\pm0.06 \mu$ M, $0.30\pm0.02 \mu$ M and $0.30\pm0.01 \mu$ M, respectively. In contrast, the IC₅₀ values for the assay positive control quercetin and anticancer drug DOXO reached values of $15.6\pm1.6 \mu$ M and $5.6\pm0.3 \mu$ M. Thus, these data demonstrate that the tested compounds are potent inhibitors of LOX activity (Figure 4.5).

Analyzing the antioxidant properties of the tested compounds CMT-22, CMT-67, CMT-68, CMJ-23 and CMJ-33 by LOX assays, we can see that they are potent reductive inhibitors and showed good results, comparing to DOXO and quercetin. Lipoxygenase plays a major role in many inflammatory lung diseases including chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD), asthma and chronic bronchitis. Over-expression of LOX is related with some specific carcinomas including pancreatic, gastric and brain tumor [193].



The effects of IC_{50} (μ M) on the inhibition of the LOX activity

Fig. 4.5. The effects of IC₅₀ of the positive control quercetin, anticancer drug DOXO and the tested compounds CMT-22, CMT-67, CMT-68, CMJ-33 and CMJ-23 on the inhibition of the lipoxygenase activity.

Therefore, novel potent inhibitors of LOX are required to enable the drug discovery efforts [194]. The tested compound CMT-22 showed an excellent inhibitory potential for LOX. The tested compounds showed a strong potential to be developed as new anti-inflammatory drugs.

4.4. Impact of the tested compounds on methemoglobin formation

Studies on the mechanisms underlying the biochemical processes of disturbance of the oxygen transport function of the blood is an urgent task of modern biology and medicine.

One of the main links in the chain of metabolic disorders of the blood oxygen transport system is the reaction of the hemoglobin transformation into its inactive form - methemoglobin.

In this regard, there is a need to search for methods and means of correcting such lesions that increase the efficiency of redox processes of methemoglobin reduction.

The spatial structure of the hemoglobin molecule was studied in detail by X-ray diffraction analysis as early as the end of the 1940s, mainly due to the works of the English biophysicist M. Perutz. Hemoglobin is a complex protein represented by two parts: a non-protein planar part — heme (4% of the hemoglobin molecule) and a protein oligomeric globule (96%).

Heme (protogem) is the tetrapyrrole aromatic structure of protoporphyrin IX, which necessarily contains the Fe²⁺ ion. The SP² hybrid atoms of the C and N π - electronic systems of the porphyrin oligand provide its planar structure [195]. Heme is a prosthetic group of heme-containing proteins that ensures their main functions: oxygen binding and transport, participation in the electron transfer chain, oxygen reduction to water, microsomal oxidation, decomposition of peroxides, etc. The presence of Fe²⁺ ion and the aromatic nature of the tetrapyrrole core provide intense heme color, which allows assigning of heme-containing proteins to the class of chromoproteins.

Globin, a protein component of hemoglobin, belongs to the group of histones. The number of amino acid residues in the polypeptide chain of different types ranges from 140 to 150, and numbers 141, 146, 153 being more common. Human hemoglobin protomers contain either 141 (α -chain) or 146 (β -, γ -, δ -chains) of amino acid residues.

The secondary structure of hemoglobins is represented by an α -helix. Polypeptide chains in a hemoglobin molecule are represented by more than 70% twisted into α -helix spirals, fragments of which are separated by sections that form the bends of the secondary chain. Tertiary ovoid globules are formed as a result of this stacking. The number of helical regions varies in different Hb chains. The α -chain has 7 such domains, the β -chain - 8. Spiralized hemoglobin fragments are denoted in Latin letters, starting at the O end of the polypeptide chain (for example, in the α -subunit: A, B, C, D, E, F, H). The spatial layout of the tertiary structure of hemoglobin subunits corresponds to the principles of tertiary folding of most globular proteins: maximum compactness, hydrophobic amino acid radicals are located inside the globule, most hydrophilic amino acid residues are located on the surface of the protomer. The physiological form of the quaternary structure of human hemoglobins is tetrameric. All four hemoglobin protomers are spatially located in a certain ratio of ,,quaternary structure", forming a tetrahedral configuration with respect to each other. The hemoglobin tetramer is a spheroid 64A long, 55A wide and 50A high. Each Swedberg unit is in contact with three other Swedberg units, loosely linked by non-covalent bonds (hydrogen, salt and, mainly, hydrophobic). Nonpolar hydrophobic bonds, being turned inside the protein, play a major role in stabilizing the quaternary hemoglobin structure.

 O_2 addition is ensured by the content of the Fe²⁺ atom in the heme. This reaction is reversible and depends on the partial O_2 pressure. Besides transporting O_2 to tissues, Hb carries out the reverse transport of the main final gas metabolite of tissues - carbon dioxide. Approximately 15-20 % of carbon dioxide and H⁺ ions present in the blood are carried by Hb molecules. Hemoglobin binds two protons for every four released oxygen molecules.

Typically, up to 1 % methemoglobin is accumulated in red blood cells per day, which is associated with the normal process of autooxidation of normal hemoglobin. Methemoglobin is formed as a result of iron oxidation in hemoglobin heme, i.e. methemoglobin formation occurs under the influence of any substances. This is facilitated by a change in the conformation of the protein part of the hemoglobin molecule due to the oxidation of a number of functional groups of the protein.

In the blood of a healthy person, the content of methemoglobin does not exceed 3-4%, which is achieved by the equilibrium between the reactions of its formation and the reactions of methemoglobin reduction. If the content of methemoglobin in the blood exceeds 3%, this is methemoglobinemia.

Many medicinal substances, especially with prolonged use in large doses, can cause methemoglobinemia. However, in most people metHb in Hb is restored after drug withdrawal under the influence of methemoglobin reductase [169].

Any methemoglobinemia is based on acute or chronic hypoxia due to a decrease in oxygen saturation of arterial blood. Moreover, methemoglobin not only does not participate in oxygen transport, but also worsens the transport function of the existing oxyhemoglobin.

Toxic methemoglobinemia of exogenous origin is known to occur when exposed to chemical agents, such as analgesics (acetanilide, phenacetin), nitrobenzenes / nitrobenzenes, nitroglycerin, nitrofuragin, trinitrotoluene, hydroxylamine, dimethylamine, local anesthetics (lidocaine, prilocadone, prilocadone, prilocainum, prilocadone, dlocadone, dlocadone, dlocadone, dlocadone, metoclopramide (Cerucal), sulfamethoxazole, sulfonamides, menadione (vitamin K3), naphthoquinone, phenazopuridine (Puridium), antibiotics (ampicillin, amikacin, gentamicin, carbenicillin). Some of them directly oxidize Hb, others form intermediate aggressive forms. Acute poisoning poses a threat to life, therefore, those who exhibit atypical cyanosis or cyanosis, combined with a normal blood gas content, need to measure methemoglobin content.

The severity of symptoms depends on the content of methemoglobin in the blood (Table 4.4) [45]. Cyanosis occurs at around 15-30 % metHb and tissue hypoxia can occur as levels rise further - metHb levels of 70 % can be fatal [45].

MetHb (%)	Symptomatology
<3	Lack of clinical manifestations
3—15	Grayish skin tone
15—30	Cyanosis, brown staining of blood
30—50	Dyspnea, headache, weakness, dizziness, fainting
50—70	Tachypnea, metabolic acidosis, arrhythmias, convulsions, coma
>70	Hypoxia, death

 Table 4.4. Relationship of clinical symptoms with the proportion of methemoglobin

 fraction in the blood [45].

Erythrocytes contain endogenous enzymatic and non-enzymatic methemoglobin reductase systems. The main system of protection against oxidizing agents, which allows maintaining the hemoglobin fraction in healthy subjects at the level of 1.0-1.5%, includes three nicotinamidine nucleotide components: reduced (NAD-H), heme-containing hemoproteincytochrome b5 and the enzyme cytochrome b5 reductase. The electron donor is the glycolysis product NAD-H. An electron is transferred from NAD-H to cytochrome b5 and ultimately to methemoglobin. Electron transport is catalyzed by the enzyme cytochrome b5 reductase. This mechanism is responsible for the recovery of 99 % of hemoglobin from methemoglobin. Another way to restore hemoglobin, associated with the activity of NADPmethemoglobin reductase, under normal conditions, has little effect. Its role increases in the event of a deficiency of cytochrome b5 reductase.

However, in conditions of massive toxic methemoglobin formation, the enzymatic efficiency is sharply reduced. Therefore, this requires the presence of drugs in the cell that can activate endogenous methemoglobin reductase systems or restore methemoglobin directly. Substances with redox properties can be considered the most promising among the drugs studied to date. The most active antidote for toxic methemoglobinemia is methylene blue, which has a

high redox potential. However, methylene blue has negative properties. The most dangerous of them is intravascular hemolysis. Currently, methylene blue is not used in medical practice.

The biomedical significance of metal-catalyzed HbO₂ oxidation is through acquired methemoglobinemia. There has been serious concern about hypoxia and methemoglobinemia side effects 3-amino-2during anticancer therapies using the iron chelator pyridinecarboxaldehyde thiosemicarbazone (3-AP, triapine), which is being examined in phase I, II and phase III clinical trials for the treatment of various cancers. 3-AP has been shown to induce the formation of metHb (methemoglobinemia) and hypoxia in patients, limiting its usefulness [196].



Ability to induce MetHb-formation in human RBCs

Fig. 4.6. Effect of the tested compounds CMT-22, CMT-67, CMT-68, CMJ-23, CMJ-33 and the anticancer control DOXO on metHb formation *in vitro*. The blood sample methemoglobin concentration was measured using the method below, which is based on Evelyn and Malloy method. Double dilutions of the tested compounds were prepared in DMSO at three concentrations (0.1 μ M, 1 μ M, 10 μ M). Values are represented as mean ± SD of 3 replicates. Thus, the tested compounds were subjected to screening of methemoglobin formation in human RBCs, because it is a serious toxic effect. This study of the tested compounds CMT-22, CMT-67, CMT-68, CMJ-23 and CMJ-33 showed good results, which did not exceed the permissible values in the $1 - 10 \mu$ M concentration range (Figure 4.6).

Thus, the application of 10 μ M of CMT-22, CMT-67, CMT-68, CMJ-23, CMJ-33 and DOXO induced the formation of metHb in 3,8±0.5 %, 10.5±0.6 %, 5.3±0.8 %, 8.09±1.2 %, 6.9±0.6 %, 3.0±0.5 % of cases, respectively. This study of the tested compounds showed results which did not exceed the permissible values in the therapeutic concentration range [168].

The study protocol was approved by the Research Ethics Committee of the *Nicolae Testemitanu* State University of Medicine and Pharmacy (18.06.2015).

4.5. Impact of the tested compounds on RBCs hemolysis

Toxic ROS (reactive oxygen species) constantly appear in small amounts from O₂. These compounds are strong oxidizing agents or extremely reactive free radicals that destroy cellular structures and functional molecules.

The oxygen molecule (O₂) contains two unpaired electrons and, therefore, is a biradical. However, unpaired electrons are arranged so that the O₂ molecule remains relatively stable. Nevertheless, if the molecule attaches an additional electron, a highly reactive superoxide radical (O_2^-) is formed. The next stage of reduction leads to the peroxide anion (O_2^-) , which easily binds protons and, as a result, transfers to hydrogen peroxide (H₂O₂). The addition of the third electron leads to the splitting of the molecule into O₂⁻ and O⁻ ions. While O₂⁻ forms water by the addition of two protons, the protonation of O⁻ leads to a particularly dangerous hydroxyl radical.

The addition of the fourth electron and the final protonation of O^- end with the formation of water is depicted below (Scheme 4.5).

$$Hb(Fe^{2+})$$

$$\downarrow \longrightarrow \overline{e} + O_2 \longrightarrow O_2^- \xrightarrow{\overline{e}, 2H^+} H_2O_2 \xrightarrow{\overline{e}, H^+} H_2O + OH^\bullet$$

$$MetHb(Fe^{3+})$$

Scheme 4.5. Formation of reactive oxygen forms and possible pathways for electron loss.

Red blood cells are especially susceptible to ROS damage, which, due to their transport function, are characterized by a high oxygen concentration. ROS can cause erythrocyte hemolysis. Red blood cells contain an enzyme system that prevents the toxic effects of oxygen radicals and the destruction of red blood cell membranes.

To protect against ROS and other radicals, all cells contain antioxidants. The latter are reducing agents that readily react with oxidizing substances and therefore protect the more important molecules from oxidation. Biological antioxidants include vitamins C and E, coenzyme Q and some carotenoids. The bilirubin formed during the destruction of heme also serves as protection against oxidation.

Glutathione, the Glu-Cys-Gly tripeptide, which is found in almost all cells in high concentration, is especially important. The thiol group of the cysteine residue is the reducing agent here. Two molecules of the reduced form (GSH) develop a disulfide upon oxidation. Red blood cells also have a system (superoxide dismutase, catalase, GSH) that can inactivate ROS and repair the damage they cause. For this, substances are needed that ensure the maintenance of normal metabolism in red blood cells. The metabolism in red blood cells is, in essence, limited by anaerobic glycolysis and the pentose phosphate pathway.

The ATP formed during glycolysis serves primarily as a substrate of Na⁺, K⁺, ATPase, which supports the membrane potential of red blood cells. NADPH + H⁺ is formed in the pentose phosphate pathway, which supplies H⁺ to regenerate reduced glutathione (GSH) from glutathione disulfide (GSSG) using glutathione reductase. Reduced glutathione is the most important red blood cell antioxidant; it serves as a coenzyme in the reduction of methemoglobin into functionally active hemoglobin. Selenium-containing glutathione peroxidase is also an important protective enzyme.

 H_2O_2 detoxication occurs with the aid of reduced glutathione which detoxifies, as well as hydroperoxides, which arise during the reaction of ROS with unsaturated fatty acids of the erythrocyte membrane.

When taking certain medicinal substances, which are strong oxidizing agents, the potential of glutathione protection may not be sufficient. This leads to an increase in the content of ROS in cells that cause the oxidation of SH groups of hemoglobin molecules. The formation of disulfide bonds between the hemoglobin and methemoglobin protomers results in their aggregation - the formation of Heinz bodies. The latter contribute to the destruction of red blood cells (hemolysis) when they penetrate into small capillaries. The hemolysis process is characterized by a rupture or a sharp increase in the permeability of the erythrocyte membrane and the release of hemoglobin into the plasma.

120

Because lysis of RBCs is one of the major side effects caused by thiosemicarbazones [197], the ability of CMT-22, CMT-67, CMT-68, CMJ-23, CMJ-33 and DOXO was compared to induce human RBCs hemolysis (Figure 4.7).



Ability to induce hemolysis in human RBCs

Fig. 4.7. Percentage of hemolysis activity of the tested compounds CMT-22, CMT-67, CMT-68, CMJ-23, CMJ-33 and anticancer control DOXO as well as NaCl 0.1 %, NaCl 0.95%. Hemolytic activity was evaluated by determining hemoglobin release from erythrocyte after incubation with compounds at three concentrations (0.1 μM, 1 μM, 10 μM). Values are represented as mean ± SD of 3 replicates.

Although the majority of normal individuals may suffer toxic hemolysis at sufficiently high concentrations of hemolytic drugs, for most drugs toxic hemolysis involves lower doses given to individuals who are genetically predisposed to hemolysis. It is strongly recommended for excipients intended for injectable use, that an *in vitro* hemolysis study should be performed at the intended concentration for administration to test for hemolytic potential. The *in vitro* hemolysis assay evaluates hemoglobin release in the plasma as an indicator of red blood cell

lysis, following test agent exposure (tested compounds). Formulations with a hemolysis value of <10 % were considered nonhemolytic while values >25 % were considered as for hemolysis.

Additionally, hypotonic 0.1 % and isotonic 0.9 % solution of NaCl were used as positive and negative controls, respectively. As expected, application of negative and positive controls have induced 100% and < 10% of RBCs hemolysis, respectively [167].

In contrast, various concentrations of the tested compounds demonstrated low hemolytic activity reaching maximum values of 8.2 ± 0.1 %, 10.2 ± 0.2 %, 10.6 ± 0.1 %, 14.2 ± 0.6 % and 10.3 ± 0.2 %, respectively, after exposure of RBCs to 10 μ M of CMT-22, CMT-67, CMT-68, CMJ-23 and CMJ-33, respectively. Incubation of RBCs with DOXO drug promotes hemolysis of 15.0 ± 0.2 % (Figure 4.7).

These results indicate, that the tested compounds have a low ability to induce RBCs hemolysis, as compared with DOXO. So, induced hemolysis study of the tested compounds showed results, which did not exceed the permissible values in the therapeutic concentration range [168].

The study protocol was approved by the Research Ethics Committee of the *Nicolae Testemitanu* State University of Medicine and Pharmacy (18.06.2015).

4.6. Toxicity activity of the tested compounds

Toxicity studies are an important stage in the development of drugs, being a prerequisite before starting their use in preclinical and clinical trials.

Since the fundamental principle of toxicity studies is the protection of animals, including those participating in studies, it is currently recommended that in all possible cases, studies should be conducted on *in vitro* cell lines or *in vivo* unicellular organisms, avoiding the inclusion of laboratory animals in studies. It should also be taken into account the problems of contamination of control animals with the test substance.

In this work, unicellular organisms *Paramecium caudatum* were used as test objects to detect the toxicity of active substances. *Paramecium caudatum*, subkingdom *Protozoa*, class *Ciliophora*, a species of highly organized protozoa that combine all the properties of a single cell and an entire organism, is one of the most widespread inhabitants of continental freshwater basins [202, 203, 204]. These unicellular organisms are close to higher animals in their biochemical parameters, so the results of such biotesting can be extrapolated to humans.

Biological screening of substances was carried out by two main methodological approaches using microscopic and spectrophotometric methods. As a result, in the course of

experiments related to the assessment of the toxicity of a substance with respect to *Paramecium caudatum*, a new spectrophotometric method was developed using neutral red dye (NR), which allows accelerating biotesting in order to most accurately determine the dependence of toxicity on the concentration of the substance [170]. The mechanism of the method consists in the ability of the intravital NR dye (3-amino-7-dimethylamino-2-methylphenazine hydrochloride) to be absorbed and retained in the lysosomes of living *Paramecium*.

The advantage of the method using *Paramecium caudatum* consists in its humane approach, rapid investigation, besides, it needs significantly lower volumes of the substances to be studied. This method does not substitute the methods using test animals,still it should me mentioned that earlier we found, in most cases, a correlation of the data on the toxicity of biologically active substances in rats with the data obtained using *Paramecium Caudatum*. This fact makes it possible to employ this method in preliminary screening and evaluation of substance toxicity with the aim of narrowing down the concentration range while identifying letal doses in rats for further preclinical studies.

The survival rate of *Paramecium caudatum* and median lethal concentration (LC₅₀), which are quantitative indicators of the efficiency of the antagonist substance in choosing the optimal therapeutic dose, were used as indicators for a comparative evaluation of the findings [198-200].

The effect of the tested compounds CMT-22, CMT-67, CMT-68, CMJ-23, CMJ-33 and the anticancer control DOXO at a single concentration 100 μ M on the locomotor behavior of *Paramecium caudatum* was investigated for 30 min by an inverted microscope (LOMO) with microcamera, and compared with controls, organisms *Paramecium caudatum* without treatment (Figure 4.8).

The test objects with complex CMT-67, CMT-68, and CMJ-33 showed the reduced activity, cellular volume initially decreased and the zygote nucleus was formed by fusion of the migratory and stationary nucleus as well as cyst formation. In test objects with CMT-22, CMJ-23 and DOXO the following changes were observed: ciliates actively moved, almost did not form a cluster, there were single fixed specimens, also the cellular volume initially increased followed by the disintegration of protoplasm and internal membranes. The DOXO was found more potent for lysis of *Paramecium caudatum* among the tested compounds.

After 24 h *Paramecium caudatum* were in the bottom of wells. The light microscope revealed that most of the *Protozoa* slowly moved. Some organisms in this period were motionless, contractile vacuoles were ruptured and their contents were thoroughly mixed up with protoplasm, it appeared as coagulation of proteins.



CMT-22 (100 µM)

CMT-67 (100 µM)

CMT-68 (100 µM)



CMJ-23 (100 µM)

CMJ-33 (100 µM)



Fig. 4.8. In vivo direct toxic evaluation of the tested compounds CMT-22, CMT-67, CMT-68, CMJ-23, CMJ-33 and the positive control DOXO. Effects of compounds on Paramecium caudatum exposed to high concentration of 100 µM after 30 min of treatment. Schematic pictures showing organisms without treatment as control; lysis by DOXO; beginning of lysis by CMT-22, cyst formation by CMT-67, cyst formation by CMT-68, beginning of lysis by CMJ-23 and cyst formation by CMJ-23. Arrows indicate the rupture of the outer membrane.



Fig. 4.9. Effect of the tested compounds and DOXO on growth of *Paramecium caudatum* exposed to three concentrations (1, 10, 100 μM) after 24 and 48 h of treatment. Direct toxic evaluation was performed by NR bioassay. NR was used for 12 h, which is a weak cationic dye that easily penetrates the cell membrane and accumulates intracellularly in lysosomes, where it binds with anionic sites to the lysosomal matrix. Values are represented as mean ± SD of 3 replicates.

Subsequently, the outer membrane was also affected and the cell contents oozed out due to internal pressure. In the represented experiment, we observed that the compounds affected the test organism, *Paramecium caudatum* in a concentration dependent manner.

The percent of viability of *Paramecium* after 24 and 48 hours treatment with the tested compounds CMT-22, CMT-67, CMT-68, CMJ-23, CMJ-33 and control DOXO was determined by the NR-method, and is graphically indicated in figure 4.9.

It was found that the LC₅₀ values for 24 h are $4.9\pm0.5 \mu$ M for CMT-22, $10.0\pm0.2 \mu$ M for CMT-67, $25.5\pm3.8 \mu$ M for CMT-68, $44.5\pm1.5 \mu$ M for CMJ-23, $24.3\pm1.1 \mu$ M for CMJ-33 and $1.0\pm0.4 \mu$ M for DOXO. The coefficient of determination values (R²) are all fairly high: 0.97 for CMT-22, 0.99 for CMT-67, 0.99 for CMT-68, 0.91 for CMJ-23; 0.92 for CMJ-33; 0.85 for DOXO.

LC₅₀ values for 48 h are 12.1 \pm 2.5 μ M for CMT-22, 5.1 \pm 0.6 μ M for CMT-67, 6.9 \pm 0.9 μ M for CMT-68, 11.6 \pm 0.5 μ M for CMJ-23, 13.3 \pm 0.2 μ M for CMJ-33 and 1.10 \pm 0.01 μ M for DOXO. The coefficient of determination values (R²) are all fairly high: 0.78 for CMT-22, 0.99 for CMT-67, 0.86 for CMT-68, 0.95 for CMJ-23, 0.99 for CMJ-33, 0.75 for DOXO.

Direct toxic evaluation of compounds, performing *Paramecium caudatum* colorimetric bioassay demonstrated that the LC₅₀ after 24 h treatment for CMT-22 is 5 times less, for CMT-67 is 10 times less, for CMT-68 is 26 time less, for CMJ-23 is 45 time less and for CMJ-33 is 24 time less than DOXO. The LC₅₀ after 48 h treatment for CMT-22 is 11 times less, for CMT-67 is 5 times less, for CMT-68 is 6 time less, for CMJ-23 is 11 time less and for CMJ-33 is 12 time less than DOXO.

Thus, these results have demonstrated that the tested compounds have lower toxicity for 24 and 48 hours than that exerted by DOXO. The highest toxicity activity on *Paramecium caudatum* was exhibited by DOXO.

4.7. Conclusions to chapter 4

1. The tested compounds showed antioxidant activity by several antioxidant-capacity assays.

2. Selective ABTS⁺⁺ and DPPH⁺ radical scavenging ability of the tested compounds and the standards can be ranked in the order CMT-68 \geq CMT-67 \geq CMJ-23 \geq CMJ-33 \geq DOXO \geq CMT-22 \geq rutin \geq trolox and CMJ-23 \geq trolox \geq rutin \geq CMT-67 \geq CMT-67 \geq CMT-68 \geq CMJ-33 \geq DOXO, respectively. The enhanced inhibition displayed on the ABTS⁺⁺ radicals shows that

the compounds are capable of donating electrons to neutralize free radicals, which indicates their potentials as chemotherapeutic agents for radical's chains terminator.

3. It was established that the tested compounds showed the highest antioxidant capacity in the oxygen radical absorbance capacity (ORAC) compared with anticancer drug doxorubicin, and the reference antioxidant compound trolox.

4. The tested compounds CMT-22, CMT-67, CMT-68, CMJ-23 and CMJ-33 proved that they are potent reductive inhibitors and showed good results, comparing to DOXO and quercetin by LOX assay.

5. The tested substances exhibit antioxidant activity against ABTS⁺⁺ and peroxyl radicals, as well as inhibit the activity of LOX. Moreover, the activity of the tested substances exceeds the activity of the corresponding standards by 1.4-40 times.

6. The screening for toxic hemolysis and methemoglobin formation in human RBCs showed results, which did not exceed the permissible values in the therapeutic concentration range. The tested compounds have low ability to induce RBCs hemolysis as well as formation of the toxic metHb, as compared with DOXO.

7. Direct toxic evaluation of compounds was performed by *Paramecium* colorimetric bioassay. It was found that the tested compounds have a lower toxicity than DOXO.

Altogether, these study observations indicated that the tested compounds might be potential anticancer drugs, which have less side effects associated with oxidative stress than DOXO and cicplatin.

GENERAL CONCLUSIONS

1. For the first time, new inhibitors of cancer cell proliferation (CMT-22, CMT-67, CMT-68, CMJ-23 and CMJ-33) characterized by high selective activity, low toxicity and higher efficiency compared to DOXO and CDDP have been identified, which opens up prospect of their employment as anticancer agents.

2. For the first time in the Republic of Moldova, local compounds have been tested on various cancer cell lines. The tested compounds have been found to manifest a high antiproliferative activity towards a series of cancer cells i.e. MeW-164 (human malignant melanoma, Warsaw Cancer Center), HeLa (human cervix adenocarcinoma, ATCC CCL-2), BxPC-3 (human primary pancreatic adenocarcinoma, ATCC CRL-1687), RD (human rhabdomyosarcoma, ATCC CCL-136) that in most cases is by 1.2-60 times higher than that of DOXO and also by 2.7-260 times more selective towards cancer cells compared to DOXO. The tested copper(II) complexes exhibit a higher antiproliferative activity, while the corresponding thiosemicarbazones CMT-22 and CMJ-23 in most cases are more selective [167, 147, 157, 160, 164, 168, 174, 178, 180, 187, 201].

3. It was revealed that the mechanism of action of antiproliferative activity of the tested compounds is associated with apoptosis of cells. NMR spectroscopy and X-ray analyses have demonstrated that thiosemicarbazones interact with the DNA fragment (guanine) forming hydrogen bonds, which causes DNA fragmentation and finally apoptosis.

4. The tested compounds have manifested higher antioxidant activity against ABTS⁺⁺ and peroxyl radicals compared to the reference compounds, according to the sequence: $CMT-68 \ge CMT-67 \ge CMJ-23 \ge CMJ-33 \ge DOXO \ge CMT-22 \ge rutin \ge trolox and CMJ-23 \ge CMJ-23 = CMT-68 \ge CMT-67 \ge CMT-22 \ge DOXO \ge trolox, respectively.$ The ability of the tested compounds to inhibit the LOX activity in comparison with quercetin and DOXO is more essential according to the rank order CMT-22 \ge CMJ-23 = CMJ-33 = CMT-67 = CMT-68 \ge DOXO \ge quercetin [141, 160, 162, 180, 186, 187, 201].

5. The tested compounds have been revealed to not induce hemolysis growth and the formation of metHb, which indicates the absence of the known side effects associated with the utilization of anticancer drugs. [168].

6. The methods developed to study the biological activity of substances have been adapted [167, 169, 188, 192]. A method for assessment of the direct toxicity *in vivo* using *Paramecium caudatum* has been developed and patented, which has allowed evaluation of the toxic effect of the chemical compounds studied and their concentration range in order to assess

the toxicity in preclinical investigation [170]. The LC_{50} (μ M) toxicity values of the compounds have been found to be lower that those of DOXO by 5-45 times [171, 200].

RECOMMENDATIONS

1. To recommend utilization of the biochemical research methods adapted and modified, as well as the patented method for studies on the toxicity of molecular inorganic and organic inhibitors using *Paramecium caudatum*, as a cost-effective, rapid, and humane one.

2. It is proposed to use these substances for further preclinical and clinical studies as highly effective low-toxic selective molecular inhibitors of cancer cells.

3. To continue further search for substances with high antiproliferative activity and high selectivity among substituted 2-formylpyridine 4-phenylthiosemicarbazones.

4. It is recommended to further continue in-depth study on the mechanism of the antiproliferative activity of the proposed substances in view of ruling out genotoxic, mutagenic, and teratogenic effects *in vivo*.

REFERENCES

- BRAY, F., JEMAL, A, GREY, N., FERLAY, J., FORMAN, D. Global cancer transitions according to the Human Development Index (2008-2030): a population-based study. In: *Lancet Oncol.* 2012, vol. 13, no. 8, pp. 790-801.
- ISMAIL, M., ARAFA, R., YOUSSEF, M., EL-SAYED W. Anticancer, antioxidant activities, and DNA affinity of novel monocationic bithiophenes and analogues. In: Drug Design, Development and Therapy. 2014, vol. 8, pp. 1659-1672.
- 3. CHATTERJEE, K., ZHANG, J., HONBO, N., KARLINER, JS. Doxorubicin cardiomyopathy. *Cardiology*. 2010., т. 115, nr. 2, pp. 155-62.
- RESZKA, K., BRITIGAN, B. Doxorubicin inhibits oxidation of 2,2'-azino-bis(3ethylbenzothiazoline-6-sulfonate) (ABTS) by a lactoperoxidase/H(2)O(2) system by reacting with ABTS-derived radical. In: *Arch Biochem Biophys*. 2007., vol. 466, nr. 2, pp. 164-71.
- KRUIDERING, M., VAN DE WATER B., DE HEER, E., MULDER, G., NAGELKERKE, J. Cisplatin-induced nephrotoxicity in porcine proximal tubular cells: mitochondrial dysfunction by inhibition of complexes I to IV of the respiratory chain In: *The Journal of Pharmacology and Experimental Therapeutics*, 1997. vol. 280, nr. 2, pp. 638-49.
- ZHANG, J., LINDUP, W. Cisplatin nephrotoxicity: decreases in mitochondrial protein sulphydryl concentration and calcium uptake by mitochondria from rat renal cortical slices. In: *Biochem Pharmacol*, 1994. vol. 7, p. 1127–1135.
- KAIAFA, G., SAOULI, Z., DIAMANTIDI S, M., KONTONINAS, Z., et al. Copper levels in patients with hematological malignancies. In: *Intern Med*, 2012. vol. 8, nr. 23, pp. 738-41.
- PAN, Q., KLEER, C., VAN, GOLEN, K., IRANI, J., et al., Copper deficiency induced by tetrathiomolybdate suppresses tumor growth and angiogenesis In: *Cancer Res*, 2002, vol. 62, nr. 17, pp. 4854-9.
- 9. GULEA, A., POIRIER, D., ROY, J., STAVILA V., et al. In vitro antileukemia, antibacterial and antifungal activities of some 3d metal complexes: Chemical synthesis and structure activity relationships In: *Journal of Enzyme Inhibition and Medicinal Chemistry*, 2008. vol. 23, nr. 6, pp. 806-818.

- VENKATESWARA RAO, J., SRIKANTH, K., K.AREPALLI, S., GUNDA, V. Toxic effects of acephate on *Paramecium caudatum* with special emphasis on morphology, behaviour, and generation time In: *Pesticide Biochemistry and Physiology*, 2006. vol. 86, nr. 3, pp. 131-137.
- BERRY, S., GIRALDO, N., NGUYEN, P., GREEN, B., et al. Correction to: 33rd Annual Meeting & Pre-Conference Programs of the Society for Immunotherapy of Cancer In:*J Immunother Cancer*, 2019 . vol. 7, nr. 1, p. 46.
- No authors listed, 33rd Annual Meeting & Pre-Conference Programs of the Society for Immunotherapy of Cancer (SITC 2018) : Washington, D.C., USA. 2019 In: *J Immunother Cancer*, vol. 7, nr. 1, p. 46.
- GHIM, SJ., BASU, PS., JENSON, A. Cervical Cancer: Etiology, Pathogenesis, Treatment, and Future Vaccines. In: *Asian Pac J Cancer Prev.* 2002. vol. 3, nr. 3, pp. 207-214.
- 14. DENKO, NC. Hypoxia, HIF1 and glucose metabolism in the solid tumour. In: *Nat Rev Cancer*, 2008. vol. 8, nr. 9, pp. 705-13.
- 15. PEPPICELLI, S. Potential Role of HLA Class I Antigens in the Glycolytic Metabolism and Motility of Melanoma Cells. In: *Cancers (Basel)*, 2019. vol. 11, nr. 9, p. 1249.
- CROCE, CM. Molecular origins of cancer: oncogenes and cancer In: *Med.* 2008. vol. 358, p. 502–511.
- HEMMINKI, K., MUTANEN, P. Gene.tic epidemiology of multistage carcinogenesis. In: *Mutat Res.* 2001, vol. 473, nr. 1, pp. 11-21
- 18. BIECHE, I., TOZLU, S., GIRAULT, I., et al. Identification of a three–gene expression signature of poor-prognosis breast carcinoma. In: *Mol Cancer*, 2004. vol. 3, nr. 1, p. 37.
- WANG, Y., KLIJN, JG., ZHANG, Y., et al., Gene-expression profiles to predict distant metastasis of lymph-node-negative primary breast cancer. In: *Lancet*, 2005. vol. 365, nr. 9460, p. 671–679.
- SORLIE, T., PEROU, CM., TIBSHIRANI, R., et al., Gene expression patterns of breast carcinomas distinguish tumor subclasses with clinical implications In: *Proc Natl Acad Sci* USA, 2001. vol. 98, nr. 19, p. 10869–10874.
- 21. LENGAUER, C., KINZLER, KW., VOGELSTEIN, B. Genetic instability in colorectal cancers. In: *Nature*, 1997. vol. 386, nr. 6625, p. 623–627.

- 22. HAYFLICK, L. The cell biology of aging In: *Invest Dermatol*, т. 73, nr. 1, pp. 8-14, 1979.
- 23. MALLETTE, F. The DNA damage signaling pathway connects oncogenic stress to cellular senescence. In: *Cell Cycle*, 2007. vol. 6, nr. 15, pp. 1831-6.
- 24. HARLEY, CB., FUTCHER, AB., GREIDER, CW. Telomeres shorten during ageing of human fibroblasts. In: *Nature*, 1990. vol. 345, nr. 6274, pp. 458-60.
- PERERA, ON., SOBINOFF, AP., TEBER, ET., HARMAN, A., MARITZ, MF., YANG, SF., et al. Telomerase promotes formation of a telomere protective complex in cancer cells. In: *Sci Adv.*, 2019. vol. 5, nr. 10, p. 4409.
- 26. WANG, J., XIE, L.Y., ALLAN, S., BEACH, D., HANNON, G. Myc activates telomerase. In: *Genes Dev*, 1998. vol. 12, nr. 12, pp. 1769-1774
- BODNAR, AG., OUELLETTE, M., FROLKIS, M., HOLT, SE., et al. Extension of lifespan by introduction of telomerase into normal human cells. In: *Science*, 1998. vol. 279, nr. 5349, pp. 349-52.
- SHAY, JW. Telomerase in human development and cancer. In: *Cell Physiol*, 1997. vol. 173, nr. 2, pp. 266-70.
- KLINGELHUTZ, AJ., FOSTER, SA., MCDOUGALL, JK. Telomerase activation by the E6 gene product of human papillomavirus type 16. In: *Nature*, 1996. vol. 380, nr. 6569, pp. 82-79
- SHEN, Y., WHITE, E. p53-Dependent apoptosis pathways. In: Adv Cancer Res, 2001. vol. 82, p. 55–84.
- KIYONO, T., FOSTER, SA., KOOP, JI., MCDOUGALL, JK., et al. Both Rb/p16INK4a inactivation and telomerase activity are required to immortalize human epithelial cells. In: *Nature*, 1998. vol. 396, nr. 6706, pp. 84-88.
- CHADENEAU, C., SIEGEL, P., HARLEY, CB., MULLER, WJ., BACCHETTI, S. Telomerase activity in normal and malignant murine tissues. In: *Oncogene*, 1995. vol. 11, nr. 5, pp. 893-8.
- SUGRUE, MM., SHIN, DY., LEE, SW., AARONSON, SA. Wild-type p53 triggers a rapid senescence program in human tumor cells lacking functional p53. In: *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*, 1997. vol. 94, nr. 18, pp. 9648-53.
- 34. SHERR, CJ. Tumor surveillance via the ARF-p53 pathway. In: Genes Dev, 1998. vol. 12,

nr. 19, pp. 2984-91.

- 35. VEIKKOLA, T., ALITALO, K. VEGFs, receptors and angiogenesis. In: *Semin Cancer Biol*, 1999. vol. 9, nr. 3, pp. 211-20.
- FOLKMAN, J. Role of angiogenesis in tumor growth and metastasis. In: *Semin Oncol.*, 2002. vol. 29, nr. 6, pp. 15-18.
- POUR, L., HÁJEK, R., BUCHLER, T., MAISNAR, V., SMOLEJ, L. Angiogenesis and antiangiogenic cancer therapy. In: *Vnitr Lek*, 2004. vol. 50, nr. 12, pp. 930-938.
- HALLETT, RM., HUANG, C., MOTAZEDIAN, A., AUF DER MAUER, S., POND, GR,, et al. Treatment-induced cell cycle kinetics dictate tumor response to chemotherapy. In: *Oncotarget*, 2015. vol. 6, nr. 9, pp. 7040-52.
- 39. KENNETH, A., Chemotherapy-Associated Oxidative Stress: Impact on Chemotherapeutic Effectiveness. In: *Integr Cancer Ther*, 2004. т. 3, nr. 4, pp. 294-300
- YOKOYAMA, C., SUEYOSHI, Y., EMA, M., MORI, Y., et al.Induction of oxidative stress by anticancer drugs in the presence and absence of cells. In: *Oncol Lett*, 2017, vol. 14, nr. 5, pp. 6066-6070.
- NARANJO, CA., BUSTO, U., SELLERS, EM., SANDOR, P., et al. A method for estimating the probability of adverse drug reactions. In: *Clin Pharmacol Ther*, 1981. vol. 30, nr. 2, pp. 239-245.
- 42. KIRKIZ, S., YARALI, N., ARMAN BILIR, O., TUNC, B. Metformin-induced hemolytic anemia. In: *Med Princ Pract.*, 2014. vol. 23, nr. 2, pp. 183-185.
- GRILLO, M., HONG, J., KOSURI, S., VERMA, R. Cetirizine as a Causative Agent for Drug Induced Methemoglobinemia: A Case Report and Review. In: *Pediatr Pharmacol Ther.*, 2019. vol. 24, nr. 6, pp. 538-541.
- 44. HON Y.Y., SUN H., DEJAM A., GLADWIN M.T. Characterization of erythrocytic uptake and release and disposition pathways of nitrite, nitrate, methemoglobin, and ironnitrosyl hemoglobin in the human circulation. In: *Drug Metab. Dispos*, 2010. nr. 38, p. 1707–1713.
- EL-HUSSEINI, A., AZAROV, N. Is threshold for treatment of methemoglobinemia the same for all? A case report and literature review. In: *Am J Emerg Med*, 2010. vol. 28, nr. 6, pp. 748.e5-748.e10.
- 46. TOKER, I., YESILARAS, M., TUR, FC., TOKTAS, R. Methemoglobinemia caused by

dapsone overdose: Which treatment is best? In: *Turk J Emerg Med.* 2016. vol. 15, nr. 4, pp. 182-184.

- 47. JAFFEY, JA., READING, NS., GIGER, U., ABDULMALIK, O., et al. Clinical, metabolic, and genetic characterization of hereditary methemoglobinemia caused by cytochrome b5 reductase deficiency in cats. In: *Vet Intern Med.* 2019. *vol.* 33, nr. 6, pp. 2725-2731.
- CIZKOVA, K., KONIECZNA, A., ERDOSOVA, B., LICHNOVSKA, R., EHRMANN, J. Peroxisome proliferator-activated receptors in regulation of cytochromes P450: new way to overcome multidrug resistance? In: *Biomed Biotechnol*, 2012. T. 656428, nr. PMID: 23193364.
- KUNOS, CA., RADIVOYEVITCH, T., INGALLS, ST., HOPPEL, CL. Management of 3-aminopyridine-2-carboxaldehyde thiosemicarbazone-induced methemoglobinemia. In: *Future Oncol.*, 2012. vol. 8, nr. 2, pp. 145-150.
- UMBEIT, J. Methemoglobin it's not just blue: a concise review. In: *Hematol*, 2007. vol. 82, p. 134–144.
- NASCIMENTO, TS., PEREIRA, RO., DE MELLO, HL., COSTA, J. Methemoglobinemia: from diagnosis to treatment. In:*Rev Bras Anestesiol*, 2008. vol. 58, nr. 6, pp. 651-664.
- BULBARELLI, A., VALENTINI, A., DESILVESTRIS, M., CAPPELLINI, M., BORGESE, N. An erythroid-specific transcript generates the soluble form of NADHcytochrome b5 reductase in humans. In: *Blood.* 1998. vol. 92, p. 310–319.
- 53. POILLET-PEREZ, L., DESPOUY, G., DELAGE-MOURROUX, R., BOYER-GUITTAUT, M. Interplay between ROS and autophagy in cancer cells, from tumor initiation to cancer therapy. In: *Redox Biol.* 2015, vol. 4, pp. 184-192.
- HALLIWELL, B. Gutteridge JMC, Free radicals in biology and medicine. In: New York: Oxford University Press, 2015.
- 55. GULEA A.P., GUDUMAC V.S., GARBUZ O.S., CEBOTARI D.Y., SPINU I.C., PIRVU O.I., SARDARI V.V., TAGADIUC O.C., GOSTEV I.V., SPINU C.I., SCOFERTA P.G. Antiproliferative and antioxidant activity of nitrato-[4-(3,4dimethylphenyl)-2-(2-oxo-3-methoxybenzylidene) hydrazinecarbothioamido]copper In: *Международный научно-исследовательский журнал*, 2018. vol. 2, nr. 68, pp. 19-22.
- 56. WILLIAM, J. LOWN. Molecular mechanisms of action of anticancer agents involving

free radical intermediates. In: *Advances in Free Radical Biology & Medicine, Elsevier,* 1985. vol. 1, nr. 2, pp. 225-264.

- 57. GILLE, L., NOHL, H. Analyses of the molecular mechanism of adriamycin-induced cardiotoxicity. In: *Free Radic Biol Med*, 1997. vol. 23, nr. 5, pp. 775-782.
- KLAUNIG, JE., KAMENDULIS, LM. The role of oxidative stress in carcinogenesis. In: Annu Rev Pharmacol Toxicol, 2004. vol. 44, p. 239–67.
- 59. GILLET, JP., GOTTESMAN, MM. Mechanisms of multidrug resistance in cancer. In: *Methods Mol Biol.* 2010. т. 596, pp. 47-76.
- KHAN, MA., TANIA, M., ZHANG, D., CHEN, H. Antioxidant enzymes and cancer. 2010;22:87–92. In: *Chin J Cancer Re*, 2010. vol. 22, pp. 87-92.
- VALKO, M., IZAKOVIC, M., MAZUR, M., RHODES, CJ., TELSER, J. Role of oxygen radicals in DNA damage and cancer incidence. In: *Mol Cell Biochem.*, 2004. vol. 266, nr. 1-2, p. 37–56.
- 62. LAMB. DC,, LEI. L,, WARRILOW, AG., et al. LepeshevaThe first virally encoded cytochrome p450. In: *Journal of Virology*, 2009. vol. 83, nr. 16, p. 8266–9.
- 63. GONZALEZ, FJ., GELBOIN, HV. Human cytochromes P450: evolution and cDNAdirected expression. In: *Environmental Health Perspectives*, 1992. vol. 98, p. 81–5.
- MEUNIER, B., DE, VISSER, SP., SHAIK, S. Mechanism of oxidation reactions catalyzed by cytochrome p450 enzymes. In: *Chemical Reviews*, 2004. vol. 104, nr. 9, p. 3947–80.
- BERTHOLEE, D., MARING, JG., VAN KUILENBURG, AB. Genotypes Affecting the Pharmacokinetics of Anticancer Drugs. In: *Clin Pharmacokinet*, 2017. vol. 56, nr. 4, pp. 317-337.
- 66. DAVIES, KJ. Oxidative stress, antioxidant defenses, and damage removal, repair, and replacement systems. In: *IUBMB Life*, 2000. vol. 50, p. 279–289.
- SINGH, H., LATA, S., DHOLE, T., GANGAKHEDKAR, R. Occurrence of CYP2B6 516G>T polymorphism in patients with ARV-associated hepatotoxicity. In: *Mol Genet Genomic Med.*, 2019. vol. 7, nr. 4, p. e00598.
- 68. APPELQVIST, H., WÄSTER, P., KÅGEDA, K., ÖLLINGER, K. The lysosome: from waste bag to potential therapeutic target. In: *Mol Cell Biol.*, 2013. vol. 5, nr. 4, pp. 214-26
- 69. HANSEN, JM., GO, Y., JONES, DP. Nuclear and mitochondrial compartmentation of

oxidative stress and redox signaling. In: *Annual Review of Pharmacology and Toxicology*, 2006. vol. 46, p. 215–234.

- ZHITOMIRSKY, B., ASSARAF, YG. Lysosomes as mediators of drug resistance in cancer. In: *Drug Resist Updat.*, 2016. vol. 24, pp. 23-33.
- WEINSTEIN, RS., JAKATE, SM., DOMINGUEZ, JM., et al. Relationship of the expression of the multidrug resistance gene product (P-glycoprotein) in human colon carcinoma to local tumor aggressiveness and lymph node metastasis. In: *Cancer Res.*, 1991. vol. 51, nr. 10, pp. 2720-6.
- HIGGINS, CF., CALLAGHAN, R., LINTON, KJ., ROSENBERG, MF., FORD, RC. Structure of the multidrug resistance P-glycoprotein. In: *Semin Cancer Biol.*, 1997. vol. 8, nr. 3, pp. 135-42.
- 73. FOJO, AT., UEDA, K., SLAMON, DJ., POPLACK, DG., GOTTESMAN, MM., PASTAN, I. Expression of a multidrug-resistance gene in human tumors and tissues. In: *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A.*, 1987. vol. 84, nr. 1, pp. 265-9.
- 74. DOHSE, M., SCHARENBERG, C., SHUKLA, S., ROBEY, RW., et al. Comparison of ATP-binding cassette transporter interactions with the tyrosine kinase inhibitors imatinib, nilotinib, and dasatinib. In: *Drug Metab Dispos.*, 2010. vol. 38, nr. 8, pp. 1371-80.
- 75. ZHOU, W., CHEN, YW., LIU, X., CHU, P., LORIA, S., et al. Expression of DNA translesion synthesis polymerase η in head and neck squamous cell cancer predicts resistance to gemcitabine and cisplatin-based chemotherapy. In: *PLoS One*, 2013. vol. 8, nr. 12, p. e83978.
- 76. SHIBO, L., KATRIN, H., ZHI, X., NAN, J., UWE, G., ELVIRA, M., et al. MEK inhibition induced downregulation of MRP1 and MRP3 expression in experimental hepatocellular carcinoma. In: *Cancer Cell International volume*, 2013. vol. 13, nr. 3, pp. 1-10.
- 77. YEO, W., MOK, TS., ZEE, B., LEUNG, TW., et al. A randomized phase III study of doxorubicin versus cisplatin/interferon alpha-2b/doxorubicin/fluorouracil (PIAF) combination chemotherapy for unresectable hepatocellular carcinoma. In: *Natl Cancer Inst.*, 2005. vol. 97, nr. 20, pp. 1532-8.
- SRIVASTAVA, AK., HAN, C., ZHAO, R., CUI, T., et al. Enhanced expression of DNA polymerase eta contributes to cisplatin resistance of ovarian cancer stem cells. In: *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 2015. vol. 112, nr. 14, pp. 4411-6.

- WANG, H., ZHANG, SY., WANG, S., LU, J., et al. REV3L confers chemoresistance to cisplatin in human gliomas: the potential of its RNAi for synergistic therapy. In: *Neuro Oncol*, 2009. vol. 11, nr. 6, pp. 790-802.
- SHI, TY., YANG, L., YANG, G., TU, XY., et al. DNA polymerase ζ as a potential biomarker of chemoradiation resistance and poor prognosis for cervical cancer. In: *Med Oncol*, 2013. vol. 30, nr. 2, p. 500.
- LIN, X., OKUDA, T., TRANG, J., HOWELL, SB. Human REV1 modulates the cytotoxicity and mutagenicity of cisplatin in human ovarian carcinoma cells. In: *Mol Pharmacol*, 2006. т. 69, nr. 5, pp. 1748-54.
- XIE, K., DOLES, J., HEMANN, MT., WALKER, GC. Error-prone translesion synthesis mediates acquired chemoresistance. In: *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A.*, 2010. т. 107, nr. 48, pp. 20792-7.
- ОСИПОВ, Ю. Большая российская энциклопедия, Россия: Научное издательство, 2004—2017.
- HASSAN, M., WATARI, H., ABUALMAATY, A., OHBA, Y., SAKURAGI, N. Apoptosis and Molecular Targeting Therapy in Cancer. In: *Biomed Res Int.*, 2014. p. 150845.
- 85. SINGH, Y., PALOMBO, M., SINKO, PJ. Recent Trends in Targeted Anticancer Prodrug and Conjugate Design. In: *Curr Med Chem*, 2008. vol. 15, nr. 18, p. 1802–1826.
- SMETS, F., POTTIE, G., DE BRABANDER, HF, BATJOENS, P., et al. By-products of steroid synthesis: a cause of interferences in thin-layer chromatography residue analysis. In: *Analyst.*, 1994. vol. 119, nr. 12, pp. 2571-5.
- MOUDI, M., GO, R., YIEN, CY., NAZRE, M. Vinca alkaloids. In: *Prev Med*, 2013. vol. 4, nr. 11, pp. 1231-5.
- LEE, CT., HUANG, YW., YANG, CH., HUANG, KS. Drug delivery systems and combination therapy by using vinca alkaloids. In: *Curr Top Med Chem*, 2015. vol. 15, nr. 15, pp. 1491-500.
- PELTIER, S., OGER, JM., LAGARCE, F., COUET, W., BENOÎT, JP. Enhanced oral paclitaxel bioavailability after administration of paclitaxel-loaded lipid nanocapsules. In: *Pharm Res*, 2006. vol. 23, nr. 6, pp. 1243-50.
- 90. XU, H., LV, M., TIAN, X. A review on hemisynthesis, biosynthesis, biological activities, mode of action, and structure-activity relationship of podophyllotoxins: 2003-2007. In:

Curr Med Chem, 2009. vol. 16, nr. 3, pp. 327-49.

- 91. CLARK, PI., SLEVIN, ML. The clinical pharmacology of etoposide and teniposide. In: *Clin Pharmacokinet.*, 1987. vol. 12, nr. 4, pp. 223-52.
- 92. HERNÁDI, F., PÓLYA, K, DARÓCZY, A. Production of L-asparaginase isoenzymes by strains E. coli. In: *Arch Mikrobiol.*, 1971. vol. 77, nr. 2, pp. 151-4.
- KOBA., M., KONOPA. J. Actinomycin D and its mechanisms of action. In: *Postepy Hig*, 2005.vol. 59, pp. 290-8.
- SOBELL, HM. Actinomycin and DNA transcription. In: *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 1985. vol. 82, nr. 16, pp. 5328-31.
- 95. SINGAL, PK., DEALLY, CM., WEINBERG, LE. Subcellular effects of Adriamycin in the heart: a concise review. In: *Mol Cell Cardiol*, 1987. т. 19, р. 817–828.
- BRODER. H., GOTTLIEB. RA., LEPOR. NE. Chemotherapy and cardiotoxicity. In: *Rev Cardiovasc Med*, 2008. vol. 9, p. 75–8.
- 97. SAILESH, M., NARAYAN, P., et al. Limitations in doxorubicin production from Streptomyces peucetius In: *Microbiological Research*, 2010. vol. 165, nr. 5, pp. 427-435.
- 98. CARRESI, C., MUSOLINO, V., GLIOZZI, M., MAIUOLO, J., et al. Anti-oxidant effect of bergamot polyphenolic fraction counteracts doxorubicin-induced cardiomyopathy: Role of autophagy and c-kitposCD45negCD31neg cardiac stem cell activation. In: *Mol Cell Cardiol*, 2018. vol. 119, pp. 10-18.
- 99. SINGAL, PK., SEGSTRO, RJ., SINGH, RP., KUTRYK, MJ. Changes in lysosomal morphology and enzyme activities during the development of Adriamycin-induced cardiomyopathy. In: *Cardiol*, 1985. vol. 1, pp. 139-147.
- 100. GEWIRTZ, DA. A critical evaluation of the mechanisms of action proposed for the antitumor effects of the anthracycline antibiotics adriamycin and daunorubicin. In: *Biochem Pharmacol*, 1999. vol. 57, nr. 7, pp. 727-41.
- 101. OKTAY, T., PORNSAK, S., CRISPIN, R. D. Doxorubicin: an update on anticancer molecular action, toxicity and novel drug delivery systems. In: *Journal of Pharmacy and Pharmacology*, 2012. vol. 62, nr. 2.
- 102. CARVALHO, C., SANTOS, RX., CARDOSO, S., CORREIA, S., et al. Doxorubicin: the good, the bad and the ugly effect. In: *Curr Med Chem*, 2009. vol. 16, nr. 25, pp. 3267-85.
- 103. HILMER, SN., COGGER, VC., MULLER, M., LE COUTEUR, DG. The hepatic

pharmacokinetics of doxorubicin and liposomal doxorubicin. In: *Drug Metab Dispos.*, 2004. vol. 32, nr. 8, pp. 794-9.

- 104. CLAUSSEN, C.A., LONG, E.C. Nucleic Acid Recognition by Metal Complexes of Bleomycin. In: *Chem. Rev.*, 1999. vol. 99, nr. 9, p. 2797–2816.
- 105. SHEN B., DU L.C., SANCHEZ C., EDWARDS D.J., CHEN M., MURRELL J.M, The biosynthetic gene cluster for the anticancer drug bleomycin from Streptomyces verticillus ATCC15003 as a model for hybrid peptide-polyketide natural product biosynthesis. In: *Journal of Industrial Microbiology & Biotechnology*, 2001. vol. 27, nr. 6, p. 378–385.
- 106. KERSEY, JP., VIVIAN, AJ., Mitomycin and amniotic membrane: a new method of reducing adhesions and fibrosis in strabismus surgery. In: *Strabismus*, 2008. vol. 16, nr. 3, p. 116–118.
- 107. TOMASZ, M. Mitomycin C: small, fast and deadly (but very selective). In: *Chemistry and Biology*, 1995. vol. 2, nr. 9, pp. 575-579.
- 108. DE LISI, V., COCCONI, G., ANGELINI, F., CAVICCHI, F., et al. The combination of cisplatin, doxorubicin, and mitomycin (PAM) compared with the FAM regimen in treating advanced gastric carcinoma. A phase II randomized trial of the Italian Oncology Group for Clinical Research. In: *Cancer*, 1996. vol. 77, nr. 2, pp. 245-50.
- 109. DRABLØS, F., FEYZI, E., AAS, PA., VAAGBØ, CB., et al. Alkylation damage in DNA and RNA—repair mechanisms and medical significance. In: *DNA Repair (Amst)*, 2004. vol. 3, nr. 11, pp. 1389-407.
- 110. NATSUKO, K., AKIHISA, T., KOJI, O., et al. DNA Damage Induced by Alkylating Agents and Repair Pathways. In: *Journal of Nucleic Acids*. Article ID 543531, 2010nr., p. 7. doi:10.4061/2010/543531.
- 111. PETERS, GJ., VAN DER WILT, C., VAN MOORSEL, CJ., et al. Basis for effective combination cancer chemotherapy with antimetabolites. In: *Pharmacol*, 2000. vol. 87, nr. 2-3, p. 227–53.
- 112. RAJAGOPALAN, PT., ZHANG, Z., MCCOURT, L., DWYER, M., et al. Interaction of dihydrofolate reductase with methotrexate: ensemble and single-molecule kinetics. In: *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 2002. vol. 99, nr. 21, pp. 13481-6.
- 113. GOODSELL, D. The Molecular Perspective: Methotrexate. In: *The Oncologist*, 1999. vol. 4, nr. 4, pp. 340-1,
- 114. WESSELS, JA., et al. Recent insights in the pharmacological actions of methotrexate in

the treatment of rheumatoid arthritis. In: Rheumatology, 2008. vol. 47, nr. 3, p. 249–55.

- 115. YANG, Y., ZHOU, S., OUYANG, R., et al. Improvement in the Anticancer Activity of 6-Mercaptopurine via Combination with Bismuth(III). In: *Chem Pharm Bull (Tokyo)*, 2016. vol. 64, nr. 11, pp. 1539-1545.
- 116. LIU, C., JANKE, LJ., YANG, JJ., EVANS, WE., et al. Differential effects of thiopurine methyltransferase (TPMT) and multidrug resistance-associated protein gene 4 (MRP4) on mercaptopurine toxicity. In: *Cancer Chemother Pharmacol*, 2017. vol. 80, nr. 2, pp. 287-293.
- 117. MOORE, AY. Clinical applications for topical 5-fluorouracil in the treatment of dermatological disorders. In: *The Journal of Dermatological Treatment*, 2009. vol. 20, nr. 6, p. 328–35.
- 118. CHHIKARA, BS., PARANG, K. Development of cytarabine prodrugs and delivery systems for leukemia treatment. In: *Expert Opin Drug Deliv*, 2010. vol. 7, nr. 12, pp. 1399-414.
- 119. KOÇ. A,, WHEELER. LJ,, MATHEWS. CK,, MERRILL. GF. Hydroxyurea arrests DNA replication by a mechanism that preserves basal dNTP pools. In: *Biol Chem*, 2004. vol. 279, nr. 1, pp. 223-30.
- 120. BROWN. NC,, REICHARD. P. Role of effector binding in allosteric control of ribonucleoside diphosphate reductase. In: *Mol Biol*, 1969. vol. 46, pp. 39-55.
- 121. KOLBERG, M., STRAND, KR., GRAFF, P., ANDERSSON, KK. Structure, function, and mechanism of ribonucleotide reductases. In: *Biochim Biophys Acta*, 2004. vol. 1699, pp. 1-34.
- 122. ZSENGELLÉR, ZK., ELLEZIAN, L., BROWN, D., et al. Cisplatin nephrotoxicity involves mitochondrial injury with impaired tubular mitochondrial enzyme activity. In: *Histochem Cytochem*, 2012. vol. 60, nr. 7, pp. 521-9.
- 123. BRADY, HR., KONE, BC., STROMSKI, ME., et al. Mitochondrial injury: an early event in cisplatin toxicity to renal proximal tubules. In: *Physiol*, 1990. vol. 258, nr. 5, p. F1181– F1187.
- 124. ZHANG, B., RAMESH, G., NORBURY, CC., REEVES, WB. Cisplatin induced nephrotoxicity is mediated by tumor necrosis factor-alpha produced by renal parenchymal cells. In: *Kidney Int*, 2007. vol. 72, pp. 37-44.
- 125. CHIRINO, YI., PEDRAZA-CHAVERRI, J. Role of oxidative and nitrosative stress in

cisplatin-induced nephrotoxicity. In: Exp Toxicol Pathol, 2009. vol. 61, nr. 3, p. 223-242.

- 126. AGGARWAL, SK. A histochemical approach to the mechanism of action of cisplatin and its analogues. In: *Histochem Cytochem*, 1993. vol. 7, p. 1053–1073.
- 127. DENOYER, D., MASALDAN, S., LA FONTAINE, S., CATER, MA. Targeting copper in cancer therapy: 'Copper That Cancer'. In: *Metallomics*, 2015. vol. 7, nr. 11, pp. 1459-76.
- 128. GUPTE, A., MUMPER, RJ. Elevated copper and oxidative stress in cancer cells as a target for cancer treatment. In: *Cancer Treat Rev*, 2009. vol. 35, nr. 1, pp. 32-46.
- 129. SCHWARTZ, MK. Role of trace elements in cancer. In: *Cancer Res*, 1975. vol. 11, nr. 2, pp. 3481-7.
- 130. MAJUMDER, S., CHATTERJEE, S., PAL, S., et al. The role of copper in drug-resistant murine and human tumors. In: *Biometals*, 2009. vol. 22, nr. 2, pp. 377-84.
- 131. MAJUMDER, S., DUTTA, P., CHOUDHURI, SK. The role of copper in development of drug resistance in murine carcinoma. In: *Med Chem*, 2005. vol. 1, nr. 6, pp. 563-73.
- 132. DENOYER, D., CLATWORTHY, SA., MASALDAN, S., et al. Heterogeneous copper concentrations in cancerous human prostate tissues. In: *Prostate*, 2015.vol. 75, nr. 14, pp. 1510-7.
- 133. BADET, J., SONCIN, F., GUITTON, JD., et al. Specific binding of angiogenin to calf pulmonary artery endothelial cells. In: *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 1989. vol. 86, nr. 21, pp. 8427-31.
- 134. SONCIN, F., GUITTON, JD., CARTWRIGHT, T., BADET, J. Interaction of human angiogenin with copper modulates angiogenin binding to endothelial cells. In: *Biochem Biophys Res Commun*, 1997, vol. 236, nr. 3, pp. 604-10.
- 135. FENG, W., YE, F., XUE, W., ZHOU, Z., KANG, YJ. Copper regulation of hypoxiainducible factor-1 activity. In: *Mol Pharmacol*, 2009. vol. 75, nr. 1, pp. 174-82.
- 136. QIU, L., DING, X., ZHANG, Z., KANG, YJ. Copper is required for cobalt-induced transcriptional activity of hypoxia-inducible factor-1. In: *Pharmacol Exp Ther*, 2012. vol. 342, nr. 2, pp. 561-7.
- 137. ITOH, S., KIM, HW., NAKAGAWA, O., OZUMI, K., et al. Novel role of antioxidant-1 (Atox1) as a copper-dependent transcription factor involved in cell proliferation. In: *Biol Chem*, 2008. vol. 283, nr. 14, pp. 9157-67.

- 138. KOHNO, T., URAO, N., ASHINO, T., SUDHAHAR, V., et al. Novel role of copper transport protein antioxidant-1 in neointimal formation after vascular injury. In: *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol*, 2013. vol. 33, nr. 4, pp. 805-13.
- 139. PAHONŢU, E., ILIEŞ, DC., SHOVA, S., OPREAN, C., PĂUNESCU, V., OLARU, OT., RĂDULESCU, FŞ., GULEA, A., ROŞU, T., DRĂGĂNESCU, D. Synthesis, Characterization, Antimicrobial and Antiproliferative Activity Evaluation of Cu(II), Co(II), Zn(II), Ni(II) and Pt(II) Complexes with Isoniazid-Derived Compound. In: *Molecules*, 2017. vol. 22, nr. 4, p. E650.
- 140. PAHONŢU, E., PARASCHIVESCU, C., ILIEŞ, DC., POIRIER, D., OPREAN, C., PĂUNESCU, V., GULEA, A., ROŞU, T., BRATU, O. Synthesis and Characterization of Novel Cu(II), Pd(II) and Pt(II) Complexes with 8-Ethyl-2hydroxytricyclo(7.3.1.0(2,7))tridecan-13-one-thiosemicarbazone: Antimicrobial and in Vitro Antiproliferative Activity. In: *Molecules*, 2016. vol. 21, nr. 5, p. E674.
- 141. GARBUZ, O., PANTEA, V., USATAIA, I., GRAUR, V., TSAPKOV, V., SARDARI, V., TAGADIUC, O., GUDUMAC, V., GULEA, A. Coordination compound as inhibitor of superoxid radical. In: *Buletinul Academiei de Ştiinţe a Moldovei. Ştiinţele vieţii.*, 2019. vol. 3, nr. 339, pp. 64-68.
- 142. PAHONTU, E., JULEA, F., ROSU, T., PURCAREA, V., CHUMAKOV, Y., PETRENCO, P., GULEA, A. Antibacterial, antifungal and *in vitro* antileukaemia activity of metal complexes with thiosemicarbazones. In: *Cell Mol Med*, 2015. vol. 19, nr. 4, pp. 865-78.
- 143. GULEA, Aurelian (MD), ISTRATI, Dorin (MD), ȚAPCOV, Victor (MD), GARBUZ,
 Olga (MD), GUDUMAC, Valentin (MD), GROPPA, Stanislav (MD). Utilizare a di(μ-s)bis{(4-aminobenzensulfamid)-cloro-{N-[fenil-2-(piridin-2-ilmetiliden)hidrazin-1carbotioamido)(1-)]}cupru în calitate de inhibitor al proliferării celulelor cancerigene. Brevet de invenție. 4620 C1, MD, C07F 1/08. Cererea depusă 11.04.2018, BOPI 2/2019.
- 144. PAHONŢU, E., PROKS, M., SHOVA, S., LUPAŞCU, G., ILIEŞ, D., BĂRBUCEANU, Ş., SOCEA, L., BADEA, M., PĂUNESCU, V., ISTRATI, D., GULEA, A. Synthesis, characterization, molecular docking studies and *in vitro* screening of new metal complexes with Schiff base as antimicrobial and antiproliferative agents. In: *Applied Organometallic Chemistry*, 2019. vol. 33, nr. 11, p. https://doi.org/10.1002/aoc.5185.
- 145. BALAN, G., BURDENIUC, O., USATAIA, I., GRAUR, V., CHUMAKOV, Y.,

PETRENKO, P., GUDUMAC, V., GULEA, A., PAHONTU, E. Novel 2-formylpyridine 4-allyl-S-methylisothiosemicarbazone and Zn(II), Cu(II), Ni(II) and Co(III) complexes: Synthesis, characterization, crystal structure, antioxidant, antimicrobial and antiproliferative activity. Applied *Organometallic* 2019. In: Chemistry, https://doi.org/10.1002/aoc.5423.

- 146. DENG, J., YU, P., ZHANG, Z., WANG, J., et al. Designing anticancer copper(II) complexes by optimizing 2-pyridine-thiosemicarbazone ligands In: *Med Chem*, 2018. vol. 158, pp. 442-452.
- 147. GARBUZ, O. In vitro anticancer activity of chloro(N-phenyl-N'-[(pyridin-2-yl)methylidene]carbamohydrazono-thioato)(4-aminobenzene-1-sulfonamide)copper. In: Studia Universitatis Moldaviae, 2019. vol. 6, nr. 116, pp. 70-76.
- 148. ILIESAB, D., SHOVAC, S., RADULESCUB, V., PAHONTUD, E., ROSUA, T. Synthesis, characterization, crystal structure and antioxidant activity of Ni(II) and Cu(II) complexes with 2-formilpyridine N(4)-phenylthiosemicarbazone. In: *Polyhedron*, 2015. vol. 97, nr. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.poly.2015.05.009, pp. 157-166.
- PAHONTU, E., FALA, V., GULEA, A., et al. Synthesis and Characterization of Some New Cu(II), Ni(II) and Zn(II)Complexes with Salicylidene Thiosemicarbazones: Antibacterial, Antifungal and *in Vitro* Antileukemia Activity. In: *Molecules*, 2013. vol. 18, pp. 8812-8836.
- 150. ALI, I., SHAH, MR., YOUSUF, S., AHMED, S., et al. Hemolytic and cellular toxicology of a sulfanilamide-based nonionic surfactant: a niosomal carrier for hydrophobic drugs. In: *Toxicol Res (Camb)*, 2018. vol. 7, nr. 5, pp. 771-778.
- 151. TACAR, O., SRIAMORNSAK, P., DASS, CR. Doxorubicin: an update on anticancer molecular action, toxicity and novel drug delivery systems. In: *Pharm Pharmacol*, 2013. vol. 65, nr. 2, pp. 157-70.
- 152. ELØBIETA, A., BOØENA, C., BEATA, G. et al. ESTIMATION OF DNA DAMAGE AND CYTOTOXICITY . In: *Acta Poloniae Pharmaceutica ñ Drug Research*, 2006. vol. 63, nr. 4, pp. 321-324.
- 153. MOSMANN T. Rapid Colorimetric Assay for Cellular Growth and Survival: Application to Proliferation and Cytotoxicity Assays. In: *Immunol Methods*, 1983. vol. 65, nr. 1-2, pp. 55-63.
- 154. PAHONTU, E., FALA, V., GULEA, A., POIRIER, D. et al. Synthesis and

Characterization of Some New Cu(II), Ni(II) and Zn(II) Complexes with Salicylidene Thiosemicarbazones: Antibacterial, Antifungal and *in Vitro* Antileukemia Activity. In: *Molecules*, 2013. vol. 18, nr. 8, pp. 8812-36.

- 155. ANOOPKUMAR-DUKIE, S., CAREY, JB. et al. Resazurin assay of radiation response in cultured cells. In: *Radiol.*, 2005. vol. 78, nr. 934, pp. 945-7.
- 156. PAHONTU, E., USATAIA, I., GRAUR, V., CHUMAKOV, Y., PETRENKO, P., GUDUMAC, V., GULEA, A. Synthesis, characterization, crystal structure of novel Cu (II), Co (III), Fe (III) and Cr (III) complexes with 2-hydroxybenzaldehyde-4-allyl-Smethylisothiosemicarbazone: Antimicrobial, antioxidant and *in vitro* antiproliferative activity. In: *Applied Organometallic Chemistry*, 2018. vol. 32, pp. 1-19.
- 157. GRAUR, V., GARBUZ, O., ZARICIUC, E., GUDUMAC, V., GULEA, A. Synthesis and biological activity of 2-formylpyridine N(4)-allyl-3-selenosemicarbazone and its copper coordination compound. In: *Journal of Academy of Sciences of Moldova. Life Sciences*, 2015.vol. 3, nr. 327, pp. 135-142.
- 158. KUMAR, K., DEKA, D., SINGH, A., MITRA, D.K., VANITHA, B.R., AND DADA, R. Predictive value of DNA integrity analysis in idiopathic recurrent pregnancy loss following spontaneous conception. In: *Assist. Reprod. Genet.*, 2012. nr. 29, pp. 861-867.
- 159. RE, R., PELLEGRINI, N., PROTEGGENTE, A., PANNALA, A., YANG, M., RICE-EVANS, C. Antioxidant activity applying an improved ABTS radical cation decolorization assay. In: *Free Radic Biol Med.*, 1999. vol. 26, nr. 9-10, pp. 1231-7.
- 160. GARBUZ, O., GRAUR, V., TAGADIUC, O., ANDRONACHE, L., SARDARI, V., GULEA, A., GUDUMAC, V. *In vitro* antiproliferative potential and antioxidant capacity of new coordination compounds. In: *International research journal.*, 2017.vol. 5, nr. 59, pp. 122-125.
- 161. BRAND-WILLIAMSM, E., CUVELIERC, BERSET, Use of a free radical method to evaluate antioxidant activity In: *LWT - Food Science and Technology*, 1995.vol. 28, nr. 1, pp. 25-30.
- 162. FUIOR, Arcadie (MD), FLOQUET, Sébastien (FR), CADOT, Emmanuel (FR), GARBUZ, Olga (MD), ȚAPCOV, Victor (MD), TODERAȘ, Ion (MD), GULEA, Aurelian (MD). Ansamblu supramolecular (NMe4)(C42 H70O35)[Mo10 O10 S10 (OH)11 (H2O)4]•27H2O care manifestă activitate antioxidantă. Brevet de invenție. 4644 C1, MD, C07F 11/00. Cererea depusă 22.03.2018, BOPI nr. 8/2019.
- 163. PRIOR, RL., HOANG, H., et al. Assays for hydrophilic and lipophilic antioxidant capacity (oxygen radical absorbance capacity (ORAC(FL))) of plasma and other biological and food samples. In: *Agric Food Chem.*, vol. 51, nr. 11, pp. 3273-9, 2003.
- 164. GULEA, A., GUDUMAC, V., GARBUZ, O., ANDRONACHE, L. *In vitro* antiproliferative activity and antioxidant capacity of new organometallic coordination compounds, rezults correlation analysis. In: *Buletinul AŞM. Ştiinţele vieţii.*, 2016. vol. 3, nr. 330, pp. 65-72.
- 165. KHAN, I., NISAR, M., EBAD, F., NADEEM, S., SAEED, M., et al. Anti-inflammatory activities of Sieboldogenin from Smilax china Linn.: experimental and computational studies. In: *Ethnopharmacol*, 2009. nr. 121, pp. 175-7.
- 166. MUHAMMAD, N., WAQAR, A., et al. Molecular simulations probing Kushecarpin A as a new lipoxygenase inhibitor. In: *Fitoterapia*, 2011. nr. 82, pp. 1008-11.
- 167. ANDRONACHE, L., GARBUZ, O., ȘVEȚ, I., GUDUMAC, V. *Metoda de determinare in vitro a viabilității și citotoxicității celulare*. Certificat de inovator nr. 5505. 2016
- 168. GARBUZ, O., SPINU, I., PIRVU, O., PINZARU, I., APOSTOL, M., GUDUMAC, V., GULEA, A. Anticancer, antioxidant and toxicity activities of new compounds along with their ability to include hemolysis and methemoglobin formation in human RBCs. *In: 4th French-Romanian Colloquium on Medicinal Chemistry, Iasi, Romania. October 5-7,* 2017, p. 46.
- 169. PANTEA, V., TAGADIUC, O., ANDRONACHE L., ȘTÎRBA O., GARBUZ O., GUDUMAC, V. Procedeu de dozare a niveluluide oxihemoglobina methemoglobina si sulfohemoglobina in aceiasi proba nr.5465.
- 170. TODERAŞ, Ion (MD), GULEA, Aurelian (MD), GUDUMAC, Valentin (MD), ROŞCOV, Elena (MD), GARBUZ, Olga (MD). Metodă de apreciere a toxicității substanțelor chimice. Brevet de invenție. 1279 Z, MD, G01N 1/28. Cererea depusă 23.05.2017, BOPI 8/2018.
- 171. TODERAŞ, I., GULEA, A., ROŞCOV, E., GARBUZ, O. Influența substanțelor coordinative metaloorganice asupra viabilității populației de *Paramecium caudatum*. *In: Buletinul AŞM. Ştiințele vieții*. 2016, Vol. 3(330), p. 109-115. Categoria B.
- 172. STANTON A. GLANTZ, BRYAN K. SLINKER, Primer of Applied Regression and Analysis of Variance. In: *McGraw Hill.*, 1990. vol. 1, p. 777.

- 173. Colin Cameron, A.; Windmeijer, Frank A.G, An R-squared measure of goodness of fit for some common nonlinear regression models. In: *Journal of Econometrics*, 1997. vol. 77, nr. 2, p. 1790–2.
- 174. AURELIAN GULEA, ANDRZEJ LIPKOWSKI, OLGA GARBUZ, JOANNA MATALINSKA, VICTOR ȚAPCOV.Brevet de invenție. 4349 C1, MD, C07C 337/08. Compusul N-(3-metoxifenil)-2-(piridin-2-ilmatilen)-hidrazincarbotioamidă-inhibitor al proliferării celulelor MeW-164 ale melanomului uman /, *Cererea depusă 23.06.2014*, *BOPI nr.06/2019*..
- 175. ANDRONACHE, L.; GARBUZ, O.; ȘVEȚ, I.; GUDUMAC, V. *Metoda de determinare in vitro a viabilității și citotoxicității celulare*. Certificat de inovator n. 5505. 2016.
- 176. ГУЛЯ, А., ГРАУР, В., ЧУМАКОВ, Ю., ПЕТРЕНКО, П., ГАРБУЗ, О., ЦАПКОВ, В., ГУДУМАК, В., Координационные соединения никеля(ii) с бис(4аллилтиосемикарбазоном) пентан-2,4-диона. In: *Журнал общей химии.*, 2020. vol. 90, nr. 1, pp. 143-150.
- 177. RUSNAC, R., RUSNAC, A., GARBUZ, O., GULEA A., Synthesis and structure of copper (ii) coordination compounds with 4-nsubstitute-thiosemicarbazone of 4-benzoil-5methyl-2-phenyl-2,4-dihidro-3h-pyrazol-3-one. In: *Antioxidant, Antimicrobial and Antitumor Properties*, 2019. nr. 22, pp. 5-14.
- 178. GARBUZ, O. In vitro antiproliferative activity of 2-formilpyridine N(4)phenylthiosemicarbazone and copper(II) complex [Cu(L)Cl] with 2-formylpyridine N(4)phenylthiosemicarbazone ligand. In: International Conference. Stiinte ale nature si exacte. Chimie si tehnologie chimica. 7-8 noembrie, 2019, Chisinau, Republica Moldova, p. 217-220.
- 179. USATAIA, I., GRAUR, V., ZARICIUC, E., GARBUZ, O., GULEA, A. Synthesis and biological activity of copper(II), nickel(II) and cobalt(III) coordination compounds with 2-benzoylpyridine N(4)-allyl-S-methylisothiosemicarbazone. In: *Journal of Academy of Sciences of Moldova*, 2018. vol. 2, nr. 335, pp. 103-112.
- 180. GULEA, A., TODERAS, I., GUDUMAC, V., TAPCOV, V., GARBUZ, O., ROSCOV, E., SARDARI, V., TAGADIUC, O. Anticancer and toxicity activities of new synthesized compound. In: *International research journal.*, 2017. vol. 12, nr. 66, pp. 107-110.
- 181. RYUICHIRO KOSHIMUNE, et al. Anti-tumor effect of bisphosphonate (YM529) on non-small cell lung cancer cell lines. In: *BMC Cancer*, 2007. vol. 7, nr. 8, pp. 1-8.

- 182. WALKER, P., SIKORSKA, M. Endonuclease activities, chromatin structure, and DNA degradation in apoptosis. In: *Biochem Cell Biol*, 1994. vol. 72, pp. 11-12.
- 183. PANDEY, S., WALKER, P., SIKORSKA, M. Separate pools of endonuclease activity are responsible for internucleosomal and high molecular mass DNA fragmentation during apoptosis. In:*Biochem Cell Biol*, 1994. vol. 72, pp. 11-12.
- 184. SHAMSUZZAMAN, KHAN A.A. et al. Synthesis, characterization, biological evaluation and molecular docking of steroidal spirothiazolidinones. In: *Journal of Molecular Structure*, 2015. vol. 1085, pp. 104-114.
- 185. TAGADIUC, V., ŞTÎRBA, O., ANDRONACHE, L., GARBUZ, O., POPA, V. Bioactive coordination compounds action on the intensity of the oxidative stress and antioxidant system activity in animals under physiological. *In: 3rd French-Romanian Colloquium on Medicinal Chemistry. Iaşi, Romania. October 30-31.* 2014, p.64.
- 186. GARBUZ, O. Activitatea antioxidantă a unor noi compuşi coordinativi bioactivi in vitro. Culegere de rezumate ştiințifice. In: Conferința ştiințifică anuală a colaboratorilor şi studenților. Chişinău, Moldova. 2015, p.20.
- 187. GULEA, A., GUDUMAC, V., GARBUZ, O., CEBOTARI, D., SPINU, I., PIRVU, O., SARDARI, V., TAGADIUC, O., GOSTEV, I., SPINU, C., SCOFERTA, P. Antiproliferative and antioxidant activity of nitrato-[4-(3,4-dimethylphenyl)-2-(2-oxo-3methoxybenzylidene) hydrazinecarbothioamido]copper. In: *International research journal.*, 2018. vol. 2, nr. 68, pp. 19-22.
- 188. ŞTÎRBA, O., GARBUZ, O., SARDARI, V., GUDUMAC, V. *Metoda de determinare a capacității antioxidante în probele biologice*. Certificat de inovator nr. 5389. 2014.
- 189. **GARBUZ, O.**, GULEA, A., DYNIEWICZ, J., ZABLOCKA, B., LIPKOWSKI, A. W. The non-opioid receptor, antioxidant properties of morphine and the opioid peptide analog biphalin. *In: Elsevier. Peptides.* January, 2015, Vol. 63, p. 1–3, IF=2.61.
- 190. JIAN-MING, LÜ PETER, H. et al. Chemical and molecular mechanisms of antioxidants: experimental approaches and model systems. In: *Journal of Cellular and Molecular Medicine*, 2010. vol. 14, nr. 4, pp. 840-860.
- 191. GULEA, A., GUDUMAC, V., GARBUZ, O., ANDRONACHE L. In vitro antiproliferative activity and antioxidant capacity of new organometallic coordination compounds, results correlation analysis. In: The 6th International Conference Ecological & Environmental Chemistry 2017. Chisinau, Republic of Moldova. March 2-3, 2017, p.

81.

- 192. ȘTÎRBA O., ANDRONACHE L., **GARBUZ O.** *Metodă de determinare a activității lipoxigenazei*. Certificat de inovator nr. 5319. 2014.
- 193. RIOUX, N., CASTONGUAY, A. Inhibitors of lipoxygenase: a new class of cancer chemopreventive agents. In: *Carcinogenesis*, 1998. nr. 19, p. 1393–400.
- 194. SAEED, A., KHAN, SU., MAHESAR, PA., et al. Substituted (E)-2-(2benzylidenehydrazinyl)-4-methylthiazole-5-carboxylates as dual inhibitors of 15lipoxygenase & carbonic anhydrase II: synthesis, biochemical evaluation and docking studies. In: *Biochem Biophys Res Commun.*, 2017. vol. 482, nr. 1, pp. 176-181.
- 195. PERUTZ, MF., ROSSMANN, MG., CULLIS, AF., et al. Structure of haemoglobin: a three-dimensional Fourier synthesis at 5.5-A. resolution, obtained by X-ray analysis. In: *Nature*, 1960. Vol. 185, nr. 4711, pp. 416-22.
- 196. BASHA. MT., RODRÍGUEZ, C., RICHARDSON, D., et al. Kinetic studies on the oxidation of oxyhemoglobin by biologically active iron thiosemicarbazone complexes: relevance to iron-chelator-induced methemoglobinemia. In: *Biol Inorg Chem*, 2014. vol. 19, nr. 3, pp. 349-57.
- 197. YEN, Y., MARGOLIN, K., DOROSHOW, J., et al. A phase I trial of 3-aminopyridine-2carboxaldehyde thiosemicarbazone in combination with gemcitabine for patients with advanced cancer. In: *Cancer Chemother Pharmacol*, 2004. vol. 54, nr. 4, pp. 331-42,
- 198. TODERAŞ, I., GULEA, A., ROŞCOV, E., GARBUZ, O. Biotestarea şi aprecierea toxicității compuşilor metalooragnice asupra populației de *Paramecium caudatum*. In: *Revista Ştiințifică a Universității de Stat din Moldova. Studia Universitatis Moldaviae*. 2016, 6(96), p. 164-169. Categoria B.
- 199. TODERAŞ, I., GULEA, A., ROŞCOV, E., GARBUZ, O. Bioassay and Estimation of the Toxicity of Metalloorganic Compounds Impacting the Population of *Paramecium* Caudatum. In: The 6th International Conference Ecological & Environmental Chemistry 2017 (EEC-2017). Chisinau, Republic of Moldova. March 2-3, 2017, p. 91.
- 200. GARBUZ, O. Anticancer and toxicity activities of new synthesized compound. . Conferința științifică națională cu participare internațională. *In: Integrare prin Cercetare și Inovare, USM, 9-10 noiembrie 2017,* p. 178-181.
- 201. GUDUMAC, V., GARBUZ, O., GRAUR, V., ȚAPCOV, V., GULEA, A. In Vitro antioxidants and antilipoxygenase activity of some thiosemicarbazones and their non-

platinum coordination compounds. In: 3rd French-Romanian Colloquium on Medicinal Chemistry. Iași, Romania. October 30-31. 2014, p.70.

- 202. DENIS, L. The Ciliated Protozoa: Characterization, Classification, and Guide to the Literature. Third edition. Canada. 2008, p. 279.
- 203 SUEZOV, R., GRISHINA, P., PONYAEV, A., et al. Relative cytotoxicity of complexes of platinum(II) and palladium(II) against pure cell culture *Paramecium caudatum* and human cell lines A431 and HaCaT. *In: Mediterranean Journal of Chemistry*, 2018. Vol. 7, nr. 1, pp. 28-38.
- 204 KRYUCHKOVA, M., DANILUSHKINA, A., LVOVAB, Y., FAKHRULLIN, R. Evaluation of toxicity of nanoclays and graphene oxide *in vivo*: a *Paramecium caudatum* study. *In: The Royal Society of Chemistry. Environmental Science Nano, 2016.* Vol. 3, pp. 442-454.

ANNEXE

Annexe 1. Patents



MD 4349 B1 2015.05.31

REPUBLICA MOLDOVA



(19) Agenția de Stat pentru Proprietatea Intelectuală

(11) 4349 (13) B1 (51) Int.Cl: C07C 337/08 (2006.01) C07D 213/48 (2006.01) C07C 49/543 (2006.01) A61K 31/175 (2006.01) A61P 35/00 (2006.01)

(12) BREVET DE INVENȚIE

In termen de 6 luni de la data publicării mențiunii privind hotărârea de acordare a brevetului de invenție, orice persoană poate face opoziție la acordarea brevetului

(21) Nr. depozit: a 2014 0062 (22) Data depozit: 2014.06.23 (45) Data publicării hotărârii de acordare a brevetului: 2015.05.31, BOPI nr. 5/2015

 (71) Solicitant: UNIVERSITATEA DE STAT DIN MOLDOVA, MD
(72) Inventatori: GULEA Aurelian, MD; LIPKOWSKI Andrzej, PL; GARBUZ Olga, MD; MATALINSKA Joanna, PL; ȚAPCOV Victor, MD
(73) Titular: UNIVERSITATEA DE STAT DIN MOLDOVA, MD

MD 4349 B1 2015.05.31

(54) Compusul N-(3-metoxifenil)-2-(piridin-2-ilmetilen)-hidrazincarbotioamidă inhibitor al proliferării celulelor MeW-164 ale melanomului uman

(57) Rezumat:

Invenția se referă la chimie și medicină, și anume la un compus organic din clasa tioamidelor care poate găsi aplicare în medicină in calitate de preparat citostatic la profilaxia și tratamentul melanomului uman.

1

Esența invenției constă în sinteza compusului N-(3-metoxifenil)-2-(piridin-2ilmetilen)-hidrazincarbotioamidă cu formula:



care manifestă proprietatea de inhibare a proliferării celulelor MeW-164 ale melanomului uman. Revendicări: 2 Figuri: 6



REPUBLICA MOLDOVA



(19) Agenția de Stat pentru Proprietatea Intelectuală (11) 1279 (13) Y (51) Int.Cl: GØIN 1/28 (2006.01) GØIN 1/30 (2006.01) GØIN 21/00 (2006.01) C12N 1/10 (2006.01)

(12) BREVET DE INVENȚIE DE SCURTĂ DURATĂ

În termen de 6 luni de la data publicării mențiunii privind hotărârea de acordare a brevetului de invenție de scurtă durată, orice persoană poate face opoziție la acordarea brevetului

(21) Nr. depozit: s 2017 0067 (22) Data depozit: 2017.05.23 (45) Data publicării hotărării de acordare a brevetului: 2018.08.31, BOPI nr. 8/2018

(71) Solicitant: INSTITUTUL DE ZOOLOGIE AL ACADEMIEI DE ȘTIINȚE A MOLDOVEI, MD (72) Inventatori: TODERAȘ Ion, MD; GULEA Aurelian, MD; GUDUMAC Valentin, MD; ROȘCOV Elena, MD; GARBUZ Olga, MD

(73) Titular: INSTITUTUL DE ZOOLOGIE AL ACADEMIEI DE ȘTIINȚE A MOLDOVEI, MD

(54) Metodă de apreciere a toxicității substanțelor chimice

(57) Rezumat:

Invenția se referă la metode de apreciere a toxicității substanțelor chimice.

Metoda, conform invenției, include pregătirea culturii de Paramecium caudatum, adăugarea în probele de cercetat a substanțelor chimice testate în diverse concentrații, incubarea probelor de cercetat și de control, adăugarea colorantului 3-amino-7dimetilamino-2-metilfenazin elorhidrat, incubarea cu adăugarea ulterioară a soluției de formalină, centrifugarea probelor, inlăturarea 2 supernatantului, adăugarea soluției de hidroxid de natriu, determinarea absorbanței cu ajutorul unui spectrofotometru, după care se calculează procentul de paramecii vii și se determină concentrația letală (LC₅₀), totodată cu cât valoarea concentrației LC₅₀ este mai mică, cu alăt toxicitatea substanței chimice testate este mai mare.

Revendicări: 1 Figuri: 1

MD 1279 Y 2018.08.31



REPUBLICA MOLDOVA



(19) Agenția de Stat pentru Proprietatea Intelectuală (11) 4644 (13) B1 (51) Int.Cl: C07F 11/00 (2006.01) C01G 39/00 (2006.01) A61K 31/724 (2006.01) A61P 39/06 (2006.01)

(12) BREVET DE INVENȚIE

In termen de 6 luni de la data publicării mențiunii privind hotărârea de acordare a brevetului de invenție, orice persoană poate face opoziție la acordarea brevetului

(21) Nr. depozit: a 2018 0020 (22) Data depozit: 2018.03.22 (45) Data publicării hotărării de acordare a brevetului: 2019.08.31, BOPI nr. 8/2019

 (71) Solicitant: UNIVERSITATEA DE STAT DIN MOLDOVA, MD
(72) Inventatori: FUIOR Arcadie, MD; FLOQUET Sebastien, FR; CADOT Emmanuel, FR; GARBUZ Olga, MD; TAPCOV Victor, MD; TODERAȘ Ion, MD; GULEA Aurelian, MD

(73) Titular: UNIVERSITATEA DE STAT DIN MOLDOVA, MD

(54) Ansamblu supramolecular

(NMe4)(C42H70O35)[Mo10O10S10(OH)11(H2O)4]·27H2O care manifestă activitate antioxidantă

(57) Rezumat:

Invenția se referă la chimie și medicină, și anume la un ansamblu supramolecular biologic activ al ciclului anorganic monoanionic [Mo₁₀O₁₀S₁₀(OH)₁₁(H₂O)₄]⁻ cu betaciclodestrină din clasa polioxotiomolibdaților. Ansamblul supramolecular manifestă activitate antioxidantă înaltă și poate găsi aplicare în medicină în calitate de substanță, care inhibă procesele de oxidare ale moleculelor organice in organismul uman.

1

Esența invenției constă în obținerea antioxidantului sintetic – ansamblului 2 supramolecular cu formula (NMe₄)(C₄₂H₂₀O₁₅)[Mo₁₀O₁₀S₁₀(OH)₁₁(H₂O)₄]· 27H₂O, unde (NMe₄)^o este cation de tetrametilamoniu, iar C₄₂H₂₀O₂₅ – betaciclodextrină.

Ansamblul supramolecular revendicat extinde arsenalul de antioxidanți sintetici cu activitate biologică înaltă.

Revendicări: 2

Figuri: 1

MD	4620	B1	201	9.02.28

REPUBLICA MOLDOVA



(19) Agenția de Stat pentru Proprietatea Intelectuală

(11) 4620 (13) B1 (51) Int.Cl: C07F 1/08 (2006.01) C07C 337/08 (2006.01) C07D 213/48 (2006.01) C07C 311/38 (2006.01) C07C 311/39 (2006.01) C07C 311/43 (2006.01) A61K 31/30 (2006.01) A61K 31/63 (2006.01) A61P 35/00 (2006.01) A61P 35/02 (2006.01)

(12) BREVET DE INVENȚIE

In termen de 6 luni de la data publicării mențiunii privind hotărârea de acordare a brevetului de invenție, orice persoană poate face opoziție la acordarea brevetului			
(21) Nr. depozit: a 2018 0027 (22) Data depozit: 2018.04.11	(45) Data publicării hotărării de acordare a brevetului: 2019.02.28, BOPI nr. 2/2019		
(71) Solicitant: UNIVERSITATEA DE S	STAT DIN MOLDOVA, MD		
(72) Inventatori: GULEA Aurelian, MD Olga, MD; GUDUMA((72) Tember 1 DUVERSITATEA DE ST	; ISTRATI Dorin, MD; TAPCOV Victor, MD; GARBUZ C Valentin, MD; GROPA Stanislav, MD		

(54) Utilizare a di(µ-S)-bis{(4-aminobenzensulfamid)-cloro-{N-[fenil-2-(piridin-2ilmetiliden)hidrazin-1-carbotioamido(1-)]}}cupru in calitate de inhibitor al proliferării celulelor cancerigene

(57) Rezumat:

Invenția se referă la chimie și medicină, și anume la utilizarea unui compus coorinativ biologic activ de cupru, din clasa tiosemicarbazonaților metalelor de tranziție în calitate de inhibitor al proliferării celulelor cancerigene.

Esența invenției constă în utilizarea di(µ-S)-bis{(4-aminobenzensulfamid)-cloro-{N-

2

[fenil-2-(piridin-2-ilmetiliden)hidrazin-1carbotioamido(1-)]) cupru in calitate de inhibitor al proliferării celulelor cancerigene de leucemie mieloidă umană, de cancer de col uterin, de cancer pancreatic și de rabdomiosarcom embrionar. Revendicări: 2

MD 4620 B1 2019.02.28

Annexe 2. Innovations







Annexe 3. Diplomas







ROMANIAN ASSOCIATION FOR NONCONVENTIONAL TECHNOLOGIES Bucharest, ROMANIA

SPECIAL AWARD FOR THE INVENTION

Inhibitor of cancer cells proliferation with wide range of action

awarded to

D. Istrati, V. Tapcov, O. Garbuz, V. Gudumac, S. Groppy, A. Gulea

Presented at 46th International Exhibition of Inventions Geneva



President,

Prof. Niculae Ion MARINESCU, PhD. Eng.

Scientific Secretary,

Prof. Liviu Danie/GHICULESCU, PhD. Eng.

Geneva, April 11 -15, 2018





Expoziția Internațională Specializată

"INFOINVENT"

Ediția a XVI-a

DIPLOMĂ

MEDALIA DE AUR

se acordă

ARCADIE FUIOR, SÉBASTIEN FLOQUET, EMMANUEL CADOT, OLGA GARBUZ, VICTOR ȚAPCOV, ION TODERAȘ, AURELIAN GULEA

pentru

COMPUS SUPRAMOLECULAR NOU CA ANTIOXIDANT FOARTE PUTERNIC

PREŞEDINTELE COMITETULUI ORGANIZATORIC

PREŞEDINTELE JURIULUI

20-23 noiembrie 2019, Chişinău, Republica Moldova





Expoziția Internațională Specializată

"INFOINVENT"

Ediția a XVI-a

DIPLOMĂ

MEDALIA DE ARGINT

se acordă

DORIN ISTRATI, VICTOR ȚAPCOV, OLGA GARBUZ, VALENTIN GUDUMAC, STANISLAV GROPPA, AURELIAN GULEA

pentru

INHIBITOR AL PROLIFERĂRII CELULELOR CANCEROASE CU O GAMĂ LARGĂ DE ACȚIUNI

PREŞEDINTELE COMITETULUI ORGANIZATORIC

PREŞEDINTELE JURIULUI

20-23 noiembrie 2019, Chişinău, Republica Moldova

Annexe 4. Conferences

		h je in dan	editată <u>cu 10 credite</u>	SE.	lican al Controlului til Carcetàrilor 1, dr.st.biol. CARAGIA CARAGIA
	ARE	(Dent 2015. C	Manifestarea esto cr	ECTIONAL	Centrul Republication of Central Republication of Central Republication Republication Republication of Central Republicat
rică Rator	TICIP	dMedirin& Mol		E DE PERF	
IFICO-PRAC	PAR'	Jea Mat		NEI SI CAIL	pecialitate S RM ersitar C
ŢA ŞTIINŢ MEDICINE		ix C		ROBLEN	le Comisiel de s s de laboratior M L. profesor univ TIN GUDUMA ÉLULLM
CONFERIN		Garby		SUPRAF	Presedinto in medicina dr.hab.med VALEN'
Z	RTIF	t la cociunile			SOCIATIA PERSON
	CE	luinuricinan			SCHI 22 CH
1		berat Dnei/D		17	edintele Asocial Icilor de laborato b.med., profeso ATOL VISMEN









Annexe 5. Ethical approval

MINISTERUL SĂNĂTĂŢII AL REPUBLICII MOLDOVA INSTITUȚIA RUBLICĂ UNIVERSITATEA DE STAT DE MEDICINĂ ȘI FARMACIE «NICOLAE TESTEMIȚANU» DIN REPUBLICA MOLDOVA MD 2004. Chişinău, bd. Ștefan cel Mare și Sfânt, 165; tel. (+37322) 20-57-01, fax. (+37322) 24-23-44; rector@usmf.md; www.usmf.md nr. <u>43</u> Ia nr. <u>68</u> din <u>18, 06, 2015</u>

Aviz favorabil al Comitetului de Etică a Cercetării

La Proiectul Instituțional cu titlul "Identificarea mecanismelor celulare și moleculare ale acțiunii compușilor bioactivi autohtoni noi și argumentarea folosirii lor în chimioprevenția și tratamentul unor procese tumorale", investigatorul principal: Gudumac Valentin - doctor habilitat în științe medicale, profesor universitar.

Comitetul de Etică a Cercetării USMF "Nicolae Testemițanu", examinând la ședința din "06 aprilie 2015 următoarele documente:

- 1. Forma de solicitare pentru evaluare etică a cercetării.
- 2. Protocolul proiectului.
- 3. Acordul informat.
- 4. Fișa de informare a participantului.
- 5. CV-ul investigatorului principal.

A decis că proiectul de cercetare "Identificarea mecanismelor celulare și moleculare ale acțiunii compușilor bioactivi autohtoni noi și argumentarea folosirii lor în chimioprevenția și tratamentul unor procese tumorale", corespunde exigențelor etice.

Conflict de interese : Doamna Tagadiuc Olga, fiind în conflict de interese, în conformitate cu decizia Comitetului de Etică a Cercetării s-a aflat în sala ședinței, fără a avea drept de vot cu privire la proiectul de cercetare examinat.

Lista nominală a membrilor CEC prezenți în ședință: Curocichin Ghenadie, Gramma Rodica, Nacu Viorel, Bețiu Mircea, Diug Eugen, Tagadiuc Olga, Paulescu Andrei, Rusu Natalia, Nemerenco Ala, Spinei Larisa, Gavriliuc Mihail.

Președintele Comitetului de Etică a Cercetării

The

Mihail Gavriliuc

DECLARATION ON THE ASSUMPTION OF RESPONSIBILITY

I, the undersigned, Garbuz Olga, declare on my own responsibility that the materials presented in the thesis are the result of my own research and scientific achievements. I realize that otherwise will suffer the consequences in accordance with the legislation in force.

Garbuz Olga

Data:

CURRICULUM VITAE

INFORMAȚII PERSONALE	Garbuz Olga	
INFORMAȚII PERSONALE	Garbuz Olga	

- **?** 63/27, Dimineții, Chișinău, Republica Moldova
- **069-320770**
- ⊠ <u>olhamos@mail.ru</u>

Data nașteri 25.01.1978

EXPERIENȚA PROFESIONALĂ

01.01.2020-prezent	Universitatea de Stat din Moldova, Laboratorul Materiale avansate în Biofarmaceutică și Tehnică Cercetător științific
05.08.2019–20.01.2020	I.P. "Laboratorul central de testare a băuturilor alcoolice/nealcoolice si a produselor conservate", Chișinău Specialist coordonator, locțiitor al șefului în sectorul de încercări instrumentale al Laboratorului de Încercări
05.11.2018-28.07.2019	Î.S. "Centrul National de Verificare si Certificare a Productiei Vegetale și Solului", Chișinău Specialist principal
01.01.2016-prezent	Institutul de Zoologie, Laboratorul Sistematica si Filogenie Moleculara , Chișinău Cercetător științific
01.02.2015-01.10.2018	Universitatea de Stat din Moldova, Laboratorul Materiale avansate în Biofarmaceutică și Tehnică Cercetător științific
01.02.2013-01.10.2015	Universitatea de Stat din Moldova, Chimie Coordinativa Cercetător științific
15.06.2009 - 20.03.2013	Federația Rusă, S.A. "Prioskolie" Inginer – chimist
11.09.2007 - 09.07.2009	Federația Rusă, Departamentul Sănătății regiunii Belgorod, Instituția municipală de asistență medicală "Spitalul central raional - Novyj Oskol" Biolog în laboratorul de diagnostic clinic
25.09.2000 - 27.05.2002	Federația Rusă, S.A. "OSKOLMYASO" Laborant - chimist

EDUCAȚIE ȘI FORMARE

2014-2020	Universitatea de Stat din Moldova Biochimie Doctorand					
2005 - 2007	Universitatea Aristotel de Tesalonic, Școala de Greaca Modernă Limba Greacă Modernă					
2003 –2004	Universitatea de Stat din Tiraspol (Chișinău, Republica Moldova) Biologie Magistru în Biologie					
1995 - 2000	Universitatea de Stat din Tiraspol, Republica Moldova Biologie si chimie, Diplomă de licență. Seria AL nr. 0033234					
1985 – 1995	Școala Generală 1	nr.1, Orhei				
Limba(i) maternă(e)	Rusă					
Alte limbi străine cunoscute	INTEL	INTELEGERE		VORBIRE		
	Ascultare	Citire	Participare la conversație	Discurs oral		
Română	B2	B2	B1	B1	B1	
Greacă	B2	B2	B1	B1	B2	
Engleza	B2	B2	B1	B1	B2	

Niveluri: A1/A2: Utilizator elementar - B1/B2: Utilizator independent - C1/C2: Utilizator experimentat Cadrul european comun de referință pentru limbi străine